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In this report, unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise indicates, references to “Xencor,” “the Company,”

« 2

we,” “us,” “our” and similar references refer to Xencor, Inc. The Xencor logo is a registered trademark of Xencor, Inc.
This report also contains registered marks, trademarks, and trade names of other companies. All other trademarks,
registered marks and trade names appearing in this report are the property of their respective holders.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the Exchange Act). You should not place undue reliance on these statements. We have based these forward-
looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends affecting the
financial condition of our business. Forward-looking statements should not be read as a guarantee of future performance or
results and will not necessarily be accurate indications of the times at, or by, which such performance or results will be
achieved. Forward-looking statements are based on information available at the time those statements are made and/or
management’s good faith belief as of that time with respect to future events, and are subject to risks and uncertainties that
could cause actual performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in or suggested by the forward-looking
statements. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result
of various factors, including those set forth below under Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report. These
statements, which represent our current expectations or beliefs concerning various future events, may contain words such
as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “ plan,” “believe,” “estimate,” the negative of such terms or other words
indicating future results.
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anticipate,” “intend,”

. » «

These forward-looking statements should, therefore, be considered in light of various important factors, including
but not limited to, the following:

o the effects of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows
and performance;

e our ability to execute on our plans to research, develop and commercialize our product candidates;
e the success of our ongoing and planned clinical trials;
e the timing of and our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approvals for our product candidates;

e our ability to accurately estimate expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and needs for additional
financing;

e our ability to identify additional products or product candidates with significant commercial potential that are
consistent with our business objectives;

e our ability to receive research funding and achieve anticipated milestones under our collaborations;
e our ability to attract collaborators with development, regulatory, and commercial expertise;

e our ability to protect our intellectual property position;

e the rate and degree of market acceptance and clinical utility of our products;

e costs of compliance and our failure to comply with new and existing governmental regulations;

e the capabilities and strategy of our suppliers and vendors including key manufacturers of our clinical drug
supplies;

e significant competition in our industry;

e costs of litigation and the failure to successfully defend lawsuits and other claims against us;

e the potential loss or retirement of key members of management;

e our failure to successfully execute our growth strategy, including any delays in our planned future growth;

e our failure to maintain effective internal controls; and
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e our ability to accurately estimate expenses, future revenues, capital requirements and needs for additional
financing.

The factors, risks and uncertainties referred to above and others are more fully described under the heading “Risk
Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 and this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q. Forward-looking statements should be regarded solely as our current plans, estimates and beliefs. We cannot
guarantee future results, events, levels of activity, performance, or achievements. We do not undertake and specifically
decline any obligation to update, republish or revise forward-looking statements to reflect future events or circumstances or
to reflect the occurrences of unanticipated events.
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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Iteml. Financial Statements

Xencor, Inc.
Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

June 30, December 31,
2021 2020
(unaudited)
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 115,842  $ 163,544
Marketable securities 288,976 434,156
Equity securities 45,230 5,303
Accounts receivable 14,825 11,443
Contract asset 500 12,500
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 15,594 10,726
Total current assets 480,967 637,672
Property and equipment, net 23,132 21,682
Patents, licenses, and other intangible assets, net 16,384 15,977
Marketable securities - long term 153,619 1,030
Equity securities - long term 17,146 16,071
Other assets 4,354 10,812
Total assets $ 695,602 $ 703,244
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 7,112 $ 8,954
Accrued expenses 17,328 17,603
Lease liabilities 2,322 1,889
Deferred revenue 19,200 92,615
Total current liabilities 45,962 121,061
Lease liabilities, net of current portion 2,702 9,739
Total liabilities 48,664 130,800
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value: 10,000,000 authorized shares; -0- issued and outstanding shares at
June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value: 200,000,000 authorized shares at June 30, 2021 and December 31,
2020; 58,315,485 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2021 and 57,873,444 issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2020 584 580
Additional paid-in capital 962,343 937,525
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (15) 74
Accumulated deficit (315,974) (365,735)
Total stockholders’ equity 646,938 572,444
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 695,602 $ 703,244

See accompanying notes.
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Revenue

Collaborations, licenses, milestones, and royalties
Operating expenses

Research and development

General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expenses)

Interest income, net

Other income (expense), net

Gain (loss) on equity securities, net
Total other income, net
Net income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities

Comprehensive income (loss)

Basic net income (loss) per common share
Diluted net income (loss) per common share

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding

Xencor, Inc.

Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020
$ 67,447 $ 13,089 $ 101,412 % 45,474
49,497 43,458 90,908 77,401
8,863 7,231 17,090 14,449
58,360 50,689 107,998 91,850
9,087 (37,600) (6,586) (46,376)
147 2,090 362 5,129
(6) 134 (17) 133
43,020 358 56,002 (1,978)
43,161 2,582 56,347 3,284
52,248 (35,018) 49,761 (43,092)
(112) 427 (90) 322
$ 52136 $ (34591)$ 49671 $  (42,770)
$ 090 $ (0.61) $ 086 $ (0.76)
$ 087 $ (0.61) $ 082 $ (0.76)
58,247,941 57,059,610 58,123,319 57,003,162
60,335,339 57,059,610 60,503,846 57,003,162

See accompanying notes.
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Xencor, Inc.

Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(unaudited)

(in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated
Additional Other Total

Common Stock Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Stockholders’ Equity Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Equity
Balance, December 31, 2020 57,873,444 $ 580 $ 937,525 $ 74 $ (365,735) $ 572,444
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock awards 230,701 2 5,337 — — 5,339
Issuance of restricted stock units 117,808 1 (€)] — — —
Comprehensive income (loss) — — — 23 (2,487) (2,464)
Stock-based compensation — — 8,293 — — 8,293
Balance, March 31, 2021 58,221,953 583 951,154 97 (368,222) 583,612
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock awards 52,790 1 902 — — 903
Issuance of restricted stock units 10,190 — — — — —
Issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan 30,552 — 937 — — 937
Comprehensive income (loss) — — — (112) 52,248 52,136
Stock-based compensation — — 9,350 — — 9,350
Balance, June 30, 2021 58,315485 $ 584 $ 962,343 $ (15) $ (315974) $ 646,938

Accumulated
Additional Other Total

Common Stock Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Stockholders’ Equity Shares A Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Equity
Balance, December 31, 2019 56,902,301 $ 569 $ 887,873 $ 1,161 $ (296,402) $ 593,201
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock awards 79,930 1 1,470 — — 1,471
Issuance of restricted stock units 19,022 — — — — —
Comprehensive loss — — — (105) (8,074) (8,179)
Stock-based compensation — — 6,512 — — 6,512
Balance, March 31, 2020 57,001,253 570 895,855 1,056 (304,476) 593,005
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock awards 181,856 2 3,273 — — 3,275
Issuance of restricted stock units 2,800 — — — — —
Issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan 28,344 — 725 — — 725
Comprehensive income (loss) — — — 427 (35,018) (34,591)
Stock-based compensation — — 8,231 — — 8,231
Balance, June 30, 2020 57,214,253 '$§ 572 $§ 908,084 $ 1,483 $ (339,494) $ 570,645

See accompanying notes.
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Xencor, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows
(unaudited)

(in thousands)

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss) $ 49,761 $ (43,092)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 3,391 2,816
Amortization of premium (accretion of discount) on marketable securities 1,711 (838)
Stock-based compensation 17,643 14,743
Abandonment of capitalized intangible assets 310 167
Equity received in connection with license agreement — (4,589)
Equity received in connection with sale of financial assets (3,300) —
Change in fair value of equity securities (37,701) 1,978
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets ) 5
Gain on sale of marketable securities available for sale — (153)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (3,382) 12,649
Interest receivable 496 914
Contract asset and deposits 11,938 —
Prepaid expenses and other assets (4,868) (843)
Accounts payable (1,842) 324
Accrued expenses (275) 162
Income taxes — 91
Lease liabilities and right of use (ROU) assets (83) (110)
Deferred revenue (73,415) (2,446)
Net cash used in operating activities (39,620) (18,222)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of marketable securities (231,459) (302,319)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 4 —
Purchase of intangible assets (1,324) (1,467)
Purchase of property and equipment (4,234) (2,695)
Proceeds from maturities and sale of marketable securities 221,752 378,454
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (15,261) 71,973
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock awards 6,242 4,746
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan 937 725
Net cash provided by financing activities 7,179 5,471
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (47,702) 59,222
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 163,544 50,312
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 115,842 $ 109,534
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest $ 9 $ 11
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing activities
Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities $ 90) $ 322

See accompanying notes.
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Xencor, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements
(unaudited)

June 30, 2021
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim financial statements for Xencor, Inc. (the Company, Xencor, we or us) have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for interim financial information.
The financial statements include all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) that the management of
the Company believes are necessary for a fair presentation of the periods presented. The preparation of interim financial
statements requires the use of management’s estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities
at the date of the interim financial statements and the reported revenues and expenditures during the reported periods.
These interim financial results are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full fiscal year or for any
subsequent interim period.

The accompanying unaudited interim financial statements and related notes should be read in conjunction with the
audited financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s 2020 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on February 24, 2021.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of interim financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, other
comprehensive gain (loss) and the related disclosures. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates, including
estimates related to its accrued clinical trial and manufacturing development expenses, stock-based compensation expense,
intangible assets, and related amortization. Significant estimates in these interim financial statements include estimates:
made for royalty revenue, accrued research and development expenses, stock-based compensation expenses, intangible
assets and related amortization, estimated standalone selling price of performance obligations, estimated time for
completing delivery of performance obligations under certain arrangements, the likelihood of recognizing variable
consideration, the carrying value of equity instruments without a readily determinable fair value, and recoverability of
deferred tax assets.

Intangible Assets

The Company maintains definite-lived intangible assets related to certain capitalized costs of acquired licenses
and third-party costs incurred in establishing and maintaining its intellectual property rights to its platform technologies and
development candidates. These assets are amortized over their useful lives, which are estimated to be the remaining patent
life or the contractual term of the license. The straight-line method is used to record amortization expense. The Company
assesses its intangible assets for impairment if indicators are present or changes in circumstances suggest that impairment
may exist. There were no impairment charges recorded for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.

The Company capitalizes certain in-process intangible assets that are then abandoned when they are no longer
pursued or used in current research activities. There was no material abandonment of in-process intangible assets during the
three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.
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Marketable and Equity Securities

The Company has an investment policy that includes guidelines on acceptable investment securities, minimum
credit quality, maturity parameters, and concentration and diversification. The Company invests its excess cash primarily in
marketable debt securities issued by investment grade institutions.

The Company considers its marketable debt securities to be available-for-sale because it is not more likely than
not that the Company will be required to sell the securities before recovery of the amortized cost. These assets are carried at
fair value and any impairment losses and recoveries related to the underlying issuer’s credit standing are recognized within
other income (expense), while non-credit related impairment losses and recoveries are recognized within accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss). There were no impairment losses or recoveries recorded for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020. Accrued interest on marketable debt securities is included in the marketable securities’ carrying
value. Each reporting period, the Company reviews its portfolio of marketable debt securities, using both quantitative and
qualitative factors, to determine if each security’s fair value has declined below its amortized cost basis.

The Company receives equity securities in connection with certain licensing transactions with its partners. These
investments in equity securities are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized each period and reported
within other income (expense). For equity securities with a readily determinable fair value, the Company re-measures these
equity investments at each reporting period until such time that the investment is sold or disposed. If the Company sells an
investment, any realized gain or loss on the sale of the securities will be recognized within other income (expense) in the
Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) in the period of sale.

The Company also has investments in equity securities without readily determinable fair values, where the
Company elects the measurement alternative to record at its initial cost minus impairment, plus or minus changes resulting
from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar investment of the same issuer.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Pronouncements Adopted in 2021

Effective January 1, 2021, the Company adopted ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the
Accounting for Income Taxes, which removes specific exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and simplifies the
accounting for income taxes. The adoption of this standard did not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial
statements.

Effective January 1, 2021, the Company adopted ASU No. 2020-01, which clarifies that a company should
consider observable transactions that require a company to either apply or discontinue the equity method of accounting
under Topic 323, Investment — Equity Method and Joint Ventures, for the purposes of applying the measurement alternative
in accordance with Topic 321, Investments — Equity Securities immediately before applying or upon discontinuing the
equity method. The adoption of this standard did not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2021, the Company adopted ASU No. 2020-10, Codification Improvements, which amends a
variety of topics in the Accounting Standards Codification to improve consistency and clarify guidance. The adoption of

this standard did not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.

There have been no other material changes to the significant accounting policies previously disclosed in the
Company’s 2020 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

10
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2. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments included in the financial statements include cash and cash equivalents, marketable debt and
equity securities, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued expenses. Marketable debt securities, equity
securities, and cash equivalents are carried at fair value. The fair value of the other financial instruments closely
approximates their fair value due to their short-term maturities.

The Company accounts for recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements in accordance with FASB
Accounting Standards Codification 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (ASC 820). ASC 820 defines fair
value, establishes a fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities measured at fair value, and requires expanded disclosure
about fair value measurements. The ASC 820 hierarchy ranks the quality of reliable inputs, or assumptions, used in the
determination of fair value and requires assets and liabilities carried at fair value to be classified and disclosed in one of the
following three categories:

Level 1—Fair value is determined by using unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Fair value is determined by using inputs other than Level 1 quoted prices that are directly or indirectly
observable. Inputs can include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or quoted
prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not active. Related inputs can also include those
used in valuation or other pricing models, such as interest rates and yield curves that can be corroborated
by observable market data.

Level 3—Fair value is determined by inputs that are unobservable and not corroborated by market data. Use of
these inputs involves significant and subjective judgments to be made by the reporting entity — e.g.
determining an appropriate discount factor for illiquidity associated with a given security.

The Company measures the fair value of financial assets using the highest level of inputs that are reasonably
available as of the measurement date. The assets recorded at fair value are classified within the hierarchy as follows for the
periods reported (in thousands):

June 30, 2021
(unaudited) December 31, 2020
Total Total
Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Available-for-Sale Debt
Securities:
Money Market Funds $ 71,703 $ 71,703 $ —3$ — $158,937 $ 158,937 $ —3$ =
Corporate Securities 104,957 — 104,957 — 119,833 — 119,833 —
Government Securities 337,638 — 337,638 — 315,353 — 315,353 —
Equity Securities:
Securities with Readily
Determinable Fair Value 45,230 45,230 — — 5,303 5,303 — —
Securities without Readily
Determinable Fair Value 17,146 — — 17,146 16,071 — — 16,071

$576,674 $ 116,933 $ 442,595 $ 17,146 $ 615,497 $ 164,240 $ 435,186 $ 16,071

Our policy is to record transfers of assets between Level 1 and Level 2 at their fair values as of the end of each
reporting period, consistent with the date of the determination of fair value. During the three and six months ended June 30,
2021 and 2020, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2021,
an equity investment without a readily determinable fair value was transferred to Level 1 from Level 3.

11
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The following table provides a rollforward for recurring Level 3 fair value measurements (in thousands):

Securities without Readily Determinable

Fair Value
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 16,071
Issuance 12,148
Transfer out of Level 3 (11,073)
Balance at June 30, 2021 $ 17,146

The Company held equity securities without readily determinable fair value at June 30, 2021 and December 31,
2020, respectively. The Company elects the measurement alternative to record at its initial cost minus impairment, plus or
minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar investment of
the same issuer.

3. Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period without consideration of
common stock equivalents. Diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing the net income (loss)
attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common stock equivalents outstanding for the
period. Potentially dilutive securities consisting of stock issuable pursuant to outstanding options and restricted stock units
(RSUs), and stock issuable pursuant to the 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) are not included in the per
common share calculation in periods when the inclusion of such shares would have an anti-dilutive effect.

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed as follows:
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Numerator:

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders ~ $ 52,248 $ (35,018) $ 49,761 $ (43,092)
Denominator:

Weighted-average common shares outstanding used in

computing basic net income (loss) 58,247,941 57,059,610 58,123,319 57,003,162

Effect of dilutive securities 2,087,398 — 2,380,527 —

Weighted-average common shares outstanding used in

computing diluted net income (loss) 60,335,339 57,059,610 60,503,846 57,003,162

Basic net income (loss) per common share $ 090 $ 0.61) $ 086 $ (0.76)
Diluted net income (loss) per common share $ 087 $ (0.61) $ 082 $ (0.76)

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, we excluded 1,374,608 and 698,917 shares of stock issuable
pursuant to outstanding options and RSUs from the calculation, respectively, because the inclusion of such shares would
have had an antidilutive effect. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, all outstanding potentially dilutive
securities have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net income (loss) per common share as the effect of including
such securities would have been anti-dilutive.

12
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4. Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). For the
three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the only component of other comprehensive income (loss) is net
unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities. There were no material reclassifications out of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) during the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.

5. Marketable and Equity Securities

The Company’s marketable debt securities held as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 are summarized

below:
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

June 30, 2021 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(in thousands)
Money Market Funds $ 71,703 $ — 3 — 3 71,703
Corporate Securities 104,975 13 31 104,957
Government Securities 337,625 36 (23) 337,638

$ 514,303 $ 49 $ B4 $ 514,298

Reported as

Cash and cash equivalents $ 71,703

Marketable securities 442,595
Total investments $ 514,298

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

December 31, 2020 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(in thousands)
Money Market Funds $ 158,937 $ — — 158,937
Corporate Securities 119,782 57 (6) 119,833
Government Securities 315,319 37 3) 315,353

$ 594,038 $ 94 $ 9 $ 594,123

Reported as

Cash and cash equivalents $ 158,937

Marketable securities 435,186
Total investments $ 594,123

13
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The maturities of the Company’s marketable debt securities as of June 30, 2021 are as follows:

Amortized Estimated
June 30, 2021 Cost Fair Value
(in thousands)
Mature in one year or less $ 288,935 $ 288,976
Mature within two years 153,665 153,619
$ 442,600 $ 442,595

The unrealized losses on available-for-sale investments and their related fair values as of June 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020 are as follows:

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater
Unrealized Unrealized
June 30, 2021 Fair value losses Fair value losses
(in thousands)
Corporate Securities $ 11,721  $ @ $ 24,876 $ 27)
Government Securities — — 84,888 (23)
$ 11,721  $ 4 $ 109,764 $ (50)
Less than 12 months 12 months or greater
Unrealized Unrealized
December 31, 2020 Fair value losses Fair value losses
(in thousands)
Corporate Securities $ 15,843 $ ® $ — 3 —
Government Securities 40,802 3) — —
$ 56,645 $ 9 $ — 3 =

The unrealized losses from the listed securities are primarily due to a change in the interest rate environment and
not a change in the credit quality of the securities.

The Company’s equity securities include securities with a readily determinable fair value. These investments are
carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized each period and reported within other income (expense). Equity
securities with a readily determinable fair value and their fair values (in thousands) as of June 30, 2021 and December 31,
2020 are as follows:

Fair Value Fair Value
June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Catabasis Common Stock $ 8,102 $ —
INmune Common Stock 31,231 —
Viridian Common Stock 5,897 5,303
$ 45230 $ 5,303

14
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The Company also has investments in equity securities without a readily determinable fair value. The Company
elects the measurement alternative to record these investments at their initial cost and evaluate such investments at each
reporting period for evidence of impairment. Equity securities without a readily determinable fair value and their carrying
values (in thousands) as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 are as follows:

Carrying Value Carrying Value
June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Catabasis Preferred Stock $ 1,075 $ —
Zenas Preferred Stock 16,071 16,071
$ 17,146 $ 16,071

In 2018, the Company received equity shares in Quellis Biosciences, Inc. (Quellis), in connection with a licensing
transaction. The Company recorded the Quellis equity as securities not having a readily determinable fair value, and the
investment was recorded at its original cost. In 2021, Quellis merged into Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Catabasis), and
the Company received 259,206 shares of common stock and 3,928 shares of preferred stock in Catabasis in exchange for its
Quellis equity. During the three months ended June 30, 2021, 3,581 shares of the Catabasis preferred stock were exchanged
for 3,580,539 shares of Catabasis common stock. The 3,839,745 shares of the Catabasis common stock have a readily
determinable fair value. The adjustment in the fair value of the Catabasis common stock has been recorded in gain (loss) on
equity securities for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021.

The Company records its investment in the shares of Catabasis preferred stock as an equity interest without a
readily determinable fair value. The Company elected to record the shares of preferred stock at their initial cost and reviews
the carrying value for impairment or other changes in carrying value at each reporting period.

In 2017, the Company received 1,585,000 shares of common stock of INmune Bio, Inc. and an option to acquire
an additional 10% of INmune’s outstanding shares of common stock in connection with a licensing transaction. The
Company initially recorded its equity interest, including its option to acquire additional equity in INmune, at cost pursuant
to ASC 323, Investments — Equity Method and Joint Ventures. In June 2021, the Company entered into an Option
Cancellation Agreement with INmune and received an additional 192,533 shares of INmune common stock. During the
period ended June 30, 2021, the Company determined that it should no longer account for its investment in INmune under
the equity method. The 1,777,533 shares of INmune common stock have a readily determinable fair value and the
adjustment in the fair value of the shares of INmune common stock has been recorded in gain (loss) on equity securities for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2021.

In 2020, the Company received 322,407 shares of common stock of Viridian in connection with the Viridian
Agreement (defined below). The shares of Viridian common stock are classified as equity securities with a readily
determinable fair value at June 30, 2021.

In 2020, the Company received an equity interest in Zenas BioPharma Limited (Zenas), in connection with the
Zenas Agreement (defined below). The Company elected the measurement alternative to carry the Zenas equity at cost
minus impairment, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical
or a similar investment of the same issuer. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, there has not been any
impairment or observable price changes related to this investment.

Net gains and losses recognized on equity securities during the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and
2020 consist of the following:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020
Net gains (losses) recognized on equity securities $ 43,020 $ 358 $ 56,002 $ (1,978)
Less: net gains recognized on sale of equity securities (18,300) — (18,301) —
Unrealized gains (losses) recognized on equity securities $ 24720 $ 358 $ 37,701 § (1,978)
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6. Stock Based Compensation

Our Board of Directors (the Board) and the requisite stockholders previously approved the 2010 Equity Incentive
Plan (the 2010 Plan). In October 2013, the Board approved the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2013 Plan), and in
November 2013, our stockholders approved the 2013 Plan, which became effective as of December 3, 2013. As of
December 2, 2013, we suspended the 2010 Plan, and no additional awards may be granted under the 2010 Plan. Any shares
of common stock covered by awards granted under the 2010 Plan that terminate after December 2, 2013 by expiration,
forfeiture, cancellation, or other means without the issuance of such shares will be added to the 2013 Plan reserve.

As of June 30, 2021, the total number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2013 Plan is
13,382,544, which includes 2,684,456 shares of common stock that were available for issuance under the 2010 Plan as of
the effective date of the 2013 Plan. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, beginning January 1, 2014, and continuing
until the expiration of the 2013 Plan, the total number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2013
Plan will automatically increase annually on January 1 of each year by 4% of the total number of issued and outstanding
shares of common stock as of December 31 of the immediately preceding year. Pursuant to approval by the Board, the total
number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2013 Plan was increased by 2,314,937 shares on
January 1, 2021. As of June 30, 2021, a total of 12,061,415 options have been granted under the 2013 Plan.

In November 2013, the Board and our stockholders approved the ESPP, which became effective as of December 5,
2013. We have reserved a total of 581,286 shares of common stock for issuance under the ESPP. Unless otherwise
determined by the Board, beginning on January 1, 2014, and continuing until the expiration of the ESPP, the total number
of shares of common stock available for issuance under the ESPP will automatically increase annually on January 1 by the
lesser of (i) 1% of the total number of issued and outstanding shares of common stock as of December 31 of the
immediately preceding year, or (ii) 621,814 shares of common stock. Pursuant to approval by our Board, there was no
increase in the number of authorized shares in the ESPP from 2015 to 2020. As of June 30, 2021, we have issued a total of
498,147 shares of common stock under the ESPP.

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company awarded 266,726 RSUs to certain employees. The
standard vesting of these awards is generally in three equal annual installments and is contingent on continued service to
the Company. The fair value of these awards is determined based on the intrinsic value of the stock on the date of grant and
will be recognized as stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service period. As of June 30, 2021, we have
granted a total of 720,513 shares of common stock issuable upon the vesting of RSUs.

Total employee, director and non-employee stock-based compensation expense recognized for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020
General and administrative 3,193 $ 2,804 5930 $ 5,095
Research and development 6,157 5,427 11,713 9,648

9,350 $ 8,231

17,643 $ 14,743

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020
Stock options 7,355 $ 6,667 13,885 $ 12,549
ESPP 253 213 501 407
RSUs 1,742 1,351 3,257 1,787

9,350 $ 8,231

17,643 $ 14,743
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The following table summarizes option activity under our stock plans and related information:

Balance at December 31, 2020
Options granted
Options forfeited
Options exercised

Balance at June 30, 2021
Exercisable

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Number of Exercise Remaining Aggregate
Shares Subject Price Contractual Intrinsic
to Outstanding (Per Term Value
Options Share) (in years) (in thousands)
7,751,789 $ 26.23 700 $ 134,941
1,488,576 $ 42.73
(197,440) $ 35.34
(283,491) $  22.02
8,759,434 §$ 28.97 6.94 $ 65,388
5,265,826 $ 23.37 5.68 $ 61,080

We calculate the intrinsic value as the difference between the exercise price of the options and the closing price of
common stock of $34.49 per share as of June 30, 2021.

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during the six-month periods ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
were $22.54 and $16.44 per share, respectively. There were 1,433,699 options granted during the six-month period ended
June 30, 2020. We estimated the fair value of each stock option using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on the
date of grant of such stock option with the following weighted average assumptions for the three and six months ended

June 30, 2021 and 2020:

Expected term (years)
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield

Expected term (years)
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield

Options Options
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020
6.2 5.7 6.2 6.2
55.3 % 56.1 % 55.6 % 54.3 %
1.03 % 0.41 % 1.02 % 0.84 %
— % — % — % — %
ESPP ESPP
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020
0.5-20 0.5-2.0 0.5-2.0 0.5-2.0

46.1-66.4 % 50.8-62.6 %
0.04-1.65% 0.18-1.65 %
— % — %

46.1-66.4 % 50.8-62.6 %
0.04-1.65% 0.18-1.65%
— % — %

As of June 30, 2021, the unamortized compensation expense related to unvested stock options was $65.0 million.
The remaining unamortized compensation expense will be recognized over the next 2.8 years. As of June 30, 2021, the
unamortized compensation expense under our ESPP was $0.5 million. The remaining unamortized expense will be

recognized over the next 0.4 years.
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The following table summarizes the RSU activity for the six-month period ended June 30, 2021:

Weighted
Restricted Average Grant
Stock Date Fair Value
Units (Per unit)
Unvested RSUs at December 31, 2020 358,825 $ 33.04
Granted 266,726 42.85
Vested (127,998) 31.71
Forfeited (28,086) 36.16
Unvested RSUs at June 30, 2021 469,467 $ 38.79

As of June 30, 2021, the unamortized compensation expense related to unvested RSUs was $15.7 million. The
remaining unamortized expense will be recognized over the next 2.3 years.

7. Leases

The Company leases office and laboratory space in Monrovia, California under a lease that expires in December
2025 with an option to renew for an additional five years at then market rates. In July 2017, under a separate lease
agreement, the Company entered into a lease for additional space in the same building with a lease that continues through
September 2022, also with an option to renew for an additional five years. The Company has assessed that it is unlikely to
exercise either of the lease term extension options.

The Company leases additional office space in San Diego, California through August 2022, with an option to
extend for an additional five years. The Company has assessed that it is unlikely to exercise the option to extend the lease
term.

The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any residual value guarantees or restrictive covenants.

In June 2021, the Company entered into an Agreement of Lease (465 Halstead), (the “Halstead Lease”) relating to
129,543 rentable square feet, for laboratory and office space, in Pasadena, California, where the Company intends to move
its corporate headquarters in the second half of 2022. The term of the Halstead Lease will become effective in two phases.
The first phase commences on July 1, 2022 and encompasses 83,083 square feet while the second phase commences no
later than September 30, 2026 and encompasses an additional 46,460 square feet. The term of the Halstead Lease is 13
years from July 1, 2022. The Company received delivery of the premise on July 1, 2021 and is scheduled to complete
construction of office, laboratory, and related improvements in the second half of 2022. The Halstead Lease provides the
Company with improvement allowances of up to $17,032,015 and $3,252,000 in connection with the Phase 1 and Phase 2
building improvements, respectively. The initial base monthly rent is $386,335.95, or $4.65 per square foot, and includes
increases of three percent annually. The Company will also be responsible for its proportionate share of operating expenses,
tax expense, and utility costs. In July 2021, the Halstead Lease was amended to clarify the start date of the new lease as
August 1, 2021 and amends other provisions of the Halstead Lease to reflect the new start date of the lease.

In June 2021, the Company entered into an 18-month lease for a 7,020-square-foot office space in Monrovia,

California. The lease begins on August 1, 2021 and the initial base monthly rent is $15,000. The Company received
delivery of the premises on July 19, 2021.
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The following table reconciles the undiscounted cash flows for the operating leases at June 30, 2021 to the
operating lease liabilities recorded on the balance sheet (in thousands):

Years ending December 31,

For the remainder of 2021 $ 1,117
2022 2,093
2023 707
2024 729
2025 688
Total undiscounted lease payments 5,334
Less: Imputed interest (310)
Present value of lease payments $ 5,024
Lease liabilities - short-term $ 2,322
Lease liabilities - long-term 2,702
Total lease liabilities $ 5,024

The following table summarizes lease costs and cash payments for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021
and 2020 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Operating lease cost $ 614 $ 648 $ 1,228 % 1,297
Variable lease cost 18 38 28 59

Total lease costs $ 632 $ 686 $ 1,256 $ 1,356
Cash paid for amounts included in

the measurement of lease liabilities $ 548 $ 566 $ 1,047 $ 1,123

As of June 30, 2021, the weighted-average remaining lease term for operating leases is 3.1 years, and the
weighted-average discount rate for operating leases is 4.0%

8. Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may be subject to various litigation and related matters arising in the ordinary
course of business. The Company does not believe it is currently subject to any material matters where there is at least a
reasonable possibility that a material loss may be incurred.

The Company is obligated to make future payments to third parties under in-license agreements, including
sublicense fees, royalties, and payments that become due and payable on the achievement of certain development and
commercialization milestones. As the amount and timing of sublicense fees and the achievement and timing of these
milestones are not probable and estimable, such commitments have not been included on the Company’s balance sheet. The
Company has also entered into agreements with third-party vendors that will require us to make future payments upon the
delivery of goods and services in future periods.
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9. Collaboration and Licensing Agreements

The following is a summary description of the material revenue arrangements, including arrangements that
generated revenue in the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.

Aimmune Therapeutics, Inc.

On February 4, 2020, the Company entered into a License, Development and Commercialization Agreement (the
Aimmune Agreement) with Aimmune pursuant to which the Company granted Aimmune an exclusive worldwide license
to XmAb7195, which was renamed AIMab7195. The Company received an upfront payment of $5.0 million and 156,238
shares of Aimmune common stock with an aggregate value of $4.6 million on the closing date. Under the Aimmune
Agreement, the Company is also eligible to receive up to $385.0 million in milestones, which includes $22.0 million in
development milestones, $53.0 million in regulatory milestones and $310.0 million in sales milestones, and tiered royalties
on net sales of approved products from high-single to mid-teen percentage range.

No revenue was recognized in the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, or the three months ended June 30,
2020. The Company recognized $9.6 million of revenue related to the agreement for the six months ended June 30, 2020.
There is no deferred revenue as of June 30, 2021 related to this agreement.

Alexion Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

In January 2013, the Company entered into an Option and License Agreement (the Alexion Agreement) with
Alexion Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Alexion). Under the terms of the Alexion Agreement, the Company granted to Alexion an
exclusive research license, with limited sublicensing rights, to make and use the Company’s Xtend technology to evaluate
and advance compounds. Alexion exercised its rights to one target program, ALXN1210, which is now marketed as
Ultomiris®.

The Company is eligible to receive contractual milestones for certain commercial achievements and is also
entitled to receive royalties based on a percentage of net sales of Ultomiris sold by Alexion, its affiliates or its sublicensees,
which percentage is in the low single digits. Alexion’s royalty obligations continue on a product-by-product and country-
by-country basis until the expiration of the last-to-expire valid claim in a licensed patent covering the applicable product in
such country.

At December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a contract asset of $10.0 million related to a contractual sales
milestone; the Company received payment for this milestone during the three-month period ended March 31, 2021.

Under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606), the Company recognizes revenue for sales-
based royalties upon the subsequent sale of the product. The Company recognized $5.2 million and $3.8 million of royalty
revenue under this arrangement for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The Company recognized
$10.5 million and $7.2 million of revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of June 30,
2021, there is a receivable of $10.2 million related to royalties due under the arrangement. There is no deferred revenue
related to this agreement.

Amgen Inc.

In September 2015, the Company entered into a research and license agreement (the Amgen Agreement) with
Amgen Inc. (Amgen) to develop and commercialize bispecific antibody product candidates using the Company’s
proprietary XmAb bispecific Fc technology. Under the Amgen Agreement, the Company granted an exclusive license to
Amgen to the rights to our CD38 x CD3 preclinical program and developed AMG 424. Amgen also applied our bispecific
Fc technology to create AMG 509, a STEAP1 x CD3 XmAb 2+1 bispecific antibody.
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In May 2020, Amgen notified the Company that it was terminating its rights with respect to the AMG 424
program, (now XmAb968). Under the terms of the Amgen Agreement, the rights to the AMG 424 program reverted to the
Company in connection with the termination. Pursuant to the termination agreement, the Company entered into a supply
agreement with Amgen pursuant to which Amgen will provide drug product of AMG 424 to the Company to enable it to
conduct additional studies of XmADb968.

There is an obligation of $0.9 million due to Amgen in connection with the drug supply agreement. No revenue
was recognized under the Amgen Agreement during the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 or 2020. As of June 30,
2021, there is no deferred revenue related to the arrangement.

Astellas Pharma Inc.

Effective March 29, 2019, the Company entered into a Research and License Agreement (the Astellas Agreement)
with Astellas Pharma Inc. (Astellas).

Pursuant to the Astellas Agreement, the Company applied its bispecific Fc technology to research antibodies
provided by Astellas to generate bispecific antibody candidates and returned the candidates to Astellas for further
development and commercialization. Pursuant to the Astellas Agreement, the Company received an upfront payment of
$15.0 million and is eligible to receive up to $240.0 million in milestones, which include $32.5 million in development
milestones, $57.5 million in regulatory milestones and $150.0 million in sales milestones.

The Company recognized the $13.6 million allocated to the bispecific antibodies when it satisfied its performance
obligation and transferred the bispecific antibodies to Astellas in June 2019. The $1.4 million allocated to the research
activities was recognized as the research services were completed. The Company completed the remaining activities under
the research plan during the second quarter of 2020.

At December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a contract asset of $2.5 million related to a development milestone;
the Company received payment for this milestone in the three-month period ended March 31, 2021.

The Company did not recognize revenue related to the arrangement for the three and six months ended June 30,
2021. The Company recognized $0.7 million and $0.9 million revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020,
respectively. There is no deferred revenue as of June 30, 2021 related to the arrangement.

Catabasis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. / Quellis Biosciences, Inc.

In May 2018, the Company entered into an agreement with Quellis, pursuant to which the Company provided
Quellis a non-exclusive license to its Xtend Fc technology to apply to an identified antibody. Quellis is responsible for all
development and commercialization activities. The Company received an equity interest in Quellis and is eligible to receive
up to $66.0 million in milestones, which include $6.0 million in development milestones, $30.0 million in regulatory
milestones and $30.0 million in sales milestones. In addition, the Company is eligible to receive royalties in the mid-single
digit percentage range on net sales of approved products.

In January 2021, Quellis merged into Catabasis, and the Company received common stock and preferred stock of
Catabasis stock in exchange for its equity in Quellis. The Company recognized an increase in the fair value of its equity
interest for the exchange of shares, which was recorded as unrealized gain for the three months ended March 31, 2021. In
June 2021, a portion of the Company’s preferred stock in Catabasis was converted to common stock, which was recorded at
its fair value as of June 30, 2021. The remaining Catabasis preferred stock is carried at its original cost and is reviewed for
impairment or other changes at each reporting period. The Company recognized a decrease in the fair value of its Catabasis
common stock, which was recorded as unrealized loss for the three months ended June 30, 2021.

The Company recognized unrealized loss of $3.7 million and unrealized gain of $9.2 million related to its equity

interest in Catabasis for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021. There is no deferred revenue as of June 30, 2021
related to this agreement.
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Genentech, Inc., and F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd.

In February 2019, the Company entered into a collaboration and license agreement (the Genentech Agreement)
with Genentech, Inc. and F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd (collectively, Genentech) for the development and commercialization
of novel IL-15 collaboration products (Collaboration Products), including XmAb306 (also named RG6323), the Company’s
IL-15/IL-15Ra candidate.

Pursuant to the Genentech Agreement, XmAb306 is designated as a development program and all costs incurred
for developing XmAb306 from March 8, 2019, the effective date of the Genentech Agreement, are being shared with
Genentech under the initial cost-sharing percentage of 45%. In October 2020, a second candidate, a targeted IL-15
candidate, was designated as a development candidate, and all development costs incurred from the date of designation are
being shared with Genentech under the initial cost-sharing percentage of 45%.

Pursuant to the Genentech Agreement, the Company and Genentech conducted joint research activities for a two-
year period to identify and discover additional IL-15 candidates developed from the Company’s cytokine and bispecific
technologies. The two-year research term expired in March 2021. The Company is eligible for clinical milestone payments
for new Collaboration Products identified from the research efforts.

The Company recognized the $111.7 million allocated to the license when it satisfied its performance obligation
and transferred the license to Genentech in March 2019. A total of $8.3 million of the transaction price was allocated to the
research activities and is being recognized over a period of time through the end of the research term that services are
rendered. The research term expired in the first half of 2021, and the balance in deferred revenue related to the Genentech
Agreement was recognized as the Company is no longer required to render services.

For the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized $2.3 million and $0.8 million of
revenue, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2021, and 2020, the Company recognized $2.5 million and $1.5
million of revenue, respectively from the Genentech Agreement. As of June 30, 2021, there is a $2.3 million payable
related to cost-sharing development activities during the second quarter of 2021 for the XmAb306 and the targeted IL-15
programs. There is no deferred revenue as of June 30, 2021, as the obligation to perform research activities has expired.

Gilead Sciences, Inc.

In January 2020, the Company entered into a Technology License Agreement (the Gilead Agreement) with Gilead
Sciences, Inc. (Gilead), pursuant to which the Company provided an exclusive license to its Cytotoxic Fc and Xtend Fc
technologies for an initial identified antibody and options for up to three additional antibodies directed to the same
molecular target. The Company retains the right to grant licenses for other antibodies directed to the target, subject to the
Company’s approval. Gilead is responsible for all development and commercialization activities for all target candidates.
The Company received an upfront payment of $6.0 million and is eligible to receive up to $67.0 million in milestones,
which includes $10.0 million in development milestones, $27.0 million in regulatory milestones and $30.0 million in sales
milestones for each product incorporating the antibodies selected. In addition, the Company is eligible to receive royalties
in the low-single digit percentage range on net sales of approved products.

The Company did not recognize any revenue related to the Gilead Agreement for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2021. The Company recognized $7.5 million and $13.5 million of revenue related to the Gilead Agreement for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2020, respectively. There is no deferred revenue as of June 30, 2021 related to this
agreement.

INmune Bio, Inc.
In October 2017, the Company entered into a License Agreement (the INmune Agreement) with INmune. Under
the terms of the INmune Agreement, the Company provided INmune with an exclusive license to certain rights to a

proprietary protein, XPro1595. In connection with the agreement the Company received 1,585,000 shares of INmune
common stock and an option to acquire additional shares of INmune.
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The option had a six-year term from the date of the INmune Agreement and provided the Company the option to
purchase up to 10% of the fully diluted outstanding shares of INmune common stock for $10.0 million. The Company
initially recorded its equity interest in INmune, including its option to acquire additional INmune shares, at cost pursuant to
ASC 323.

In June 2021, the Company entered into the First Amendment to License Agreement (the “Amended INmune
Agreement”) and an Option Cancellation Agreement (the “Option Agreement”) with INmune. The Amended INmune
Agreement modified certain diligence provisions in the INmune Agreement with no change in total consideration or
performance obligations. The Option Agreement provided for the sale of the option to INmune for a total consideration of
$18.3 million which includes $15.0 million in cash and $3.3 million in additional shares of INmune common stock, which
represented an additional 192,533 shares of INmune common stock. The Company recorded a realized gain of $18.3
million according to ASC 860, Transfer and Servicing, and recorded the additional investment of 192,533 shares of
INmune common stock according to ASC 321, Investments — Equity Securities (ASC 321). For the three and six months
ended June 30, 2021, the Company recorded $27.9 million of unrealized gain and $18.3 million of realized gain related to
its investment in INmune.

During the period ended June 30, 2021, the Company determined that it should no longer record its investment in
INmune under the equity method and recorded its investment in INmune pursuant to ASC 321. The Company adjusted the
carrying value of this investment by recognizing an unrealized gain of $27.8 million as other income for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2021.

At the inception of the INmune agreement in 2017, INmune was a related party as a result of the Company's
significant influence with respect to its investment in INmune, as determined under ASC 323. The Company did not have
any amounts due to or from INmune at June 30, 2021 or December 31, 2020. At June 30, 2021, the Company determined
that it no longer has a significant influence in INmune and INmune is no longer a related party.

Janssen Biotech, Inc.

In November 2020, the Company entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement (the Janssen Agreement)
with Janssen Biotech, Inc. (Janssen) pursuant to which the Company and Janssen will conduct research and development
activities to discover novel CD28 bispecific antibodies for the treatment of prostate cancer. Janssen and the Company will
conduct joint research activities for up to a three-year period to discover XmAb bispecific antibodies against CD28 and
against an undisclosed prostate tumor-target with Janssen maintaining exclusive worldwide rights to develop and
commercialize licensed products identified from the research activities.

Under the Janssen Agreement, the Company will conduct research activities and apply its bispecific Fc technology
to antibodies targeting prostate cancer provided by Janssen. Upon completion of the research activities Janssen will have a
candidate selection option to advance an identified candidate for development and commercialization. The activities will be
conducted under a research plan agreed to by both parties. Janssen will assume full responsibility for development and
commercialization of the CD28 bispecific antibody candidate. Pursuant to the Janssen Agreement, the Company received
an upfront payment of $50.0 million and is eligible to receive up to $662.5 million in milestones which includes $161.9
million in development milestones, $240.6 million in regulatory milestones and $260.0 million in sales milestones. If
commercialized, the Company is eligible to receive royalties on net sales that range from the high-single to low-double
digit percentages.

The Company evaluated the Janssen Agreement under ASC 606 and identified the performance obligation under
the Agreement to be delivery of CD28 bispecific antibodies to Janssen from the research activities outlined in the research
plan. The Company determined that the license to the bispecific antibodies is not a separate performance obligation
because it is not capable of being distinct; the license to the antibodies cannot be separated from the underlying antibodies.
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The Company determined that the transaction price of the Janssen Agreement at inception was $50.0 million
consisting of the upfront payment. The potential milestones are not included in the transaction price as these are contingent
on future events, and the Company would not recognize these in revenue until it is not probable that these would not result
in significant reversal of revenue amounts in future periods. The candidate selection option payment is substantive and is a
separate performance obligation. The Company will re-assess the transaction price at each reporting period and when event
outcomes are resolved or changes in circumstances occur.

The Company allocated the transaction price to the single performance obligation, delivery of CD28 bispecific
antibodies to Janssen.

The Company is recognizing the $50.0 million transaction price as it satisfies its performance obligation to deliver
CD28 bispecific antibodies to Janssen. The Company is using the expected input method, which considers an estimate of
the Company’s efforts to complete the research activities outlined in the Janssen Agreement.

The Company recognized $16.2 million and $30.8 million of revenue under this arrangement for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2021, and there is $19.2 million in deferred revenue as of June 30, 2021 related to our obligation to
complete research activities and deliver CD28 bispecific antibodies under the Janssen Agreement.

MorphoSys AG

In June 2010, the Company entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement with MorphoSys AG
(MorphoSys), which was subsequently amended. Under the agreement, we granted MorphoSys an exclusive worldwide
license to the Company’s patents and know-how to research, develop and commercialize the XmAb5574 product candidate
(subsequently renamed MOR?208 and tafasitamab) with the right to sublicense under certain conditions. If certain
developmental, regulatory and sales milestones are achieved, the Company is eligible to receive future milestone payments
and royalties.

In February 2020, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) accepted MorphoSys’ Biologics License
Application (BLA) for tafasitamab and the Company received a milestone payment of $12.5 million. The Company
recognized the payment as revenue in the period that the milestone event occurred.

On July 31, 2020, the FDA granted accelerated approval to MorphoSys” BLA for tafasitamab (now Monjuvi®) for
marketing in the United States. In connection with the approval, the Company received a milestone payment of $25.0
million.

During the three months ended March 31, 2021, MorphoSys reported to us its plans to initiate additional clinical
studies of Monjuvi, and the Company recorded a contract asset of $12.5 million as an adjustment to the total transaction
price. In April 2021, MorphoSys and Incyte Corporation (Incyte) announced the dosing of the first patient in one of their
planned Phase 3 clinical studies and the contract asset was recorded as a receivable. The Company received payment for
this receivable in the three months ended June 30, 2021.

The Company is eligible to receive royalties in the high-single to low-double digit percentage range on approved
sales of Monjuvi. Under ASC 606, the Company recognizes revenue for sales-based royalties upon the subsequent sale of
the product. The Company recorded royalties for Monjuvi based on an estimate of sales to be reported by MorphoSys for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2021.

The Company recognized $1.2 million and $2.6 million of royalty revenue during the three and six months ended
June 30, 2021, respectively. The Company also recognized $12.5 million of milestone revenue under this arrangement for
each of the six months ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020. As of June 30, 2021, there is a receivable of $1.5 million
related to estimated royalties due under the arrangement. As of June 30, 2021, there is no deferred revenue related to this
agreement.
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Novartis Institute for Biomedical Research, Inc.

In June 2016, the Company entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement (the Novartis Agreement) with
Novartis Institutes for BioMedical Research, Inc. (Novartis), to develop and commercialize bispecific and other Fc
engineered antibody drug candidates using the Company’s proprietary XmAb technologies and drug candidates.

Pursuant to the Novartis Agreement:
e the Company and Novartis are co-developing vibecotamab worldwide and sharing development costs;

e the Company will apply its bispecific technology in up to four target pair antibodies identified by Novartis
(each a Global Discovery Program) during the research term; and

o the Company will provide Novartis with a non-exclusive license to certain of its Fc technologies to apply
against up to ten targets identified by Novartis during the research term.

We completed delivery of separate Global Discovery Programs in 2017 and in 2018. The research term expired in
June 2021 without delivery of additional Global Discovery Programs.

In June 2021, Novartis selected an Fc candidate and received a non-exclusive license to the Company’s Fc
technology under the Novartis Agreement. Novartis will assume full responsibility for development and commercialization
of the licensed Fc product candidate. The Company is eligible to receive development, clinical, and sales milestones and
royalties on net sales of approved products for the licensed Fc candidate. During the three and six months ended June 30,
2021, Novartis advanced the Fc candidate into investigational new drug (IND) - enabling studies and the Company
recognized a milestone of $1.0 million.

The Company recognized $40.1 million of revenue during the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, as a
result of the expiration of the research term under the Novartis Agreement. The Company also recognized $1.0 million of
milestone revenue during the three and six months ended June 30, 2021. No revenue was recognized during the three and
six months ended June 30, 2020. As of June 30, 2021, there is a receivable of $1.0 million related to milestones revenue
and $0.8 million related to cost-sharing of development activities for the second quarter of 2021 for the vibecotamab
program. There is no deferred revenue as of June 30, 2021 as the research term to deliver additional Global Discovery
Programs to Novartis under the arrangement has expired.

Vir Biotechnology, Inc.

In the third quarter of 2019, the Company entered into a Patent License Agreement (the Vir Agreement) with Vir
Biotechnology, Inc. (Vir) pursuant to which the Company provided a non-exclusive license to its Xtend technology for up
to two targets.

In March 2020, the Company entered into a second Patent License Agreement (the Second Vir Agreement) with
Vir pursuant to which the Company provided a non-exclusive license to its Xtend technology to extend the half-life of two
novel antibodies Vir is investigating as potential treatments for patients with COVID-19. Under the terms of the Second Vir
Agreement, Vir is responsible for all research, development, regulatory and commercial activities for the antibodies, and
the Company is eligible to receive royalties on the net sales of approved products in the mid-single digit percentage range.
In May 2021, the FDA granted emergency use authorization (EUA) to Vir’s COVID-19 antibody, sotrovimab (VIR-7831),
for the treatment of mild-to-moderate COVID-19 in high-risk adults and patients.

In February 2021, the Company entered into the Vir Amendment No. 1 to the Vir Agreement and the Vir
Amendment No. 1 to the Second Vir Agreement (collectively, the Vir Amendments), in each case, pursuant to which the
Company provided a non-exclusive license to additional Fc technology for the targets previously identified in the Vir
Agreement and the Second Vir Agreement, respectively. If Vir incorporates additional Fc technologies in the identified
targets, the Company is eligible to receive additional royalties on net sales of approved products from low to mid-single
digit range.
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The Company determined that the Second Vir Agreement and the Vir Amendments were modifications of the
original Vir Agreement, and that the transfer of the license occurred at inception of the Vir Agreement. The total
consideration under the arrangement did not change with the Second Vir Agreement or the Amendments as the Company
will potentially receive additional royalty revenue which is variable consideration and is not included in the transaction
price.

In June 2021, Vir announced its plan to initiate a Phase 2 study for VIR-3434 and subsequently completed dosing
of the first patient in such study in July 2021. The Company recorded a $0.5 million contract asset in connection with this
milestone event.

The Company recognized $0.9 million of royalty revenue and $0.5 million of milestone revenue for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2021. The Company recognized $0.3 million of milestone revenue for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2020. There is no deferred revenue as of June 30, 2021 related to this agreement.

Viridian Therapeutics, Inc.

In December 2020, the Company entered into a Technology License Agreement (Viridian Agreement) with
Viridian Therapeutics, Inc. (Viridian, formerly MiRagen Therapeutics, Inc.), pursuant to which the Company provided
Viridian a non-exclusive license to its Xtend Fc technology and an exclusive license to apply its Xtend Fc technology to
antibodies targeting IGF-1R. Viridian is responsible for all development and commercialization activities. The Company
received an upfront payment of 322,407 shares of Viridian common stock valued at $6.0 million and is eligible to receive
up to $55.0 million in milestones, which includes $10.0 million in development milestones, $20.0 million in regulatory
milestones and $25.0 million in sales milestones. If commercialized, the Company is eligible to receive royalties on net
sales in the mid-single digit percentage range.

The Company recognized revenue of $6.0 million from the Viridian Agreement in 2020, which includes the
upfront payment of 322,407 shares of Viridian common stock at their fair value at the date of the Viridian Agreement. At
inception of the Viridian Agreement, these shares were recorded at their fair value and are adjusted to their fair value at the
end of each reporting period. The Company reported unrealized gain in other income of $0.5 million and $0.6 million for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 related to the Viridian shares.

The Company did not recognize revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, and there
is no deferred revenue as of June 30, 2021 related to this agreement.

Zenas BioPharma Limited

In November 2020, the Company entered into a License Agreement (the Zenas Agreement) with Zenas, pursuant
to which the Company granted Zenas exclusive, worldwide rights to develop and commercialize three preclinical-stage Fc-
engineered drug candidates: XmAb6755, XPro9523 and XmAb10171. Under the Zenas Agreement, Zenas will be
responsible for all further development and commercialization activities for the drug candidates. The Company received a
15% equity interest in Zenas with a fair value of $16.1 million, and the Company is eligible to receive royalties on net sales
of approved products in the mid-single digit to mid-teen percentage range.

The total transaction price is $16.1 million, which includes the upfront payment of 15% of the equity of Zenas at
its fair value using the measurement alternative under ASC 321 as of the date of the Zenas Agreement. The Company
recorded licensing revenue of $16.1 million for the Zenas Agreement for the three months ended December 31, 2020. The
equity in Zenas is recorded at the fair value as of the date of the Zenas Agreement and is reviewed each reporting period for
impairment or other evidence of change in value. The Company did not record an impairment or change in the value of the
Zenas equity at June 30, 2021.

The Company did not recognize any revenue related to the Zenas Agreement for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2021. There is no deferred revenue as of June 30, 2021 related to this agreement.
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Revenue earned

The revenues recorded for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 were earned principally from
the following licensees (in millions):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020
Aimmune $ — $ — $ — $ 9.6
Alexion 5.2 3.8 10.5 7.2
Astellas — 0.7 — 0.9
Genentech 2.3 0.8 2.5 1.5
Gilead — 7.5 — 13.5
Janssen 16.2 — 30.8 —
MorphoSys 1.2 — 15.1 12.5
Novartis 41.1 — 41.1 —
Vir 1.4 0.3 1.4 0.3
Total $ 67.4 $ 131 $ 101.4 $ 45.5

The table below summarizes the disaggregation of revenue recorded for the three and six months ended June 30,
2021 and 2020 (in millions):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020
Research collaboration $ 58.6 $ 1.5 $ 73.4 $ 2.4
Milestone 1.5 0.3 14.0 12.8
Licensing — 7.5 — 23.1
Royalties 7.3 3.8 14.0 7.2
Total $ 67.4 $ 131 $ 101.4 $ 45.5

Remaining Performance Obligations and Deferred Revenue

The Company’s remaining performance obligation as of June 30, 2021 is conducting research activities pursuant
to research plans under the Janssen Agreement. The Company completed its performance obligations for research activities
pursuant to the Astellas Agreement in the second quarter of 2020. The Company’s obligation to perform research services
for Genentech and to deliver additional Global Discovery Programs under the Novartis Agreement ended upon expiration
of the respective research terms for each agreement in the second quarter of 2021. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the
Company has deferred revenue of $19.2 million and $44.7 million, respectively. All deferred revenue as of June 30, 2021 is
classified as current liabilities as the Company’s obligations to perform services are due on demand when requested by
Janssen under the Janssen Agreement.

10. Income taxes

There was no provision for income taxes for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 or 2020. For the three
and six months ended June 30, 2021, taxable income was reduced by temporary differences in revenue recognition and
from gains in equity securities. As of June 30, 2021, the Company’s deferred income tax assets, consisting primarily of net
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, have been fully offset by a valuation allowance.
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ITEM 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and
accompanying notes included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the financial statements and accompanying notes
thereto for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 and the related Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, both of which are contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2020. See also “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” included in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q.

Company Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on discovering and developing engineered
monoclonal antibody and cytokine therapeutics to treat patients with cancer and autoimmune diseases who have unmet
medical needs. We are advancing a broad portfolio of clinical-stage drug candidates from our proprietary XmAb®
technology platforms. We use our protein engineering capabilities to increase our understanding of protein structure and
interactions and to design new XmAb technologies and development candidates with improved properties. In contrast to
conventional approaches to antibody design, which focus on the segment of antibodies that interact with target antigens,
our protein engineering efforts and the XmAb technologies are focused on the Fc domain, the part of an antibody that
interacts with multiple segments of the immune system and controls antibody structure. The Fc domain is constant and
interchangeable among antibodies, and our engineered Fc domains, the XmAb technology, can be readily substituted for
natural Fc domains.

Our protein engineering capabilities and XmAb technologies enable us and our partners to develop antibodies and
biotherapeutic drug candidates with improved properties and function, which can provide innovative approaches to treating
disease and potential clinical advantages over other treatment options. For example, our capabilities have enabled us to
develop an antibody scaffold to rapidly create novel bispecific antibodies that bind two different targets simultaneously,
creating entirely new biological mechanisms. Other applications of our XmAb technologies enhance antibody performance
by increasing immune inhibitory activity, improving cytotoxicity, extending circulating half-life and stabilizing novel
protein structures, such as engineered cytokines. Currently, there are three marketed drugs that have been developed with
our XmAb technologies.

Refer to Part I, Item 1, “XmAb Bispecific Technologies” and “Other XmAb Fc Technologies™ in the description of
our business included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 for a discussion of our
core Fc technology platforms.

COVID-19

We are closely monitoring the COVID-19 pandemic and continue to evaluate its impact on all aspects of our
business including how it will affect our partners, collaborations, supply chains and research and development operations.
While the pandemic did not significantly disrupt our business during the three months ended June 30, 2021, the evolving
nature of the pandemic prevents us from reasonably predicting how the pandemic will affect our financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows due to numerous uncertainties. These uncertainties include the scope, severity and duration of
the pandemic, the actions taken to contain the pandemic or mitigate its impacts and the direct and indirect economic effects
of the pandemic and containment measures, among others. Many states, including California, where we are headquartered
and where our principal place of business is located, and cities therein have ongoing restrictions, rules and guidelines that
affect the continued operation of businesses. Other countries and states where we conduct manufacturing of our drug
products, testing activities and clinical sites where patients are enrolled in our clinical trials have enacted similar
restrictions that could affect our ability to conduct our drug candidate development and clinical operations.
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The potential impacts on our business, revenue, clinical studies and research and development activities of the
COVID-19 pandemic include:

Business: Our broad protein engineering capabilities and technologies are uniquely suited to provide us with
opportunities to identify and enhance compounds that may target the novel coronavirus and potentially treat
patients with COVID-19. For example, sotrovimab (VIR-7831), an antibody that targets the SARS-CoV-2
virus, received an EUA from the FDA for the treatment of mild-to-moderate COVID-19 in high-risk adults
and pediatric patients, and is made available by Vir and its partner GlaxoSmithKline Plc. Sotrovimab
incorporates our Xtend Fc technology for longer duration of action. VIR-7832, a second antibody licensed to
Vir, which also targets the SARS-CoV-2 virus, also incorporates Xtend technology and other XmAb Fc
technologies, and it is currently enrolling for a Phase 1b/2a study. We are eligible to receive a mid-single digit
percentage royalty on the net sales of both sotrovimab and VIR-7832.

Revenue: We receive upfront payments, milestone payments, royalties, and equity interests from partners
from licensing our XmAb technologies and drug candidates. The COVID-19 pandemic has not adversely
affected our revenues for the quarter ended June 30, 2021. During this quarter, for example, we generated
approximately $67.4 million in revenue from our partnerships and collaborations including but not limited to
our agreements with Janssen, Novartis, and Alexion, recognizing $16.2 million, $41.1 million, and $5.2
million of revenue, respectively. We also recognized a gain of $18.3 million in connection with the sale of an
equity interest received in a licensing transaction and also recorded an unrealized gain of $37.7 million
related to other equity investments that we received in licensing transactions.

Our ability to earn revenue from these and other partnerships is dependent on the ability of our partners to
generate sales from products, such as Ultomiris, Monjuvi, and sotrovimab, the ability of our partners to
advance our partnered programs through later stages of development and through regulatory approval, which
would entitle us to potential milestone payments. If the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects the sales or
clinical, development and regulatory progress of partnered programs, the amount of revenue we could earn
would be adversely affected.

Clinical studies: We are currently enrolling patients in seven clinical programs, and our partner Genentech is
enrolling patients in the Phase 1 study of XmAb306 (also known as RG6323), our co-development program
with Genentech. Many partners are also enrolling patients in clinical trials with drug candidates that
incorporate one or more XmAb technologies. Although the pandemic has not materially affected our clinical
development for the period ended June 30, 2021, some of our clinical programs have experienced slower
patient enrollment as a result of the pandemic. These delays have not broadly affected the status of our
portfolio programs and have been limited to specific trials and specific sites. Many clinical sites have delayed
starting new clinical trials and others have postponed enrollment to address the pandemic.

Research and development activities: We have implemented environmental, health, and safety procedures for
all onsite employees. We have also offered reimbursement of costs incurred and time off to employees to
receive vaccinations that have been authorized. We believe we provide a safe and healthy environment for
our onsite employees who have been able to continue research operations, following an initial period of
reduced onsite activities while new policies and procedures were, and have been, developed and
implemented. As of June 30, 2021, these activities have continued without interruption from the COVID-19
pandemic.

Our development activities include conducting IND-enabling studies for XmAb819 and XmAb808. Several
other bispecific antibody and cytokine programs are in earlier stages of development. During the third quarter
of 2020, the manufacturers of our drug supplies notified us of critical shortages of materials used in their
manufacturing processes due to pandemic-related reallocation of resources. The shortages will not affect our
current clinical programs as we have sufficient supply of drug material to continue the ongoing trials without
interruption. However, these shortages have extended the development timelines of early-stage development
candidates, including XmAb819, by three to six months.
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Clinical-Stage XmAb Bispecific Antibody and Cytokine Drug Candidate Updates

Our modular XmAb bispecific technology and protein engineering capabilities enable us to rapidly advance
multiple drug candidates into clinical development. We and our partners are currently enrolling Phase 1 studies for seven
wholly owned or co-development candidates to treat patients with many different types of cancer, and an eighth, in
development for patients with autoimmune disease, entered clinical development in April 2021.

Plamotamab (CD20 x CD3): Plamotamab is a bispecific antibody that targets CD20, an antigen on B-cell tumors,
and CD3, an activating receptor on T cells. Preliminary safety and anti-tumor activity from the ongoing Phase 1 dose-
escalation study of plamotamab in B-cell malignancies, including from patients with relapsed or refractory non-Hodgkin's
lymphoma (NHL), indicate that plamotamab was generally well tolerated and demonstrated encouraging clinical activity as
a monotherapy. We are currently enrolling patients in this study. In November 2020, we entered a strategic clinical
collaboration with MorphoSys AG and Incyte to investigate the chemotherapy-free triple combination of plamotamab,
tafasitamab and lenalidomide in patients with relapsed or refractory diffuse large B cell lymphoma (DLBCL), first-line
DLBCL and relapsed or refractory follicular lymphoma (FL). We plan to initiate the first of these studies, in patients with
relapsed or refractory DLBCL, an aggressive type of NHL, in late 2021 or early 2022.

XmAb717 (PD-1 x CTLA-4): XmAb717 is a bispecific antibody that targets PD-1 and CTLA-4, two immune
checkpoint receptors, to selectively activate the tumor microenvironment, and it is being developed in multiple types of
solid tumors, including for patients with castration-resistant prostate cancer. Data from the ongoing Phase 1 study indicates
that XmAb717 was generally well-tolerated, and that the most common treatment-related adverse events were immune-
related adverse events (irAEs); however, rates of irAEs, including colitis, were lower than typically observed with CTLA-4
blockade. Clinical responses were observed in all expansion cohorts, and the objective response rate across cohorts was
19.0%. We have initiated a Phase 2 study of XmAb717 for patients with certain molecular subtypes of CRPC, as a
monotherapy or in combination depending on the subtype.

Tidutamab (SSTR2 x CD3): Tidutamab is a bispecific antibody that targets somatostatin receptor 2, (SSTR2), a
target on many neuroendocrine-like tumor types, and CD3. Initial dose-escalation data from the ongoing Phase 1 study in
patients with neuroendocrine tumors (NET) indicates that tidutamab was generally well tolerated at the recommended dose
identified for the expansion portion of the study. Tidutamab induced sustained activation of cytotoxic T cells and
engagement of the SSTR2 target and demonstrated an encouraging safety profile. We have initiated a Phase 2 clinical study
for tidutamab in patients with Merkel cell carcinoma and small cell lung cancer, in each case which are SSTR2-expressing
tumor types known to be responsive to immunotherapy.

Vibecotamab (CD123 x CD3): Vibecotamab is a bispecific antibody that targets CD123, an antigen on acute
myeloid leukemia (AML) cells and leukemic stem cells, and CD3, an activating receptor on T cells. We continue enrolling
patients with AML in an ongoing Phase 1 dose-escalation study and are reviewing data with our partner, Novartis, in
planning additional studies of vibecotamab.

XmAb306/RO7310729 (IL15/IL15Ra-Fc Cytokine): XmAb306 is an IL15/IL15Ra-Fc fusion protein that
incorporates our Xtend extended half-life technology, and we are co-developing this program, as well as other potential IL-
15 programs, in collaboration with Genentech. Genentech has dosed cohorts of the Phase 1 study of XmAb306 as a single
agent and in combination with atezolizumab.

XmAb564 (IL2-Fc Cytokine): XmAb564 is a wholly owned, monovalent interleukin-2 Fc (IL-2-Fc) fusion protein,
engineered to selectively activate and expand regulatory T cells (Tregs) for the potential treatment of patients with
autoimmune diseases. XmAb564 is engineered with reduced binding affinity for IL-2's beta receptor and increased binding
affinity for its alpha receptor. In preclinical studies, XmAb564 was well-tolerated, promoted the selective and sustained
expansion of Tregs and exhibited a favorable pharmacokinetic profile. In April 2021, the first subject was dosed in a
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 1 clinical study that will evaluate the safety and tolerability of
XmADb564, administered subcutaneously in healthy adult volunteers.
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Additional wholly owned XmADb bispecific antibody programs in Phase 1 clinical studies include XmAb841
(CTLA-4 x LAG-3) and XmAb104 (PD-1 x ICOS). We continue enrolling patients with advanced solid tumors to these
studies. A new study of XmAb968, formerly AMG424, is currently planned to start in 2021.

Advancements Expanding XmAb Bispecific Platforms

We conduct further research into the function and application of antibody Fc domains in order to expand the scope
of our XmAb technology platforms and identify additional XmAb drug candidates. We use the modularity of our XmAb
bispecific Fc technology to build bispecific antibodies and cytokines in a variety of formats, and we recently introduced
CD3 bispecific antibodies of a mixed valency format, the XmAb 2+1 bispecific antibody. XmAb 2+1 bispecific antibodies
may preferentially kill tumor cells with high target expression, which may be especially beneficial in designing antibodies
that target solid tumors. This selectivity potentially empowers CD3 bispecifics to address an expanded set of tumor
antigens. Our lead XmAb 2+1 bispecific antibody candidate is XmAb819, a first-in-class ENPP3 x CD3 bispecific
antibody. ENPP3 is a tumor-associated antigen in renal cell carcinoma (RCC) and exhibits low-level expression on normal
tissues. We plan to submit an IND application for XmAb819 in 2021 and initiate a Phase 1 study in early 2022.

Additionally, we have engineered CD28 bispecific antibodies to provide conditional CD28 co-stimulation of T
cells, activating them when bound to tumor cells. Targeted CD28 bispecific antibodies may provide conditional co-
stimulation of T cells, for example, to T cells recognizing neoantigens or in concert with CD3 T-cell engaging bispecific
antibodies. Our CD28 platform is also the subject of our collaboration with Janssen Biotech, Inc., announced in December
2020, where we are creating and characterizing CD28 bispecific antibody candidates against a prostate tumor target
specified by Janssen. We are also advancing wholly owned CD28 candidates including our lead candidate, XmAb808, a
B7-H3 x CD28 bispecific antibody designed to be evaluated for the treatment of patients with a range of solid tumors,
which is currently advancing in IND-enabling studies.

In April 2021, we presented emerging preclinical data from early-stage programs that highlight the potential of the
XmAb 2+1 bispecific antibody format and the CD28 platform at the American Association for Cancer Research (AACR)
Annual Meeting.

Progress Across Partnerships

A key part of our business strategy is to leverage our protein engineering capabilities, XmAb technologies and
drug candidates with partnerships, collaborations, and licenses. We have sixteen partnerships for the licensing of our XmAb
technologies and drug candidates. Through these arrangements we generate revenues in the form of upfront payments,
milestone payments, royalties, and equity interests from our partners. For partnerships for our drug candidates, we aim to
retain a major economic interest in the form of keeping major geographic commercial rights; profit-sharing; co-
development options; and the right to conduct studies with drug candidates developed in the collaboration and also equity
interests in the form of stock. The types of arrangements that we have entered with partners include product licenses, novel
bispecific antibody collaborations, technology licensing agreements and strategic collaborations.

Product Licenses

Product licenses are arrangements in which we have internally developed drug candidates and, based on a strategic
review, licensed partial or full rights to third parties to continue development and potential commercialization. We seek
partners that can provide infrastructure and resources to successfully develop our drug candidates, have a track record of
successfully developing and commercializing medicines, or have a portfolio of development-stage candidates and
commercialized medicines that could potentially be developed in rational combinations with our drug candidates.

The FDA approved Monjuvi® (tafasitamab-cxix) under accelerated approval in July 2020. Monjuvi is a CD19-
directed cytolytic antibody indicated in combination with lenalidomide for the treatment of adult patients with relapsed or
refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) not otherwise specified , including DLBCL arising from low grade
lymphoma, and who are not eligible for autologous stem cell transplant (ASCT). This indication is approved under
accelerated approval based on overall response rate. Continued approval for this indication may be contingent upon
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verification and description of clinical benefit in a confirmatory trial(s). The antibody was created and initially developed
by us. Monjuvi is co-commercialized in the U.S. by MorphoSys and Incyte. In June 2021, MorphoSys and Incyte
announced that the European Medicines Agency's Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP) has issued a
positive opinion recommending the conditional marketing authorization of tafasitamab in combination with lenalidomide,
followed by tafasitamab monotherapy, for the treatment of adult patients with relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell
lymphoma (DLBCL) who are not eligible for autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT). The CHMP opinion to
recommend the use of tafasitamab is now being reviewed by the European Commission, which has the authority to grant
marketing authorization for medicinal products in the European Union (EU). In April 2021, MorphoSys and Incyte
announced the initiation of a Phase 3 study (inMIND) evaluating the addition of tafasitamab to lenalidomide and rituximab
in patients with relapsed or refractory follicular lymphoma or marginal zone lymphoma. In the first half of 2021, we earned
$12.5 million for the development milestone. We recognized royalty revenue of $1.2 million and $2.6 million on net sales
of Monjuvi for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively. Monjuvi® is a registered trademark of
MorphoSys AG.

Genentech is currently conducting IND-enabling studies for a second IL-15 cytokine candidate, which is
engineered with a target-specific binding arm. As a Collaboration Product under the agreement, we share in 45% of
development and commercialization costs for the candidate, while Genentech will pay for commercial launch costs, and we
will receive a 45% share of net profits from sales from all collaboration products, while also sharing in the net losses at the
same percentage rate. We are eligible to receive up to $180.0 million in clinical milestone payments for this candidate. In
March 2021, the two-year collaboration with Genentech to discover new-targeted IL-15 cytokine candidates concluded, and
we may independently advance new programs not previously nominated under the agreement.

In November 2020, we entered into an agreement with Zenas, to which we licensed the exclusive, worldwide
rights to develop and commercialize three preclinical-stage Fc-engineered drug candidates for autoimmune disease. Zenas
is a cross-border biopharmaceutical company committed to becoming a global leader in the development and delivery of
immune-based therapies for patients in China and around the world. XmAb6755, XPro9523 and XmAb10171 incorporate
an Xtend Fc Domain, a Cytotoxic Fc Domain, or both. Zenas has indicated that these programs, which they have
collectively named ZB002, ZB003 and ZB004, are undergoing IND-enabling studies to support clinical development for
both new and established autoimmune disease indications. We received a 15% equity interest in the company, and we are
eligible to receive royalties on net sales of approved products in the mid-single digit to mid-teen percentage range.

In October 2017, we entered into an agreement with INmune, pursuant to which we provided INmune with an
exclusive license to our XPro1595 drug candidate. INmune is currently conducting a Phase 2 study in hospitalized patients
with respiratory symptoms from COVID-19 infection, as Quellor™ and Phase 1 studies in patients with Alzheimer’s
disease and treatment resistant depression, as XPro1595. In connection with the license, we received shares of INmune
common stock and an option to acquire up to 10% of the outstanding common stock of INmune for $10.0 million. At
inception of the Agreement, INmune became a related party of the Company as a result of the Company’s significant
influence with respect to its investment in INmune. In June 2021, we sold the option for $15.0 million in cash and $3.3
million in additional shares of INmune common stock. After the sale of the option, the Company determined that INmune
is no longer a related party of the Company as of June 2021.

Technology License Agreements

We enter into technology licensing agreements pursuant to which we license access to one or more of our XmAb
Fc technologies on a restricted basis, typically to an XmAb Cytotoxic Fc Domain and/or the Xtend Fc Domain. Our
partners are responsible for all research, development, and commercialization activities of the drug candidates. The plug-
and-play nature of XmAb technologies allows us to license access to our platforms with limited or no internal research and
development activities.

Alexion’s Ultomiris® uses Xtend Fc technology for longer half-life. Ultomiris has received marketing
authorizations from regulatory agencies in the U.S., Europe, and Japan for the treatment of patients with paroxysmal
nocturnal hemoglobinuria (PNH) and for patients with atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome (aHUS). Alexion is also
evaluating Ultomiris in a broad late-stage development program across many indications in neurology and nephrology.

32




Table of Contents

We earned $5.2 million and $10.5 million in royalties from Alexion for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021,
respectively.

Vir has non-exclusive access to multiple of our Fc technologies, including Xtend™ Fc technology, designed to
extend the half-life of novel antibodies that Vir is investigating as potential treatments for patients with COVID-19. In May
2021, the FDA granted EUA to sotrovimab (VIR-7831) for the treatment of mild-to-moderate COVID-19 in high-risk
adults and pediatric patients. A second drug candidate, VIR-7832, is in a Phase 1b/2a trial of adults with mild-to-moderate
COVID-19. In the second quarter of 2021, we earned $0.9 million in royalties from Vir.

In August 2019, we provided Vir a non-exclusive license to our Xtend Fc technology for two targets in infectious
disease. Vir has advanced two programs under this agreement. In the second quarter of 2021, Vir announced plans to
initiate a Phase 2 trial of VIR-3434 in combination with an siRNA drug candidate as a potential treatment for patients with
chronic hepatitis B virus infection, and we earned $0.5 million for the development milestone.

In May 2021, we entered into a technology license agreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (BMS) under
which BMS has access to Xtend Fc technology to extend the half-life of a novel antibody combination therapy that is
intended to neutralize the SARS-CoV-2 virus for the treatment or prevention of COVID-19. Phase 1 clinical evaluation to
assess dosing and safety of the antibody combination is being conducted by investigators at Rockefeller University
Hospital, while the initial Phase 2 and 3 studies are being planned as part of the NTH ACTIV-2 trial examining treatment of
infected outpatients. Under the terms of the agreement, BMS is solely responsible for the activities and costs related to
research, development, regulatory and commercial activities for their COVID-19 drug candidates, and Xencor is eligible to
receive royalties on net sales in the mid-single digit percent range.

In connection with our June 2016 collaboration and license agreement with Novartis, we granted Novartis a non-
exclusive license to certain non-bispecific XmAb Fc technologies to apply against up to ten targets. In the second quarter of
2021, we earned $1.0 million for a development milestone related to an undisclosed XmAb antibody program.

Refer to Part I, Item 1, Note 9, Collaboration and Licensing Agreements of the Notes to Financial Statements
included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a description of the key terms of our arrangements.

We have over 1,000 issued and pending patents worldwide to protect our XmAb technology platform and XmAb
drug candidates.

Since we commenced active operations in 1998, we have devoted substantially all our resources to staffing our
Company, business planning, raising capital, developing our technology platforms, identifying potential product candidates,
undertaking pre-clinical and IND-enabling studies, and conducting clinical trials. We have no products approved for
commercial sale and have not generated any revenues from product sales, and we continue to incur significant research and
development expenses and other expenses related to our ongoing operations. To date, we have funded our operations
primarily through the sale of stock and from payments generated from our product development partnerships and licensing
arrangements.

As of June 30, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $316.0 million. Substantially all of the operating losses that

we have incurred resulted from expenses incurred in connection with our product candidate development programs, our
research activities and general and administrative costs associated with our operations.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 (in
millions):

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2021 2020 Change

Revenues:

Research collaboration $ 58.6 $ 15 $ 57.1

Milestone 1.5 0.3 1.2

Licensing — 7.5 (7.5)

Royalties 7.3 3.8 3.5
Total revenues 67.4 13.1 54.3
Operating expenses:

Research and development 49.5 43.5 6.0

General and administrative 8.9 7.2 1.7
Total operating expenses 58.4 50.7 7.7
Other income, net 43.2 2.6 40.6
Net income (loss) $ 522 $ (35.00 $ 87.2
Revenues

Revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2021 are primarily from the collaboration with Janssen, milestone
revenue recognized from Novartis, research revenue recognized in connection with the expiration of research terms under
the Genentech and Novartis collaborations, and royalty revenue from Alexion, MorphoSys, and Vir. Revenues for the three
months ended June 30, 2020 are primarily from milestone revenues recognized from our MorphoSys collaboration, royalty
revenue from our Alexion collaboration, and licensing revenue recognized from our Gilead collaboration.
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Research and Development Expenses

The following tables summarize our research and development expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2021
and 2020 (in millions):

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2021 2020 Change
Product programs:
Obexelimab (XmAb5871) $ 02 $ 1.0 $ (0.8)
Bispecific programs:
CD3 programs:
Vibecotamab* 2.0 3.1 (1.1)
Plamotamab 10.3 9.3 1.0
Tidutamab 3.9 3.7 0.2
XmAb819 (ENPP3 x CD3) 4.3 1.9 24
Total CD3 programs 20.5 18.0 2.5
Tumor micro environment (TME) activator programs:
XmAb717 6.3 6.8 (0.5)
XmAb104 6.3 3.7 2.6
XmAb841 2.3 2.2 0.1
Total TME activators programs 14.9 12.7 2.2
Cytokine programs:
XmAb306/RG6323 and second IL-15 candidate* 3.0 2.0 1.0
XmAb564 3.6 4.7 1.1)
Total cytokine programs 6.6 6.7 (0.1)
Subtotal bispecific programs 42.0 37.4 4.6
Other, research and early stage programs 7.3 5.1 2.2
Total research and development expenses $ 495 $ 435 $ 6.0

*Includes net payments to, and reimbursements from our partners pursuant to agreements that include cost-sharing arrangements.

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2021 2020 Change
External research and development expenses $ 265 $ 248 $ 1.7
Internal research and development expenses 16.8 13.3 3.5
Stock based compensation 6.2 5.4 0.8
Total research and development expenses $ 495 $ 435 % 6.0

Research and development expenses increased by $6.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021 over the
same period in 2020 primarily due to increased spending on our XmAb104, XmAb819, and other early stage programs.
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General and Administrative Expenses

The following table summarizes our general and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30,
2021 and 2020 (in millions):

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2021 2020 Change
General and administrative $ 8.9 $ 7.2 $ 1.7

General and administrative expenses increased by $1.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021 over the
same period in 2020 primarily due to increased general and administrative staffing and additional spending on professional
services.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net was $43.2 million and $2.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The increase in other income, net was primarily due to the gain realized from the sale of the INmune option,
and the unrealized gain recognized from the change in our accounting for our investment in INmune.

Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 (in
millions):

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021 2020 Change

Revenues:

Research collaboration $ 734 3 24 % 71.0

Milestone 14.0 12.8 1.2

Licensing — 23.1 (23.1)

Royalties 14.0 7.2 6.8
Total revenues 101.4 45.5 55.9
Operating expenses:

Research and development 90.9 77.4 13.5

General and administrative 17.1 14.4 2.7
Total operating expenses 108.0 91.8 16.2
Other income, net 56.4 3.3 53.1
Net income (loss) $ 498 $ (43.0) $ 92.8
Revenues

Revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2021 are primarily from the collaboration with Janssen, milestone
revenue recognized from MorphoSys and Novartis, research revenue recognized in connection with the expiration of
research terms under the Genentech and Novartis collaborations, and the royalty revenue from Alexion, MorphoSys, and
Vir. Revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2020 are primarily from milestone revenues recognized from our
MorphoSys collaboration, royalty revenue from our Alexion collaboration, and licensing revenue recognized from the
collaborations with Aimmune and Gilead.
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Research and Development Expenses

The following tables summarize our research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2021

and 2020 (in millions):

Product programs:
Obexelimab (XmAb5871)

Bispecific programs:

CD3 programs:
Vibecotamab*
Plamotamab
Tidutamab
XmAb819 (ENPP3 x CD3)

Total CD3 programs

Tumor micro environment (TME) activator programs:
XmAb717
XmAb104
XmAb841
Total TME activators programs

Cytokine programs:
XmAb306/RG6323 and second IL-15 candidate*
XmAb564
Total cytokine programs
Subtotal bispecific programs

Other, research and early stage programs

Total research and development expenses

*Includes net payments to, and reimbursements from our partners pursuant to agreements that include cost-sharing arrangements.

External research and development expenses
Internal research and development expenses
Stock based compensation

Total research and development expenses

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021 2020 Change

$ 08 $ 19 $ (1.1)
49 5.7 (0.8)
17.0 164 0.6
8.2 6.9 1.3

7.3 2.9 4.4
374 31.9 5.5
12.2 12.1 0.1
8.8 6.5 2.3

5.5 4.7 0.8
26.5 23.3 3.2
6.9 4.0 2.9

6.8 6.6 0.2
13.7 10.6 3.1
77.6 65.8 11.8
12.5 9.7 2.8

$ 909 $ 774 $ 13.5

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2021 2020 Change
473 $ 419 $ 5.4
31.9 25.9 6.0
11.7 9.6 2.1
909 $ 774  $ 13.5

Research and development expenses increased by $13.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 over the
same period in 2020 primarily due to increased spending on our XmAb306, XmAb104, XmAb819, and other early stage

programs.
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General and Administrative Expenses

The following table summarizes our general and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2021
and 2020 (in millions):

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021 2020 Change
General and administrative $ 171 $ 144 $ 2.7

General and administrative expenses increased by $2.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 over the
same period in 2020 primarily due to increased general and administrative staffing and additional spending on professional
services.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net was $56.4 million and $3.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The increase in other income, net was primarily due to unrealized gain recognized with respect to our
investment in Catabasis, the gain realized from the sale of the INmune option, and the unrealized gain recognized from the
change in accounting for our investment in INmune.

Cash Flows

The following table sets forth the primary sources and uses of cash for each of the periods presented below (in
thousands):

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021 2020 Change

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ (39,620) $  (18,222) $ (21,398)

Investing activities (15,261) 71,973 (87,234)

Financing activities 7,179 5,471 1,708
Net increase (decrease) in cash $ (47,702) $ 59,222 $  (106,924)

Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 were $39.6 million and $18.2
million, respectively. The increase in cash used in operating activities is primarily due to increased research and
development expenses.

Investing Activities

Investing activities consist primarily of investments in marketable securities available-for-sale, purchases of
intangible assets, capitalization of patent and licensing costs and purchases of property and equipment.

Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2021 increased by $1.7 million over

the same period in 2020, which reflects additional proceeds received from the exercise of stock options and purchases
under the ESPP.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our operations primarily through private placements of our equity securities, the issuance of
convertible notes, public offerings of our common stock, and payments received under our product development
partnerships and licensing arrangements.

As of June 30, 2021, we had $603.7 million of cash, cash equivalents and marketable debt and equity securities
compared to $604.0 million as of December 31, 2020. The investments in marketable securities are further described above
in Note 5, Marketable and Equity Securities, of Notes to Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q. We expect to continue to receive additional payments from our collaborators for research and development services
rendered, additional milestone, opt-in, contingent payments, and royalties. Our ability to receive milestone payments and
contingent payments from our partners is dependent upon either our ability or our partners’ abilities to achieve certain
levels of research and development activities and is therefore uncertain at this time.

Funding Requirements

We have not generated any revenue from product sales to date and do not expect to do so until we obtain
regulatory approval of and commercialize one or more of our product candidates. As we are currently in the clinical stage
of development, it will be some time before we expect to achieve this, and it is uncertain that we ever will commercialize
one or more of our product candidates. We expect that we will continue to increase our operating expenses in connection
with ongoing as well as additional clinical and preclinical development of product candidates in our pipeline.

Although it is difficult to predict our funding requirements, based upon our current operating plan, we expect that
our existing cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, and certain potential milestone payments will fund our operating
expenses and capital expenditure requirements into 2024. We have based these estimates on assumptions that may prove to
be wrong, and the COVID-19 pandemic could materially alter these estimates which would cause us to use our capital
resources sooner than we currently expect.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

There were no material changes outside of the ordinary course of business to our specific contractual obligations
during the three months ended June 30, 2021.

Critical Accounting Policies

For a discussion of our material changes in critical accounting policies, see “Recent Accounting Pronouncements”
in Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to Financial Statements included in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q.
ITEM 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

There have been no material changes in the quantitative or qualitative aspects of our market risk profile. For

additional information regarding the Company’s exposure to certain market risks, see “Item 7A. Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” included in the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
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ITEM 4. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) and Rule 15d-15(b) of the Exchange Act, our management, with the supervision of
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our principal executive officer and principal financial officer,
respectively), evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(e)) as of June 30, 2021. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed
to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q has
been appropriately recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our principal executive and principal financial officers, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Based on that evaluation, our principal executive and principal financial officers have concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures are effective at the reasonable assurance level as of June 30, 2021.

A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues, if any, within a company have been detected.
Accordingly, our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance, not absolute assurance,
that the objectives of our disclosure control system are met and, as set forth above, our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer have concluded, that based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that
the objective of our disclosure control system were met.

Changes in Internal Control

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended
June 30, 2021 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting. Beginning March 17, 2020, a majority of our business, accounting and financial reporting employees began
working remotely due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Since that time, we have not experienced any material impact to our
internal controls over financial reporting. We are continually monitoring and assessing the COVID-19 situation on our
internal controls to minimize the impact to their design and operating effectiveness.
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PART II — OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. Legal Proceedings.

The disclosure in Note 8, Commitments and Contingencies, of the Notes to Financial Statements included in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes a discussion of our legal proceedings and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, which could materially affect our business, financial position, or future
results of operations. See also “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” included in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q. In addition to the risks set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020,
additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also materially
and adversely affect our business.
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ITEM 6. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number
3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

31.1

31.2

321

101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE

104

Description of Document

Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-191689), originally filed with the
SEC on October 25, 2013).

Third Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated June 26, 2013, among the Company and

Agreement of Lease, dated April 30, 2021, by and between the Company and Angelo Gordon Real Estate, Inc.

First Amendment to Lease, dated July 13, 2021, by and between the Company and Angelo Gordon Real Estate,
Inc.

Rule 13a-14(a)_Certification of Principal Executive Officer.

Rule 13a-14(a)_Certification of Principal Financial Officer.

Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer.

Inline XBRL Instance Document — The instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because
its XBRL tags are embedded within the inline XBRL document.

Inline XBRL Schema Document

Inline XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Labels Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

XENCOR, INC.

BY: /s/ BASSIL I. DAHIYAT

Bassil I. Dahiyat, Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

BY: /s/ JOHN J. KUCH

John J. Kuch
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Dated: August 4, 2021
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Exhibit 10.1
SECOND AMENDMENT
TO THE COLLABORATION AND LICENSE AGREEMENT

Tais SEconp AMENDMENT (this “Amendment”) to the Collaboration and License Agreement of
February 4, 2019, as amended on March 10, 2021 (the “Agreement”), is made as of June 30, 2021
(the “Amendment Effective Date”), by and between, on the one hand, Xencor, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, having its principal place of business at 111 West Lemon Avenue, Monrovia, California,
91016 (“Xencor”), and, on the other hand, Genentech, Inc., a Delaware corporation, having its
principal place of business at 1 DNA Way, South San Francisco, California 94080 (“GNE”), and
F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of Switzerland,
having its principal place of business at Grenzacherstrasse 124, CH 4070 Basel, Switzerland
(“Roche”) (GNE and Roche, collectively, “Genentech”). Xencor and Genentech are sometimes
referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” All capitalized terms not
otherwise defined in this Amendment shall have the meanings defined in the Agreement.

WHEREAS, Genentech and Xencor wish to amend certain terms of the Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and the mutual covenants contained
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Genentech and Xencor hereby
agree as follows:

1. Amendment to Section 3.1. The last sentence of Section 3.1 of the Agreement shall be
amended and replaced in its entirety by the following revised sentence:

“Except as set forth in this Article 3, during the Research Term, neither Party nor their
respective Affiliates or sublicensees shall conduct any Research activities with respect to a
Research Target that is not set forth in a Research Plan or otherwise approved by the JRC.”

2. Amendment to Section 3.4. The following new sentence shall be inserted at the end of the
first paragraph of Section 3.4 of the Agreement:

“For clarity, notwithstanding Section 9.6.1(e), following the end of the Research Term,
Genentech, its Affiliates, and sublicensees shall be permitted to conduct further Research
activities with respect to a Research Target in support of further Research and Development of
Collaboration Constructs or Collaboration Products.”

3. Amendment to Section 8.4.3(c). The first sentence of Section 8.4.3(c) of the Agreement shall
be amended and replaced in its entirety by the following revised sentence:

“(c) In the event that Genentech makes an ED Go Decision and advances a Targeted
Collaboration Construct into Development following the end of the Research Term (a “Post
Research Term Construct”), it shall provide notice thereof to Xencor, and Xencor shall have
the option to either share the Net Profit and Net Losses with respect to Collaboration Products
containing or comprising such Post Research Term Construct in the Collaboration Allocation
pursuant to Section 8.4 or to opt for a Royalty Conversion pursuant to Section 8.4.3(b) with




respect to such Post Research Term Construct and Collaboration Products containing or
comprising such Post Research Term Construct.”

4. Effective Date of the Agreement. The Parties wish to document that each of the conditions
described in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of Section 17.19 (HSR) of the Agreement was met on March 8,
2019, and consequently the Effective Date of the Agreement is March 8, 2019.

5. Miscellaneous.

(a) Unless otherwise expressly provided, references in this Amendment (i) to the
Agreement, are to the body of the Agreement and (ii) to Sections, are to sections of the Agreement.

(b) Except as expressly stated herein, no other changes are made to the Agreement and all
other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. In the event of a
conflict between the provisions hereof and the Agreement, the provisions of this Amendment shall
control. The Agreement and this Amendment contain the entire understanding between the Parties
hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior agreements, understandings and
arrangements between the Parties, whether written or oral with respect to such subject matter.

(©) All references to the “Agreement” in the Agreement shall hereafter mean the
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment.

(d) This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of
the State of California and the patent laws of the United States without reference to any rules of
conflict of laws. The Parties hereby exclude from this Amendment the application of the United
Nations Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods.

(e) This Amendment may be executed in two or more counterparts by original signature,
facsimile, PDF files or electronic signature, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of
which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

[Signature page follows]

[***] = CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS DOCUMENT BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND WOULD
LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM TO THE REGISTRANT IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED, AND HAS BEEN MARKED WITH “[***]” TO INDICATE
WHERE OMISSIONS HAVE BEEN MADE.




IN WITNESS WHEREQOF, each of Xencor, Genentech and Roche, intending to be bound
have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives as of the

Amendment Effective Date.

Xencor, Inc.

By: /s/ Bassil Dahiyat

Name: Bassil Dahiyat

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Genentech, Inc.

By: [*4]

Name: [***]

Title: [***]

F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd

By: [#%%]

Name: [***]

Title: [***]

By: []

Name: [***]

Title: [***]

[***] = CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS DOCUMENT BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND WOULD
LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM TO THE REGISTRANT IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED, AND HAS BEEN MARKED WITH “[***]” TO INDICATE

WHERE OMISSIONS HAVE BEEN MADE.




Exhibit 10.2

AGREEMENT OF LEASE

(465 North Halstead)

THIS AGREEMENT OF LEASE (“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the 30th day of April, 2021, by and between
ANGELO GORDON REAL ESTATE, INC., a Delaware corporation (“AG”) and XENCOR, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Xencor”).

RECITALS:

A. AG (as buyer) has entered into a purchase and sale agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with North Halstead
Associates, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (as seller) providing for the purchase and sale of that certain real property and
improvements located at 465 North Halstead Street, Pasadena, California (the “Property™).

B. On or before the closing date of the Purchase Agreement (“Closing”), AG will assign its rights and obligations under
the Purchase Agreement to a yet to be formed wholly-owned affiliate of AG that will take title to the Property (the “AG Affiliate”).

C. Upon the Closing, Xencor shall lease from the AG Affiliate and the AG Affiliate shall to lease to Xencor a portion of
the Building.
D. In anticipation of the Closing, AG and Xencor have entered into a lease of a portion of the Building (a fully executed

copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”) (the “Lease”); AG’s rights and obligations as landlord under the Lease will be assigned
to the AG Affiliate on or prior to the Closing.

E. By this Agreement, AG and Xencor desire to memorialize the effectiveness of the Lease.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:




AGREEMENT:

1. Effectiveness of the Lease. AG and Xencor covenant and agree that the Lease constitutes a binding obligation of AG
and Xencor, subject only to the Closing under the Purchase Agreement. Upon the Closing, the Lease will be deemed fully effective and
deemed delivered as of the Closing. Xencor agrees to execute any commercially reasonable amendment to the Lease required by AG to
memorialize the assignment of the Lease by AG to the AG Affiliate.

2. Requirement of Closing. In the event the Closing has not occurred by July 5, 2021 (“Outside Closing Date”), AG and
Xencor shall have the right to terminate this Agreement by written notice to the other sent at any time after the Outside Closing Date.
Upon such termination, the parties shall be relieved of all obligations hereunder (and will not have any liability to the other on account of
such termination); provided, however, that in the event the Closing does not occur by the Outside Closing Date due to a voluntary
termination of the Purchase Agreement by AG or a termination of the Purchase Agreement by seller thereunder due to a default by AG
under the Purchase Agreement then, as Xencor’s sole remedy, AG shall, within thirty (30) days of such failure of the Closing to occur,
pay to Xencor an amount equal to One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00) as liquidated damages.

3. Authority. Each individual executing this Agreement on behalf of each party represents and warrants that the party on
whose behalf he or she is executing this Agreement is a duly formed and existing entity and that such party has full right and authority to
deliver this Agreement and that each person signing on behalf of such party is authorized to do so.

4. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the state of
California.
5. Counterparts; Signatures. This Agreement may be executed in 2 or more counterparts. Each counterpart of this

Agreement shall be deemed to be an original thereof, and all such counterparts, when taken together, shall constitute one and the same
instrument. The parties hereto consent and agree that this Agreement may be signed and/or transmitted by facsimile, e-mail of a .pdf
document or using electronic signature technology (e.g., via DocuSign or similar electronic signature technology), and that such signed
electronic record shall be valid and as effective to bind the party so signing as a paper copy bearing such party’s handwritten signature.
The parties further consent and agree that (i) to the extent a party signs this Agreement using electronic signature technology, by clicking
“SIGN”, such party is signing this Agreement electronically, and (ii) the electronic signatures appearing on this Agreement shall be
treated, for purposes of validity, enforceability and admissibility, the same as handwritten signatures.

[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGE]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed as of the date first set forth above.

“AG” ANGELO GORDON REAL ESTATE, INC., a Delaware
corporation

By:  /s/ Louis Friedel

Name: Louis Friedel

Title:  Vice President

“Xencor” XENCOR, INC., a Delaware corporation

By:  /s/ Bassil Dahiyat

Name: Bassil Dahiyat, Ph.D.

Title: President & CEO




EXHIBIT A
LEASE

[Attached]
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465 NORTH HALSTEAD

LEASE

ANGELO GORDON REAL ESTATE, INC,,
a Delaware corporation

as Landlord,
and

XENCOR, INC,,
a Delaware corporation

as Tenant
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SUMMARY OF BASIC LEASE INFORMATION

This Summary of Basic Lease Information (“Summary”) is hereby incorporated into and made a part of the attached Lease.
Each reference in the Lease to any term of this Summary shall have the meaning as set forth in this Summary for such term. In the event
of a conflict between the terms of this Summary and the Lease, the terms of the Lease shall prevail. Any capitalized terms used herein
and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning as set forth in the Lease.

TERMS OF LEASE
(References are to the Lease)

1. Date:

2. Landlord:

3. Address of Landlord (Section 24.19):
4. Tenant:

5. Address of Tenant (Section 24.19):

DESCRIPTION
April 30, 2021

ANGELO GORDON REAL ESTATE, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

For notices to Landlord:

Angelo Gordon Real Estate Inc.
Los Angeles, California 90067
Attention: Louis Friedel

with a copy to:

Lincoln Property Company

915 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 2050
Los Angeles, California 90017
Attention: David Binswanger

Allen Matkins Leck Gamble Mallory & Natsis LLP
600 West Broadway, 27th Floor

San Diego, California 92101

Attention: Martin L. Togni, Esq.

Address for payment of Rent only shall be provided on or before the

Phase 1 Lease Commencement Date.

XENCOR, INC,,
a Delaware corporation

Xencor, Inc.

111 W. Lemon Ave.

Monrovia, California 91016

Attention: John Kuch, Chief Financial Officer
(Prior to Phase 1 Lease Commencement Date)

with a copy to:

Xencor, Inc.

111 W. Lemon Ave.

Monrovia, California 91016

Attention: Celia Eckert, General Counsel

-
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TERMS OF LEASE
(References are to the Lease) DESCRIPTION

and

Xencor, Inc.

465 North Halstead, Suite 200

Pasadena, California 91107

Attention: John Kuch, Chief Financial Officer

with a copy to:

Xencor, Inc.

465 North Halstead, Suite 200

Pasadena, California 91107

Attention: Celia Eckert, General Counsel
(After Phase 1 Lease Commencement Date)

6. Premises (Article 1):

6.1 Premises: 129,543 rentable square feet of space consisting of (i) 83,083
rentable square feet located on the second floor of the Building (as
defined below) and commonly known as Suites 200 and 225
(“Phase 1 Premises™) and (ii) 46,460 rentable square feet of space
located on the second (2nd) floor of the Building and commonly
known as Suite 250 (“Phase 2 Premises”), all as depicted on
Exhibit A attached hereto. The Phase 1 Premises and the Phase 2
Premises are collectively referred to herein as the “Premises.”

6.2 Building: The Premises are located in the building whose address is 465 North
Halstead, Pasadena, California (the “Building”).

7. Term (Article 2):
7.1 Lease Term: Thirteen (13) years.
7.2 Lease Commencement Date: The Lease Commencement Date for the Phase 1 Premises shall be
July 1, 2022 (“Phase 1 Lease Commencement Date”). The Lease
Commencement Date for the Phase 2 Premises shall be the later of
July 1, 2025 or that date which is nine (9) months after the Phase 2
Premises Delivery Date (as defined in Section 2.2 of this Lease)]

(the “Phase 2 Lease Commencement Date”).

7.3 Lease Expiration Date: June 30, 2035
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TERMS OF LEASE

(References are to the Lease) DESCRIPTION
8. Base Rent (Article 3):
8.1 Base Rent For Phase 1 Premises:
Annual Monthly Installment Monthly Rental Rate
Lease Period Base Rent of Base Rent** per Rentable Square Foot***
*07/01/22 — 06/30/23 $4,636,031.40 $386,335.95 $4.65
07/01/23 — 06/30/24 $4,775,112.36 $397,926.03 $4.79
07/01/24 — 06/30/25 $4,918,365.72 $409,863.81 $4.93
07/01/25 — 06/30/26 $5,065,916.64 $422,159.72 $5.08
07/01/26 — 06/30/27 $5,217,894.12 $434,824.51 $5.23
07/01/27 — 06/30/28 $5,374,431.00 $447,869.25 $5.39
07/01/28 — 06/30/29 $5,535,663.96 $461,305.33 $5.55
07/01/29 — 06/30/30 $5,701,733.88 $475,144.49 $5.72
07/01/30 — 06/30/31 $5,872,785.84 $489,398.82 $5.89
07/01/31 — 06/30/32 $6,048,969.36 $504,080.78 $6.07
07/01/32 — 06/30/33 $6,230,438.40 $519,203.20 $6.25
07/01/33 — 06/30/34 $6,417,351.60 $534,779.30 $6.44
07/01/34 — 06/30/35 $6,609,872.16 $550,822.68 $6.63

8.2 Base Rent For Phase 2 Premises:

On the Phase 2 Lease Commencement Date, Tenant shall pay, as Base Rent for the Phase 2 Premises, the same Base
Rent rate (per rentable square foot) as is then applicable to the Phase 1 Premises (and subject to the same Base Rent
rate increases which apply to the Base Rent for the Phase 1 Premises).

* Subject to Base Rent abatement as set forth in Section 3.2. Such Base Rent is subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 2.1 of Exhibit
B.

** The initial Monthly Installment of Base Rent amount was calculated by multiplying the initial Monthly Rental Rate per Rentable
Square Foot amount by the number of rentable square feet of space in the Premises, and the Annual Base Rent amount was calculated by
multiplying the initial Monthly Installment of Base Rent amount by twelve (12). In all subsequent Base Rent payment periods during the
Lease Term commencing on the first (1st) day of the full calendar month that is Lease Month 13, the calculation of each Monthly
Installment of Base Rent amount reflects an annual increase of three percent (3%) and each Annual Base Rent amount was calculated by
multiplying the corresponding Monthly Installment of Base Rent amount by twelve (12).

*** The amounts identified in the column entitled “Monthly Rental Rate per Rentable Square Foot” are rounded amounts provided for
informational purposes only.
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TERMS OF LEASE
(References are to the Lease)

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses, Tax Expenses and
Utilities Costs (Section 4.2.6):

Permitted Use
(Article 5):

Security Deposit (Article 20):

Brokers (Section 24.25):

Parking (Article 23):

DESCRIPTION

(i) Commencing on the Phase 1 Lease Commencement Date,
34.79% (83,083 rentable square feet within the Phase 1
Premises/238,842 rentable square feet within the Building) and
(ii) commencing on the Phase 2 Lease Commencement Date,
54.24% (129,543 rentable square feet within the entire
Premises/238,842 rentable square feet within the Building).

The Premises shall be used only for general office, research and
development, engineering, laboratory, storage and/or warehouse
uses, including, but not limited to, administrative offices and other
lawful uses reasonably related to or incidental to such specified
uses, all (i) consistent with first class life sciences projects in the
County of Los Angeles, California comparable to the Project (“First
Class Life Sciences Projects”), and (ii) in compliance with, and
subject to, applicable laws and the terms of this Lease.

$386,335.95.

LPC West, Inc. representing Landlord, and Jones Lang LaSalle
representing Tenant.

Total of three (3) unreserved parking spaces for every 1,000 rentable
square feet of the Premises then leased by Tenant hereunder (i.e.,
two hundred forty-nine (249) parking spaces commencing on the
Phase 1 Lease Commencement Date (based on 83,083 rentable
square feet in the Phase 1 Premises) and three hundred eighty-eight
(388) parking spaces commencing on the Phase 2 Lease
Commencement Date (based on 129,543 rentable square feet in the
entire Premises)). Tenant shall have the right to designate ten (10)
parking spaces located immediately proximate to Tenant’s entrance
to the Building for Tenant’s exclusive use (with the exact location to
be mutually approved by Landlord and Tenant).
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LEASE

This Lease, which includes the preceding Summary and the exhibits attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference
(the Lease, the Summary and the exhibits to be known sometimes collectively hereafter as the “Lease”), dated as of the date set forth in
Section 1 of the Summary, is made by and between ANGELO GORDON REAL ESTATE, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Landlord”),
and XENCOR, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”).

1. PROJECT, BUILDING AND PREMISES
1 Project, Building and Premises.
1.1 Premises. Upon and subject to the terms, covenants and conditions hereinafter set forth in this Lease,

(i) Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hereby leases from Landlord the Phase 1 Premises described in Section 6.1 of the
Summary and (ii) on the Phase 2 Delivery Date, Landlord shall lease to Tenant and Tenant shall lease from Landlord, the Phase 2
Premises described in Section 6.1 of the Summary. The floor plan of the Premises is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

1.2 Building and Project. The Building consists of two (2) floors and a basement with a total of 238,842 rentable
square feet and is part of a single-building commercial project, located on 9.6 acres of land in the City of Pasadena. The term “Project”
as used in this Lease, shall mean, collectively: (i) the Building; (ii) to the extent Tenant has non-exclusive use thereof pursuant to Section
1.1.3 below, any outside plaza areas, walkways, driveways, courtyards, public and private streets, transportation facilitation areas and
other improvements and facilities shown on the Project Site Plan (as defined below); and (iii) the land upon which any of the foregoing
are situated. The site plan depicting the current configuration of the Project (the “Project Site Plan”) is attached hereto as Exhibit A-1.
The Project contains a surface parking facility serving the Building (“Parking Facility”). Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything
contained in this Lease to the contrary, (1) Landlord has no obligation to expand or otherwise make any improvements within the Project,
including, without limitation, any of the outside plaza areas, walkways, driveways, courtyards, public and private streets, transportation
facilitation areas and other improvements and facilities which may be depicted on Exhibit A-1 attached hereto other than Landlord’s
obligations (if any) specifically set forth in the Tenant Work Letter attached hereto as Exhibit B, and (2) Landlord shall have the right
from time to time to include or exclude any improvements or facilities within the Project, at such party’s sole election, as more
particularly set forth in Section 1.1.3 below provided the Operating Expenses attributed thereto are appropriately adjusted.

1.3 Tenant’s and Landlord’s Rights. Tenant shall have the right to the nonexclusive use of the common corridors
and hallways, stairwells, elevators (if any), restrooms and other public or common areas located within the Building as depicted on
Exhibit A-2 attached hereto, and the non-exclusive use of those areas located on the Project that are designated by Landlord from time to
time as common areas for the Building; provided, however, that (i) Tenant’s use thereof shall be subject to (A) the provisions of the
CC&Rs, and (B) such reasonable, non-discriminatory rules and regulations as Landlord may make from time to time (which shall be
provided in writing to Tenant not later than thirty (30) days prior to the effectiveness thereof), and (ii) Tenant may not go on the roof of
Building without Landlord’s prior consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, and without otherwise being accompanied
by a representative of Landlord. Landlord reserves the right from time to time to use any of the common areas of the Project, and the
roof, risers and conduits of the Building for telecommunications and/or any other purposes, and to do any of the following provided that
such modifications do not result in any adverse effect on, or with respect to, Tenant’s use, occupancy, or access to the Premises, the
Building and/or the Parking Facility for the Permitted Use in any material respect or materially modify Tenant’s rights or obligations
under the Lease (as applicable, a “Tenant Impact”): (1) make any changes, additions, improvements, repairs and/or replacements in or
to the Project or any portion or elements thereof that are not for the exclusive use of Tenant, including, without limitation, (x) changes in
the location, size, shape and number of driveways, entrances, loading and unloading areas, ingress, egress, direction of traffic, landscaped
areas, walkways, public and private streets, plazas, courtyards, transportation facilitation areas and common areas, and (y) expanding or
decreasing the size of the Project and any common areas and other elements thereof, including adding, deleting and/or excluding
buildings thereon and
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therefrom; (2) close temporarily any of the common areas while engaged in making repairs, improvements or alterations to the Project;
and (3) perform such other acts and make such other changes with respect to the Project as Landlord may, in the exercise of good faith
business judgment, deem to be appropriate.

2 Condition of Premises. Except as expressly set forth in this Lease and in the Tenant Work Letter, Landlord shall not be
obligated to provide or pay for any improvement, remodeling or refurbishment work or services related to the improvement, remodeling
or refurbishment of the Premises, and Tenant shall accept the Premises in its “As Is” condition on the Lease Commencement Date.

Pursuant to Section 1938 of the California Civil Code, Landlord hereby advises Tenant that as of the date of this Lease neither
the Premises, the Building nor the Project have undergone inspection by a Certified Access Specialist. Further, pursuant to Section 1938
of the California Civil Code, Landlord notifies Tenant of the following: “A Certified Access Specialist (CASp) can inspect the subject
premises and determine whether the subject premises comply with all of the applicable construction-related accessibility standards under
state law. Although state law does not require a CASp inspection of the subject premises, the commercial property owner or lessor may
not prohibit the lessee or tenant from obtaining a CASp inspection of the subject premises for the occupancy or potential occupancy of
the lessee or tenant, if requested by the lessee or tenant. The parties shall mutually agree on the arrangements for the time and manner of
the CASp inspection, the payment of the fee for the CASp inspection, and the cost of making any repairs necessary to correct violations
of construction-related accessibility standards within the premises.” Therefore and notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in
this Lease, Landlord and Tenant agree that (a) Tenant may, at its option and at its sole cost, cause a CASp to inspect the Premises and
determine whether the Premises complies with all of the applicable construction-related accessibility standards under California law, (b)
the parties shall mutually coordinate and reasonably approve of the timing of any such CASp inspection so that Landlord may, at its
option, have a representative present during such inspection, and (c) if Tenant requires the CASp inspection under this Paragraph, Tenant
shall be solely responsible for the cost of any repairs necessary to correct violations of construction-related accessibility standards within
the Premises, revealed solely as a result of such inspection, any and all such alterations and repairs to be performed in accordance with
Article 8 of this Lease; provided Tenant shall have no obligation to remove any repairs or alterations made pursuant to a CASp inspection
under this Paragraph.

Tenant also acknowledges that, except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Lease, neither Landlord nor any agent of Landlord
has made any representation or warranty with respect to the Premises, the Building, or the Project or their condition, or with respect to
the suitability thereof for the conduct of Tenant’s business (including, but not limited to, any zoning/conditional use permit requirements
which shall be Tenant’s responsibility and Tenant’s failure to obtain any such zoning/use permits (if any are required) shall not affect
Tenant’s obligations under this Lease), provided that Landlord has no actual knowledge that the Permitted Use, as it pertains to general
office, research and engineering and laboratory uses, is not permitted under current zoning codes applicable to the Premises.

3 Rentable Square Feet. The rentable square feet of the Premises and the Building is stipulated by Landlord and Tenant
to be as set forth in the Summary and such rentable square footage is not subject to remeasurement by Landlord or Tenant.

1. LEASE TERM AND PREMISES DELIVERY DATES

1 Lease Term. The terms and provisions of this Lease shall be effective as of the date of this Lease except for the
provisions of this Lease relating to the payment of Rent. The term of this Lease (the “Lease Term”) with respect to the Phase 1 Premises
and the Phase 2 Premise shall be as set forth in Section 7.1 of the Summary and shall commence on the applicable commencement dates
set forth in Section 7.2 of the Summary (subject however, to the terms of the Tenant Work Letter), and shall terminate on the date (the
“Lease Expiration Date”) set forth in Section 7.3 of the Summary, unless this Lease is sooner terminated as hereinafter provided.
Tenant’s early entry rights are set forth in Section 5.1 of Exhibit B. For purposes of this Lease, the term “Lease Year” shall mean each
consecutive twelve (12) month period during the Lease Term, provided that the last Lease Year shall end on the Lease Expiration Date.

If the applicable Lease Commencement Date is a date which is other than the date set forth in Section 7.2 of the Summary, then,
following the occurrence of the applicable Lease Commencement Date, Landlord shall deliver to Tenant an amendment in the form as set
forth in Exhibit C, attached hereto, setting forth, among other
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things, the actual applicable Lease Commencement Date, the Lease Expiration Date, and if desired by Landlord, a Base Rent schedule
for the Phase 2 Premises or, at Landlord’s election, a combined Base Rent schedule showing the Base Rent payable by Tenant for the
entire Premises. Tenant shall execute and return such amendment to Landlord within five (5) business days after Tenant’s receipt thereof
if factually correct. If Tenant fails to execute and return the factually correct amendment within such 5-business day period, Tenant shall
be deemed to have approved and confirmed the dates set forth therein.

2 Premises Delivery Dates. Subject to Force Majeure events, Landlord shall deliver possession of the Phase 1 Premises
to Tenant on June 1, 2021 (the “Phase 1 Premises Delivery Date”). Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree that the Phase 2
Premises is subject to an existing lease (the “Existing Lease”) dated as of April 17, 2015 by and between Landlord’s predecessor-in-
interest in the Project, DWF IV 465 Halstead, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (as landlord) and GMTO Corporation, a
Delaware corporation (as tenant) (“Existing Tenant”). The Existing Lease is scheduled, by its terms as of the date hereof, to terminate
on November 30, 2022, subject, however, to Existing Tenant’s three (3)-year extension option set forth therein. Landlord shall, subject to
Force Majeure events, deliver possession of the Phase 2 Premises to Tenant thirty (30) days after the expiration or sooner termination of
the Existing Lease (the “Phase 2 Premises Delivery Date”). Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver the Phase 2
Premises to Tenant as soon as reasonably possible. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the Phase 1 Premises Delivery Date is
other than the date set forth above, then Landlord and Tenant shall agree upon an equitable adjustment to the Lease Commencement Date
(and the same shall be confirmed in an amendment).

1. BASE RENT

Tenant shall pay, without notice or demand, to Landlord at the address set forth in Section 3 of the Summary, or at such other
place as Landlord may from time to time designate in writing, in currency or a check for currency which, at the time of payment, is legal
tender for private or public debts in the United States of America, base rent (“Base Rent”) as set forth in Section 8 of the Summary,
payable in equal monthly installments as set forth in Section 8 of the Summary in advance on or before the first day of each and every
month during the Lease Term, without any setoff or deduction whatsoever. Concurrently with the full execution of this Lease, Tenant
shall deliver to Landlord the Base Rent payable by Tenant for the Premises for the fifth (5th) full month of the Lease Term (i.e.,
$386,335.95). If any rental payment date (including the Lease Commencement Date) falls on a day of the month other than the first day
of such month or if any rental payment is for a period which is shorter than one month, then the rental for any such fractional month shall
be a proportionate amount of a full calendar month’s rental based on the proportion that the number of days in such fractional month
bears to the number of days in the calendar month during which such fractional month occurs. All other payments or adjustments
required to be made under the terms of this Lease that require proration on a time basis shall be prorated on the same basis.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein and so long as Tenant is not then in “Economic Default” under this
Lease (beyond the expiration of all applicable notice and cure periods), Landlord hereby agrees to abate Tenant’s obligation to pay one
hundred percent (100%) of Tenant’s monthly Base Rent for the first (15t) four (4) full calendar months of the Lease Term for the Phase 1
Premises only (collectively, the “Abated Rent”), which Abated Rent is equal to Three Hundred Eighty-Six Thousand Three Hundred
Thirty-Five and 95/100 Dollars ($386,335.95) per month during such four (4) month Base Rent abatement period, with an aggregate
Abated Rent equal to One Million Five Hundred Forty-Five Thousand Three Hundred Forty-Three and 80/100 Dollars ($1,545,343.80)
for such four (4) month Base Rent abatement period. During such abatement period, Tenant shall still be responsible for the payment of
all of its other monetary obligations under this Lease. In the event of a default by Tenant under the terms of this Lease that results in
early termination pursuant to the provisions of Article 19 of this Lease, Landlord shall not be entitled to the recovery of any of the
Abated Rent as a separate component of damages, it being acknowledged that the Abated Rent is already included in Base Rent for the
Term for purposes of the exercise of Landlord’s remedies for a default by Tenant under this Lease. The term “Economic Default”, as
used in this Lease shall mean a monetary default by Tenant under this Lease in an amount in excess of one (1) month of the Abated Rent.
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1. ADDITIONAL RENT

1 Additional Rent. In addition to paying the Base Rent specified in Article 3 above, Tenant shall pay as additional rent
the sum of the following: (i) Tenant’s Share (as such term is defined below) of the annual Operating Expenses allocated to the Building
(pursuant to Section 4.3.4 below); plus (ii) Tenant’s Share of the annual Tax Expenses allocated to the Building (pursuant to Section 4.3.4
below); plus (iii) Tenant’s Share of the annual Utilities Costs allocated to the Building (pursuant to Section 4.3.4 below). Such additional
rent, together with any and all other amounts payable by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to the terms of this Lease (including, without
limitation, pursuant to Article 6), shall be hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Additional Rent.” The Base Rent and Additional
Rent are herein collectively referred to as the “Rent.” All amounts due under this Article 4 as Additional Rent shall be payable for the
same periods and in the same manner, time and place as the Base Rent. Without limitation on other obligations of Tenant which shall
survive the expiration of the Lease Term, the obligations of Tenant to pay the Additional Rent provided for in this Article 4 shall survive
the expiration of the Lease Term.

2 Definitions. As used in this Article 4, the following terms shall have the meanings hereinafter set forth:

2.1 “Calendar Year” shall mean each calendar year in which any portion of the Lease Term falls, through and
including the calendar year in which the Lease Term expires.

2.2 “Expense Year” shall mean each Calendar Year.

2.3 “Operating Expenses” shall mean all expenses, costs and amounts of every kind and nature which Landlord
shall pay during any Expense Year because of or in connection with the ownership, management, maintenance, repair, restoration or
operation of the Project, including, without limitation, any amounts paid for: (i) the cost of operating, maintaining, repairing, renovating
and managing the utility systems, lab systems, central plant, mechanical systems, sanitary and storm drainage systems, any elevator
systems (if applicable) and all other “Systems and Equipment” (as defined in Section 4.2.4 of this Lease), and the cost of supplies and
equipment and maintenance and service contracts in connection therewith; (ii) the cost of licenses, certificates, permits and inspections,
and the cost of contesting the validity or applicability of any governmental enactments which may affect Operating Expenses, and the
costs incurred in connection with implementation and operation (by Landlord or any common area association(s) formed for the Project)
of any transportation system management program or similar program if and to the extent required by Applicable Law; provided if any
costs of contesting the validity or applicability of any governmental enactments are included in Operating Expenses, and the amount of
financial impact of such enactments is subsequently refunded or reduced (whether during the Term or after), Landlord shall pay to Tenant
Tenant’s Share of any such reduction or refund; (iii) the cost of insurance carried by Landlord, in such amounts as Landlord may
reasonably determine or as may be required by any mortgagees of any mortgage or the lessor of any ground lease affecting the Project;
(iv) the cost of landscaping, relamping, supplies, tools, equipment and materials, and all fees, charges and other costs (including
consulting fees, legal fees and accounting fees) incurred in connection with the management, operation, repair and maintenance of the
Project; (v) any equipment rental agreements or management agreements (including the cost of any property management and accounting
fee and the fair rental value of any office space provided thereunder for a property management office; provided that the property
management and accounting fee payable by Tenant shall not exceed two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the Base Rent); (vi) the cost of
operating amenities (if any) in and/or serving the Premises, wages, salaries and other compensation and benefits of all on-site and off-site
employees at or below the level of general manager or senior property manager engaged in the operation, management, maintenance or
security of the Project, and employer’s Social Security taxes, unemployment taxes or insurance, and any other taxes which may be levied
on such wages, salaries, compensation and benefits but only to the extent such wages, salaries and other compensation and benefits are
fairly attributable to the Project (as opposed to any other properties owned by Landlord or its affiliates); (vii) payments under any
easement, license, operating agreement, declaration, restrictive covenant, underlying or ground lease (excluding rent), or instrument
pertaining to the sharing of costs by the Project (including but not limited to, the CC&Rs described in Article 5 hereof); (viii) the cost of
janitorial service, trash removal (provided, however, Operating Expenses shall not include the cost of janitorial services and trash
removal services provided to the Premises or the premises of other tenants of the Building and/or the Project or the cost of replacing light
bulbs, lamps, starters and ballasts for lighting
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fixtures in the Premises and the premises of other tenants in the Building and/or the Project to the extent such services are directly
provided and paid for by Tenant pursuant to Section 6.6 below), alarm and security service, if any, window cleaning, replacement of wall
and floor coverings, ceiling tiles and fixtures in lobbies, corridors, restrooms and other common or public areas or facilities, maintenance
and replacement of curbs and walkways, repair to roofs and re-roofing; (ix) amortization (including interest on the unamortized cost) of
the cost of acquiring or the rental expense of personal property used in the maintenance, operation and repair of the Project; and (x) the
Reimbursable Capital Improvements (as defined under Excluded Costs (defined below)). If any of (x) the Building and (y) any
additional buildings are added to the Project pursuant to Section 1.1.3 above (but only during the period of time after such additional
buildings have been fully constructed and ready for occupancy and are included by Landlord within the Project) are less than ninety-five
percent (95%) occupied during all or a portion of any Expense Year, Landlord shall make an appropriate adjustment to the variable
components of Operating Expenses for such year or applicable portion thereof, employing sound accounting and management principles,
to determine the amount of Operating Expenses that would have been paid had the Building and such additional buildings (if any) been
ninety-five percent (95%) occupied; and the amount so determined shall be deemed to have been the amount of Operating Expenses for
such year, or applicable portion thereof.

Subject to the provisions of Section 4.3.4 below, Landlord shall have the right, from time to time, to equitably and in
good faith allocate some or all of the Operating Expenses (and/or Tax Expenses and Utilities Costs) between the Building and/or among
different tenants of the Project or different types of tenants in the Project (such as office tenants, lab tenants and any retail tenants of the
Project) (the “Cost Pools”) based on such tenants’ usage. The creation of any such Cost Pools shall reflect fair, equitable and good faith
allocations of the Operating Expenses, Tax Expenses and Utilities Costs.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Operating Expenses shall not, however, include: (A) costs of leasing commissions,
attorneys’ fees and other costs and expenses incurred in connection with negotiations or disputes with present or prospective tenants or
other occupants of the Project; (B) costs (including permit, license and inspection costs) incurred in renovating or otherwise improving,
decorating or redecorating rentable space for other tenants or vacant rentable space; (C) costs incurred due to the violation by Landlord
of the terms and conditions of any lease of space in the Project; (D) costs of overhead or profit increment paid to Landlord or to
subsidiaries or affiliates of Landlord for services in or in connection with the Project to the extent the same exceeds the costs of overhead
and profit increment included in the costs of such services which could be obtained from third parties on a competitive basis; (E) except
as otherwise specifically provided in this Section 4.2.3, costs of interest on debt or amortization on any mortgages, and rent payable
under any ground lease of the Project; (F) Utilities Costs; and (G) Tax Expenses and (H) any of the following (“Excluded Costs”):

(a) costs, including legal fees, space planners’ fees, advertising and promotional expenses, and
brokerage fees incurred in connection with the original construction or development, or original or future leasing of the Premises,
Building or Project, and costs, including permit, license and inspection costs, incurred with respect to the installation of tenant
improvements made for new tenants initially occupying space in the Project after the applicable Lease Commencement Date or incurred
in renovating or otherwise improving, decorating, painting or redecorating vacant space for tenants or other occupants of the Project
(excluding, however, such costs relating to any common areas of the Project or parking facilities) and costs of correcting defects in such
original construction or renovation;

(b) capital expenditures for expansion or reconfiguration of the Building or the Project;

(o) Costs of a capital nature, including, without limitation, capital improvements, capital repairs, capital
equipment and capital tools, all as determined in accordance with sound real estate management and accounting principles, consistently
applied, except (i) to the extent required under any governmental law or regulation enacted and enforced after the Phase 1 Lease
Commencement Date and Phase 2 Lease Commencement Date, as applicable to the Project, (ii) costs incurred to reduce Operating
Expenses, to the extent such costs do not exceed the anticipated net reduction of Operating Expenses, and (iii) costs incurred due to
Landlord’s repair obligations under this Lease for the Project, including repairs and replacements pertaining to the Systems and
Equipment, provided that the costs set forth in items (i), (ii) and (iii), above, shall be amortized over their reasonable useful life as
determined in accordance with standard real estate accepted accounting principles as and to the extent
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consistently applied by institutional ownership in the biotechnology/life science building real estate industry; provided further that, in
connection with the costs set forth in items (ii) above, Landlord shall, upon Tenant’s written request, provide Tenant with reasonable
evidence that the annual cost of the capital improvement is reasonably anticipated by Landlord to be equal to or less than the reasonably
anticipated savings in Operating Expenses caused by such capital improvement (the foregoing exceptions (i), (ii) and (iii), as qualified as
set forth hereinabove, the “Reimbursable Capital Improvements™);

(d) interest, principal or any other payments under any mortgage or similar debts of Landlord, financing
costs and amortization of funds borrowed by Landlord, whether secured or unsecured and all payments of rent (but not taxes or operating
expenses) under any ground lease or other underlying lease of all or any portion of the Building or the Project;

(e) reserves for or depreciation of the Building or the Project;

® advertising, marketing, legal and space planning expenses and leasing commissions and other costs
and expenses incurred in procuring and leasing space to tenants for the Building or the Project, including any leasing office maintained in
the Building or the Project, free rent and construction allowances for tenants;

(8 legal and other expenses incurred in the negotiation or enforcement of leases;

(h) completing, fixturing, improving, renovating, painting, redecorating or other work, which Landlord
pays for or performs for other tenants within their premises, and costs of correcting defects in such work;

@d) costs to be reimbursed by other tenants of the Building or the Project or Taxes to be paid directly by
Tenant or other tenants of the Building or the Project, whether or not actually paid;

)] salaries, wages, benefits and other compensation paid to officers and employees of Landlord who are
not assigned in whole or in part (and, if in part, then on a pro rata basis based on the amount of time devoted to the Building or the
Project) to the operation, management, maintenance or repair of the Building or the Project;

k) general organizational, administrative and overhead costs relating to maintaining Landlord’s
existence, either as a corporation, partnership, or other entity, including general corporate, legal and accounting expenses;

()] costs (including attorneys’ fees and costs of settlement, judgments and payments in lieu thereof)
incurred in connection with disputes with tenants, other occupants, or prospective tenants, and costs and expenses, including legal fees,
incurred in connection with negotiations or disputes with employees, consultants, management agents, leasing agents, purchasers or
mortgagees of the Building;

(m) costs incurred by Landlord due to the violation by Landlord, its employees, agents or contractors or
any tenant of the terms and conditions of any lease of space in the Building or the Project or any legal requirement;

(n) penalties, fines or interest incurred as a result of Landlord’s inability or failure to make payment of
Taxes and/or to file any tax or informational returns when due, or from Landlord’s failure to make any payment of Taxes required to be
made by Landlord hereunder before delinquency;

(o) overhead and profit increment paid to Landlord or to subsidiaries or affiliates of Landlord for goods

and/or services in or to the Building or the Project to the extent the same exceeds the costs of such goods and/or services rendered by
unaffiliated third parties on a competitive basis;
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(p) costs of Landlord’s charitable or political contributions, or of fine art maintained at the Building or
the Project;

(q) costs in connection with services (including electricity), items or other benefits of a type which are
not standard for the Building or the Project and which are not available to Tenant without specific charges therefor, but which are
provided to another tenant or occupant of the Building or the Project, whether or not such other tenant or occupant is specifically charged
therefor by Landlord;

(r) transactional costs incurred in the sale or refinancing of the Building or the Project;

(s) items and services which Landlord offers selectively to one or more tenants of the Building or the
Project (not including Tenant) without reimbursement;

®) costs of repairs directly resulting from the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or its
employees, officers, directors, contractors or agents;

(u) any costs incurred to remove, study, test or remediate Hazardous Materials that exist in or about the
Building or the Project prior to the Lease Commencement Date;

W) the cost of installing or upgrading any utility metering for any part of the Building or the Project;

(w) net income taxes of Landlord or the owner of any interest in the Building or the Project, franchise,
capital stock, gift, estate or inheritance taxes or any federal, state or local documentary taxes imposed against the Building or the Project
or any portion thereof or interest therein;

x) except for Reimbursable Capital Improvements, any other capital expenditures;

) expenditures relating to the presence of Hazardous Materials in or about the Project, or the site upon
which the Building, the Parking Facility and the other common areas are located, including, without limitation, Hazardous Materials in
the ground water or soil;

(z) to the extent that the Project is damaged as a result of earthquakes and related aftershocks
(“Earthquake Damage”) and the cost of repairing the Earthquake Damage is not covered by insurance or falls within the deductible,
then Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses for Earthquake Damage repairs in any Expense Year shall not exceed $200,000 with regard to
the Building (the “Annual Earthquake Deductible Cap”); provided that if Tenant’s Share of such deductible exceeds the Annual
Earthquake Deductible Cap, then the excess amounts of any deductible may be carried forward, subject to the same Annual Earthquake
Deductible Cap limitation, for inclusion in Operating Expenses up to the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease.

(aa) any expenses otherwise includable within Operating Expenses to the extent actually reimbursed by
persons other than tenants of the Building or the Project under leases for space in the Building or the Project;

(bb) any costs and expenses with respect to the following matters to the extent Tenant is required under
this Lease to perform the same, or to the extent affecting Tenant and the Premises, that Tenant has elected to self-manage and maintain:
(i) matters described in Section 4.2.3(i) and (ii) matters described in Section 4.2.3(ii); and

(co) any costs with respect to amenities (if any) that Tenant is prohibited from using under this Lease.

Landlord shall not (i) make a profit by charging items to Operating Expenses that are otherwise reimbursed directly by Tenant, (ii)
subject to Landlord’s right to adjust the components of Operating Expenses described above in this
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paragraph, collect Operating Expenses from Tenant in an amount in excess of what Landlord incurs for the items included in Operating
Expenses, and (iii) charge any single expense to Operating Expenses more than once. Operating Expenses shall be reduced by all cash
discounts, trade discounts, or quantity discounts received by Landlord or Landlord’s managing agent in the purchase of any goods,
utilities, or services in connection with the operation of the Project, and, to the extent commercially reasonable, Landlord shall make
payments for goods, utilities, or services in a timely manner in order to maximize any applicable discount.

24 “Systems and Equipment” shall mean any plant (including any central plant), machinery, transformers, duct
work, cable, wires, and other equipment, facilities, and systems designed to supply heat, ventilation, air conditioning and humidity or any
other services or utilities, or comprising or serving as any component or portion of the electrical, gas, steam, plumbing, sprinkler,
communications, alarm, lab, security, or fire/life safety systems or equipment, or any other mechanical, electrical, electronic, computer or
other systems or equipment which serve the Building or the Project in whole or in part.

2.5 “Tax Expenses” shall mean all federal, state, county, or local governmental or municipal taxes, fees,
assessments, charges or other impositions of every kind and nature, whether general, special, ordinary or extraordinary, (including,
without limitation, real estate taxes, general and special assessments, transit assessments, fees and taxes, child care subsidies, fees and/or
assessments, job training subsidies, fees and/or assessments, open space fees and/or assessments, housing subsidies and/or housing fund
fees or assessments, public art fees and/or assessments, leasehold taxes or taxes based upon the receipt of rent, including gross receipts or
sales taxes applicable to the receipt of rent, personal property taxes imposed upon the fixtures, machinery, equipment, apparatus, systems
and equipment, appurtenances, furniture and other personal property used in connection with the Project), which are actually accrued and
which Landlord shall pay during any Expense Year because of or in connection with the ownership, leasing and operation of the Project
or Landlord’s interest therein.

.2.5.1 Tax Expenses shall include, without limitation:

@) Any tax on Landlord’s rent, right to rent or other income from the Project or as against
Landlord’s business of leasing any of the Project;

(ii) Any assessment, tax, fee, levy or charge in addition to, or in substitution, partially or totally,
of any assessment, tax, fee, levy or charge previously included within the definition of real property tax, it being acknowledged by
Tenant and Landlord that Proposition 13 was adopted by the voters of the State of California in the June 1978 election
(“Proposition 13”) and that assessments, taxes, fees, levies and charges may be imposed by governmental agencies for such services as
fire protection, street, sidewalk and road maintenance, refuse removal and for other governmental services formerly provided without
charge to property owners or occupants. It is the intention of Tenant and Landlord that all such new and increased assessments, taxes,
fees, levies, and charges and all similar assessments, taxes, fees, levies and charges be included within the definition of Tax Expenses for
purposes of this Lease;

(iii) Any assessment, tax, fee, levy, or charge allocable to or measured by the area of the
Premises or the rent payable hereunder, including, without limitation, any gross income tax upon or with respect to the possession,
leasing, operating, management, maintenance, alteration, repair, use or occupancy by Tenant of the Premises, or any portion thereof;

@iv) Any assessment, tax, fee, levy or charge, upon this transaction or any document to which
Tenant is a party, creating or transferring an interest or an estate in the Premises; and

W) Any reasonable expenses reasonably incurred by Landlord in attempting to protest, reduce
or minimize Tax Expenses.

.2.5.2  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 4.2.5, there shall be excluded

from Tax Expenses (i) all excess profits taxes, franchise taxes, gift taxes, capital stock taxes, inheritance and succession taxes, estate
taxes, federal and state net income taxes, and other taxes to the extent
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applicable to Landlord’s net income (as opposed to rents, receipts or income attributable to operations at the Project), (ii) any items
included as Operating Expenses, and (iii) any items paid by Tenant under Section 4.4 below.

.2.5.3  So long as Tenant or Tenant’s Affiliate Assignee is leasing the entire Premises, Tenant may request
from Landlord whether or not Landlord intends to file an appeal of any portion of Tax Expenses which are appealable by Landlord (the
“Appealable Tax Expenses”) for any tax fiscal year. Landlord shall deliver written notice to Tenant within ten (10) days after such
request indicating whether Landlord intends to file an appeal of Appealable Tax Expenses for such tax fiscal year. If Landlord indicates
that Landlord will not file an appeal of such Tax Expenses, then Tenant may provide Landlord with written notice (“Appeals Notice”) at
least thirty (30) days prior to the final date in which an appeal must be filed, requesting that Landlord file an appeal. Upon receipt of the
Appeals Notice, but subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 4.2.5.3 below, Landlord shall promptly file such appeal and
thereafter Landlord shall diligently prosecute such appeal to completion, and Tenant shall have the right to participate in and jointly
control the appeal. Tenant may at any time in its sole discretion direct Landlord to terminate an appeal it previously elected pursuant to
an Appeals Notice. In the event Tenant provides an Appeals Notice to Landlord and the resulting appeal reduces the Tax Expenses for
the tax fiscal year in question as compared to the original bill received for such tax fiscal year and such reduction is greater than the costs
for such appeal, then the costs for such appeal shall be included in Tax Expenses and passed through to the tenants of the Building when
funds are actually received. Alternatively, if the appeal does not result in a reduction of Tax Expenses for such tax fiscal year or if the
reduction of Tax Expenses is less than the costs of the appeal, then Tenant shall reimburse Landlord, within thirty (30) days after written
demand, for any and all costs reasonably incurred by Landlord which are not covered by the reduction in connection with such appeal.
Tenant’s failure to timely deliver an Appeals Notice shall waive Tenant’s rights to request an appeal of the applicable Tax Expenses for
such tax fiscal year. In addition, Tenant’s obligations to reimburse Landlord for the costs of the appeal pursuant to this Section shall
survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease in the event the appeal is not concluded until after the expiration or earlier
termination of this Lease. Upon request, Landlord agrees to keep Tenant apprised of all tax protest filings and proceedings undertaken
by Landlord to obtain a reduction or refund of Tax Expenses.

2.6 “Tenant’s Share” shall mean the percentage set forth in Section 9 of the Summary. Tenant’s Share was
calculated by dividing the number of rentable square feet of the Premises by the total rentable square feet in the Building (as set forth in
Section 9 of the Summary), and stating such amount as a percentage.

2.7 “Utilities Costs” shall mean all actual charges for utilities for the Building and the Project (including utilities
for any additional buildings, if any, added to the Project during the period of time the same are included by Landlord within the Project)
which Landlord shall pay during any Expense Year, including, but not limited to, the costs of water, sewer, gas and electricity, and the
costs of HVAC and other utilities, including any lab utilities and central plant utilities (but excluding those charges for which tenants
directly reimburse Landlord or otherwise pay directly to the utility company) as well as related fees, assessments, measurement meters
and devices and surcharges. Utilities Costs shall be calculated assuming the Building (and, during the period of time when such
buildings are included by Landlord within the Project and any additional buildings, if any, added to the Project) are at least ninety-five
percent (95%) occupied. Utilities Costs shall include any costs of utilities which are allocated to the Project under any declaration,
restrictive covenant, or other instrument pertaining to the sharing of costs by the Project or any portion thereof, including any CC&Rs
affecting the Project. Upon Tenant’s written request, Landlord shall provide Tenant with a list of all utility accounts, existing meters
therefor, and Landlord’s commercially reasonable and equitable determination on what Utilities Costs are shared with the Building
versus dedicated to Tenant’s Premises.

3 Calculation and Payment of Additional Rent.

3.1 Payment of Operating_Expenses, Tax Expenses and Utilities Costs. For each Expense Year ending or
commencing within the Lease Term, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent, the following, which payment shall be made in
the manner set forth in Section 4.3.2 below: (i) Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses allocated to the Building pursuant to Section 4.3.4
below; plus (ii) Tenant’s Share of Tax Expenses allocated to the Building pursuant to Section 4.3.4 below; plus (iii) Tenant’s Share of

Utilities Costs allocated to the Building pursuant to Section 4.3.4 below.

3.2 Statement of Actual Operating Expenses, Tax Expenses and Utilities Costs and Payment by Tenant. Landlord

shall use commercially reasonable efforts to give to Tenant within one hundred twenty (120)
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days following the end of each Expense Year (and in any event within one hundred fifty (150) days following the end of each Expense
Year), a detailed, statement (the “Statement”), itemized on a line-item by line-item basis, which shall state in general major categories the
Operating Expenses incurred or accrued for such preceding Expense Year, that are allocated to the Building pursuant to Section 4.3.4
below, and which shall indicate therein Tenant’s Share thereof. In addition, Landlord shall provide Tenant, within thirty (30) business
days following Tenant’s written request therefor, supporting documentation in Landlord’s possession, control or reasonably available to
Landlord applicable to a reasonable number of specific expenses incurred by Landlord, which documentation shall allow Tenant to verify
such expenses; provided, however, that (i) Landlord may require Tenant to sign a commercially reasonable confidentiality agreement as a
condition precedent to Landlord’s obligation to deliver any such supporting documentation to Tenant, (ii) the foregoing right is not meant
to replace Tenant’s right to audit Landlord books and records pursuant to Section 4.6 of this Lease. Within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s
receipt of the Statement for each Expense Year ending during the Lease Term, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the full amount of the
Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses, Tax Expenses and Utilities Costs for such Expense Year, less the amounts, if any, paid during
such Expense Year as the Estimated Expenses as defined in and pursuant to Section 4.3.3 below. If any Statement reflects that Tenant
has overpaid Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses and/or Tenant’s Share of Tax Expenses and/or Tenant’s Share of Utilities Costs for
such Expense Year, then Landlord shall, at Tenant’s option, either (i) credit such overpayment toward the additional Rent next due and
payable to Tenant under this Lease, or (ii) remit such overpayment to Tenant within thirty (30) days after such applicable Statement is
delivered to Tenant. Landlord’s failure to timely furnishing statement shall not prejudice Landlord from enforcing its rights under this
Article 4; provided, however, that Tenant shall not be responsible for Tenant’s Share of any Operating Expenses, Tax Expenses or
Utilities Costs attributable to any Expense Year which was first billed to Tenant more than eighteen (18) months after the date (the
“Cutoff Date”) which is the earlier of (i) the expiration of the applicable Expense Year or (ii) the Lease Expiration Date; and provided
further, that Tenant shall be responsible for Tenant’s Share of Operating Expense, Tax Expenses and Utilities Costs levied by any
governmental authority or by any public utility company at any time following the applicable Cutoff Date which are attributable to any
Expense Year occurring prior to such Cutoff Date, so long as Landlord delivers to Tenant a bill and supplemental Statement for such
amounts within nine (9) months following receipt. Even though the Lease Term has expired and Tenant has vacated the Premises, if the
Statement for the Expense Year in which this Lease terminates reflects that Tenant has overpaid and/or underpaid Tenant’s Share of the
Operating Expenses and/or Tenant’s Share of Tax Expenses and/or Tenant’s Share of Utilities Costs for such Expense Year, then within
thirty (30) days after Landlord’s delivery of such Statement to Tenant, Landlord shall refund to Tenant any such overpayment, or Tenant
shall pay to Landlord any such underpayment, as the case may be. The provisions of this Section 4.3.2 shall survive the expiration or
earlier termination of the Lease Term.

3.3 Statement of Estimated Operating Expenses, Tax Expenses and Utilities Costs. Landlord shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to give Tenant within one hundred twenty (120) days following the end of each Expense Year (and in
any event within one hundred fifty (150) days following the end of each Expense Year), a detailed yearly expense estimate statement (the
“Estimate Statement”), itemized on a line-item by line-item basis, of the total amount of Tenant’s Share of the Operating Expenses, Tax
Expenses and Utilities Costs allocated to the Building pursuant to Section 4.3.4 below for the then-current Expense Year shall be, and
which shall indicate therein Tenant’s Share thereof (the “Estimated Expenses”). The failure of Landlord to timely furnish the Estimate
Statement for any Expense Year shall not preclude Landlord from enforcing its rights to collect any Estimated Expenses under this
Article 4 (provided that in the event that such failure continues for a period of six (6) months following receipt of notice from Tenant,
Tenant may elect to seek specific performance). Following Landlord’s delivery of the Estimate Statement for the then-current Expense
Year, Tenant shall pay with its next installment of Base Rent due following thirty (30) days after receipt of the Estimate Statement, a
fraction of the Estimated Expenses for the then-current Expense Year (reduced by any amounts paid pursuant to the last sentence of this
Section 4.3.3). Such fraction shall have as its numerator the number of months which have elapsed in such current Expense Year to the
month of such payment, both months inclusive, and shall have twelve (12) as its denominator. Until a new Estimate Statement is
furnished, Tenant shall pay monthly, with the monthly Base Rent installments, an amount equal to one-twelfth (1/12) of the total
Estimated Expenses set forth in the previous Estimate Statement delivered by Landlord to Tenant. Throughout the Lease Term, Landlord
shall maintain books and records with respect to Operating Expenses in accordance with generally accepted real estate accounting and
management practices, consistently applied. With regard to prior Expenses Years, Landlord shall keep such books and records for at
least two (2) years following the date upon which Landlord delivers the applicable Statement for such Expense Year.
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4 Taxes and Other Charges for Which Tenant Is Directly Responsible. Tenant shall reimburse Landlord within thirty (30)
days of receipt of notice with appropriate backup for all taxes or assessments required to be paid by Landlord (except to the extent
included in Tax Expenses by Landlord), excluding state, local and federal personal or corporate income taxes measured by the net
income of Landlord from all sources and estate and inheritance taxes, whether or not now customary or within the contemplation of the
parties hereto, when:

4.1 said taxes are measured by or reasonably attributable to the cost or value of Tenant’s equipment, furniture,
fixtures and other personal property located in the Premises, or by the cost or value of any leasehold improvements made in or to the
Premises by or for Tenant, to the extent the cost or value of such leasehold improvements exceeds the cost or value of a building standard
build-out as determined by Landlord regardless of whether title to such improvements shall be vested in Tenant or Landlord;

4.2 said taxes are assessed upon or with respect to the possession, leasing, operation, management, maintenance,
alteration, repair, use or occupancy by Tenant of the Premises or any portion of the Project; or

4.3 said taxes are assessed upon this transaction or any document to which Tenant is a party creating or
transferring an interest or an estate in the Premises.

5 Late Charges. If any installment of Rent or any other sum due from Tenant shall not be received by Landlord or
Landlord’s designee by five (5) days after the due date therefor, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord a late charge equal to three percent
(3%) of the amount due; provided, however, that Landlord will waive the imposition of the late charge for the first late payment of rent in
any one (1) calendar year. The late charge shall be deemed Additional Rent and the right to require it shall be in addition to all of
Landlord’s other rights and remedies hereunder, at law and/or in equity and shall not be construed as liquidated damages or as limiting
Landlord’s remedies in any manner. In addition to the late charge described above, any Rent or other amounts owing hereunder which
are not paid on or before five (5) days after the date that they are due shall thereafter bear interest until paid at a rate (the “Interest
Rate”) equal to the lesser of (i) the “Prime Rate” or “Reference Rate” announced from time to time by the Bank of America (or such
reasonable comparable national banking institution as selected by Landlord in the event Bank of America ceases to exist or publish a
Prime Rate or Reference Rate), plus four percent (2%), or (ii) the highest rate permitted by applicable law.

.6 Audit Rights. Within eighteen (18) months after receipt of a Statement by Tenant (the “Review Period”), if Tenant
disputes the amount of Additional Rent set forth in such Statement, provided that Tenant is not then in Economic Default under this
Lease beyond the applicable cure period provided in this Lease, an independent certified public accountant or operating expense audit
firm, selected and paid for by Tenant, subject to Landlord prior approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld to the extent
such accountant or audit firm (i) is a reputable independent nationally or regionally recognized certified public accounting firm, or a
reputable independent nationally or regionally recognized operating expenses audit firm, which has previous experience in reviewing
financial operating records of landlords of office buildings in California (which firm may be retained on a contingency fee basis), and (ii)
executes (together with Tenant) a commercially reasonable confidentiality agreement prepared by Landlord, may, after reasonable notice
to Landlord and at reasonable times, inspect Landlord’s records with respect to the Statement at Landlord’s offices, provided that Tenant
is not then in Economic Default under this Lease (beyond any applicable notice and cure periods) and Tenant has paid all amounts
required to be paid under the applicable Estimate Statement and Statement, as the case may be. In connection with such inspection,
Tenant and Tenant’s agents must agree in advance to follow Landlord’s reasonable rules and procedures regarding inspections of
Landlord’s records. Tenant’s failure to dispute the amount of Additional Rent set forth in any Statement within the Review Period shall
be deemed to be Tenant’s approval of such Statement and Tenant, thereafter, waives the right or ability to dispute the amounts set forth in
such Statement; provided, however, to the extent Landlord delivers to Tenant a supplemental Statement, then the Review Period with
respect to the corrected items set forth in such supplemental Statement shall be deemed to be the eighteen (18) months following the date
Landlord delivered such supplemental Statement to Tenant. If after such inspection, Tenant still disputes such Additional Rent, Landlord
and Tenant shall meet and attempt to resolve the dispute. If Landlord and Tenant are unable to resolve the dispute within sixty (60) days
following the completion of Tenant’s audit, then a determination as to the proper amount shall be made, at Tenant’s expense, by an
independent certified public accountant (the “Accountant”) mutually and reasonably selected by Landlord and Tenant; provided that if
such determination by the Accountant proves that Operating Expenses were
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overstated by more than three percent (3%), or if Landlord otherwise agrees or admits that Operating Expenses were overstated by more
than three percent (3%), then the reasonable cost of Tenant’s initial audit of Operating Expenses and the cost of the Accountant shall be
paid for by Landlord; provided, however, to the extent such initial audit of Operating Expenses was performed by a firm retained on a
contingency fee basis, then Landlord shall only be obligated to pay the out-of-pocket fees and costs reasonably equivalent to those in
non-contingency fee audits. Upon the resolution of the parties’ dispute with regard to the Additional Rent shown on the Statement, the
parties shall make appropriate payments or reimbursements, as the case may be, to each other as are determined to be owing. Any such
payments shall be made within thirty (30) days following the resolution of such dispute, and, to the extent any such payment is not paid
within the foregoing thirty (30) day time period, then the amount so owed shall be subject to interest, at the Interest Rate, until paid.
Tenant hereby acknowledges that Tenant’s sole right to inspect Landlord’s books and records and to contest the amount of Operating
Expenses payable by Tenant shall be as set forth in this Section 4.6, and Tenant hereby waives any and all other rights pursuant to
applicable law to inspect such books and records and/or to contest the amount of Operating Expenses payable by Tenant.

1. USE OF PREMISES; HAZARDOUS MATERIALS; ODORS AND EXHAUST

1 Use. Tenant shall use the Premises solely for the Permitted Use set forth in Section 10 of the Summary and Tenant
shall not use or permit the Premises or the Project to be used for any other purpose or purposes whatsoever without the prior written
consent of Landlord, which may be withheld in Landlord’s sole discretion. Tenant shall comply with the Rules and Regulations and all
recorded covenants, conditions, and restrictions now or hereafter affecting the Project (provided that such compliance shall not require
Tenant to assume any development responsibilities of Landlord) (collectively, the “CC&Rs”), as the same may be amended, amended
and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time; provided that any such CC&Rs and any amendments, restatements,
supplements or modifications to such CC&Rs do not result in a Tenant Impact. As of the date hereof, there are no CC&Rs encumbering
the Project. Notwithstanding anything set forth in this Article 5 to the contrary, to the extent any CC&Rs relate to Project specific
programs and are within Landlord’s control (i.e., Landlord has the ability, either directly or indirectly, to cause the disapproval of such
covenant, condition, and restriction, or amendment thereto), then such specific programs shall be subject to Tenant’s reasonable review
and prior approval.

2 Hazardous Materials.
2.1 Definitions: As used in this Lease, the following terms have the following meanings:
(a) “Environmental Law” means any past, present or future federal, state or local statutory or common

law, or any regulation, ordinance, code, plan, order, permit, grant, franchise, concession, restriction or agreement issued, entered,
promulgated or approved thereunder, relating to (a) the environment, human health or safety, including, without limitation, emissions,
discharges, releases or threatened releases of Hazardous Materials (as defined below) into the environment (including, without limitation,
air, surface water, groundwater or land), or (b) the manufacture, generation, refining, processing, distribution, use, sale, treatment,
receipt, storage, disposal, transport, arranging for transport, or handling of Hazardous Materials.

(b) “Environmental Permits” mean collectively, any and all permits, consents, licenses, approvals and
registrations of any nature at any time required pursuant to, or in order to comply with, any Environmental Law or otherwise desired by
Landlord including, but not limited to, any Spill Control Countermeasure Plan and any Hazardous Materials Management Plan.

(o) “Hazardous Materials” shall mean and include any hazardous or toxic materials, substances or
wastes as now or hereafter designated or regulated under any Environmental Law, including, without limitation, asbestos, petroleum,
petroleum hydrocarbons and petroleum based products, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, polychlorinated biphenyls (“PCBs”), freon
and other chlorofluorocarbons, “biohazardous waste,” “
California Health and Safety Code §§ 117600 et, seq.

BT

medical waste,” “infectious agent”, “mixed waste” or other waste under
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(d) “Release” shall mean with respect to any Hazardous Materials, any release, deposit, discharge,
emission, leaking, pumping, leaching, spilling, seeping, migrating, injecting, pumping, pouring, emptying, escaping, dumping, disposing
or other movement of Hazardous Materials.

2.2 Tenant’s Obligations — Environmental Permits. Tenant will (i) obtain and maintain in full force and effect all
Environmental Permits that may be required from time to time under any Environmental Laws applicable to Tenant’s operations or
Tenant’s use of the Premises and (ii) be and remain in compliance with all terms and conditions of all such Environmental Permits and
with all other limitations, restrictions, conditions, standards, prohibitions, requirements, obligations, schedules and timetables contained
in all Environmental Laws applicable to Tenant’s operations or Tenant’s use of the Premises.

2.3 Tenant’s Obligations — Hazardous Materials. Except as expressly permitted herein, Tenant agrees not to cause
or permit any Hazardous Materials to be brought upon, stored, used, handled, generated, released or disposed of on, in, under or about
the Premises, or any other portion of the Property by Tenant, its agents, employees, subtenants, assignees, licensees, contractors or
invitees (collectively, “Tenant’s Parties”), in violation of any Environmental Law without the prior written consent of Landlord, which
consent Landlord may withhold in its sole and absolute discretion. Landlord acknowledges that it is not the intent of this Section 5.2 to
prohibit or materially impair Tenant from operating its business for the uses permitted hereunder. Tenant may operate its business
according to the custom of Tenant’s industry so long as the use or presence of Hazardous Materials is strictly and properly monitored in
accordance with applicable Environmental Laws. As a material inducement to Landlord to allow Tenant to use Hazardous Materials in
connection with its business, Tenant agrees to deliver to Landlord prior to the Lease Commencement Date a list identifying each type of
Hazardous Material to be present at the Premises and setting forth any and all governmental approvals or permits required in connection
with the presence of such Hazardous Material at the Premises (the “Hazardous Materials List”). Tenant shall deliver to Landlord an
updated Hazardous Materials List at such times as are required by local fire department regulations. Tenant shall deliver to Landlord
(prior to the Phase 1 Lease Commencement Date or, if unavailable at the time, concurrently with the receipt from or submission to any
Governmental Authority) true and correct copies of the following documents to the extent the same exist (hereinafter referred to as the
“Documents”) relating to the handling, storage, disposal and emission of Hazardous Materials by Tenant at the Premises: permits;
approvals; reports and correspondence; notices of violations of applicable Environmental Laws; storage and management plans; to the
extent not part of the Tenant Improvements governed by the Work Letter, plans relating to the location, specifications and installation of
any above ground storage tanks to be installed in, on, or about the Premises (provided that any such storage tanks shall be above ground
and the installation of storage tanks shall only be permitted after Landlord has given Tenant its written consent to do so, which consent
Landlord shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed to the extent consistent with the Permitted Use); and all closure
plans or any other documents required by any and all governmental authorities for any storage tanks installed in, on, or about the
Premises for the closure of any such storage tanks. For each type of Hazardous Material listed, the Documents shall include (t) the
chemical name, (u) the material state (e.g., solid, liquid, gas or cryogen), (v) the concentration, (w) the storage amount and storage
condition (e.g., in cabinets or not in cabinets), (x) the use amount and use condition (e.g., open use or closed use), (y) the location (e.g.,
room number or other identification) and (z) if known, the chemical abstract service number. Tenant shall not be required, however, to
provide Landlord with any portion of the Documents containing information of a proprietary nature, which Documents, in and of
themselves, do not contain a reference to any Hazardous Materials or activities related to Hazardous Materials. Upon the expiration or
earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant agrees to promptly remove from the Premises, the Building and the Project, at its sole cost and
expense, any and all Hazardous Materials brought onto the Premises by Tenant, including any equipment or systems containing
Hazardous Materials which are installed, brought upon, stored, used, generated or released upon, in, under or about the Premises, the
Building and/or the Project or any portion thereof by Tenant or any of Tenant’s Parties during the Term of this Lease.

24 Landlord’s Right to Conduct Environmental Assessment. At any time during the Lease Term, Landlord shall
have the right, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense, to conduct an environmental assessment of the Premises (as well as any other areas
in, on or about the Project that Landlord reasonably believes may have been affected adversely by Tenant’s use of the Premises
(collectively, the “Affected Areas”) in order to confirm that the Premises and the Affected Areas do not contain any Hazardous Materials
in violation of applicable Environmental Laws or under conditions constituting or likely to constitute a Release of Hazardous Materials.

Such environmental assessment shall be a so-called “Phase I” assessment or such other level of investigation which shall be the standard
of diligence in the purchase or lease of similar property at the time, together with, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense,
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any additional investigation and report which would customarily follow any discovery contained in such initial Phase I assessment
(including, but not limited to, any so-called “Phase II” report). Such right to conduct such environmental assessment shall not be
exercised more than once per calendar year unless Tenant is in default under this Section 5.2. Landlord shall use its commercially
reasonable efforts to minimize any disruption to Tenant’s business or use of the Premises from any such assessment. Notwithstanding
anything above to the contrary, in the event that any such environmental assessment performed by Landlord reveals that Tenant is in
breach of this Lease pertaining to Hazardous Materials, then the cost of any such environmental assessment shall be at Tenant’s sole cost
and expense.

2.5 Tenant’s Obligations to Perform Corrective Action. If the data from any environmental assessment authorized
and undertaken by Landlord pursuant to Section 5.2.4 supports a conclusion that Tenant has released Hazardous Materials on, under or
emanating from the Premises and the Affected Areas that may require any investigation and/or active response action, including without
limitation active or passive remediation and monitoring or any combination of these activities (“Corrective Action”), Tenant shall
undertake Corrective Action with respect to contamination caused by Tenant if, and to the extent, required by the governmental authority
exercising jurisdiction over the matter. Any Corrective Action performed by Tenant will be performed with Landlord’s prior written
approval, not to be unreasonably withheld, and in accordance with applicable Environmental Laws, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense and
by an environmental consulting firm (reasonably acceptable to Landlord). Tenant may perform the Corrective Action before or after the
expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, to the extent permitted by governmental agencies with jurisdiction over the Premises, the
Building and the Project (provided, however, that any Corrective Action performed after the expiration or earlier termination of this
Lease shall be subject to the access fee provisions set forth below). Tenant or its consultant may install, inspect, maintain, replace and
operate remediation equipment and conduct the Corrective Action as it considers necessary, subject to Landlord’s approval. Tenant and
Landlord shall, in good faith, cooperate with each other with respect to any Corrective Action after the expiration or earlier termination
of this Lease so as not to interfere unreasonably with the conduct of Landlord’s or any third party’s business on the Premises, the
Building and the Project. It shall be reasonable for Landlord to require Tenant to deliver a “no further action” letter or substantially
similar document from the applicable governmental agency and Landlord shall provide reasonable access until such time as such
approval is obtained. Landlord’s “reasonableness” as used in the immediately preceding sentence shall be based on (i) the zoning of the
Premises as of the date in question, and (ii) the logical uses of the Premises as of the date in question. If Landlord desires to situate a
tenant in the Premises, the Building and the Project and remediation of the Premises and the Affected Areas is ongoing, Landlord shall be
deemed to be unable to use the Premises, the Building and the Project in the way Landlord reasonably desires and Tenant shall be
obligated to pay an access fee equal to the Monthly Rent which shall be prorated daily until such time as Landlord is able to situate said
tenant in the Premises, the Building and/or the Project. Tenant agrees to install, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, screening around its
remediation equipment so as to protect the aesthetic appeal of the Premises, the Building and the Project. Tenant also agrees to use
reasonable efforts to locate its remediation and/or monitoring equipment, if any (subject to the requirements of Tenant’s consultant and
governmental agencies with jurisdiction over the Premises, the Building and the Project) in a location which will allow Landlord, to the
extent reasonably practicable, the ability to lease the Premises, the Building and the Project to a subsequent user. Any Hazardous
Materials contamination on, in, under or about the Premises and the Affected Areas existing prior to commencement of this Lease are
solely Landlord’s responsibility and Tenant shall have no obligations whatsoever for any investigation or remediation associated with
Hazardous Materials existing on the Premises prior to the applicable Lease Commencement Date. Landlord will indemnify Tenant for
any and all costs and expenses associated with Hazardous Materials existing on the Premises prior to the applicable Lease
Commencement Date; provided, however, that Landlord’s indemnity obligation shall not extend to loss of business, loss of profits or
other consequential damages which may be suffered by Tenant.

2.6 Tenant’s Duty to Notify Landlord Regarding Releases. Tenant agrees to promptly notify Landlord of any
Release of Hazardous Materials in the Premises, the Building or any other portion of the Project which Tenant becomes aware of during
the Term of this Lease, whether caused by Tenant or any other persons or entities. In the event of any release of Hazardous Materials in
violation of Environmental Laws caused or permitted by Tenant or any of Tenant’s Parties, Landlord shall have the right, but not the
obligation, to cause Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, to immediately take all legally required steps necessary to remediate such
Release and prevent any similar future release. Tenant will, upon the reasonable and good faith request of Landlord at any time during
which Landlord has a reasonable basis to conclude that Tenant is not in compliance with this Section 5.2 (and in any event no earlier than
sixty (60) days and no later than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of this Lease), cause to be performed a Phase I environmental

assessment of the Premises at Tenant’s expense by an established environmental
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consulting firm reasonably acceptable to Landlord. In the event the assessment concludes that Tenant has caused conditions that require
Corrective Action, then Tenant shall immediately perform the same at its sole cost and expense.

2.7 Tenant’s Environmental Indemnity. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Tenant agrees to promptly
indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless Landlord and Landlord’s members, partners, subpartners, independent contractors, officers,
directors, shareholders, employees, agents, successors and assigns (collectively, “Landlord Parties”) from and against any and all
claims, damages, judgments, suits, causes of action, losses, liabilities, penalties, fines, expenses and costs (including, without limitation,
clean-up, removal, remediation and restoration costs, sums paid in settlement of claims, attorneys’ fees, consultant fees and expert fees
and court costs) which arise or result from the presence of Hazardous Materials on, in, under or about the Premises, the Building or any
other portion of the Project caused by Tenant or any of Tenant’s Parties during the Term of this Lease; provided, however, that Tenant’s
indemnity obligations shall not extend to loss of business, loss of profits or other consequential damages which may be suffered by
Landlord. Tenant’s obligations hereunder shall include, without limitation, and whether foreseeable or unforeseeable, all costs of any
required or necessary repair, cleanup or detoxification or decontamination of the Premises, the Building and/or the Project, or the
preparation and implementation of any closure, remedial action or other required plans in connection therewith. The provisions of this
Section 5.2.7 will survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

2.8 Landlord’s Environmental Indemnity. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Landlord agrees to promptly
indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless Tenant and Tenant’s members, partners, subpartners, independent contractors, officers,
directors, shareholders, employees, agents, successors and assigns (collectively, “Tenant Parties”) from and against any and all claims,
damages, judgments, suits, causes of action, losses, liabilities, penalties, fines, expenses and costs (including, without limitation, clean-
up, removal, remediation and restoration costs, sums paid in settlement of claims, attorneys’ fees, consultant fees and expert fees and
court costs) which arise or result from the presence of Hazardous Materials on, in, under or about the Premises, the Building or any other
portion of the Project not caused by Tenant; provided, however, that Landlord’s indemnity obligations shall not extend to loss of
business, loss of profits or other consequential damages which may be suffered by Tenant.

2.9 Landlord’s Remediation. If Hazardous Materials are present at the Premises that are required by
Environmental Law to be remediated and Tenant is not responsible therefor pursuant to Section 5.2, Landlord shall remediate such
Hazardous Materials.

.2.10  Control Areas. Tenant shall be allowed to utilize up to its pro rata share of the Hazardous Materials inventory
within any control area or zone (located within the Premises), as designated by the applicable building code, for chemical use or storage.
As used in the preceding sentence, Tenant’s pro rata share of any control areas or zones located within the Premises shall be determined
based on the rentable square footage that Tenant leases within the applicable control area or zone. For purposes of example only, if a
control area or zone contains 10,000 rentable square feet and 2,000 rentable square feet of a tenant’s premises are located within such
control area or zone (while such premises as a whole contains 5,000 rentable square feet), the applicable tenant’s pro rata share of such
control area would be 20%. Tenant shall have the right to develop separate control areas for its Hazardous Materials inventory within the
Premises for Tenant’s exclusive Permitted Use subject to compliance with applicable law and in a location and of a size reasonably
acceptable to Landlord.

3 Odors and Exhaust. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord would not enter into this Lease with Tenant unless Tenant
assured Landlord that under no circumstances will the Premises be damaged by any exhaust from Tenant’s operations that are not
consistent with the Permitted Use. Landlord and Tenant therefore agree as follows:

3.1 Tenant shall not cause or permit (or conduct any activities that would cause) any significant release of any
offensive odors or fumes of any kind from the Premises.

3.2 If the Building has a ventilation system that, in Landlord’s judgment, is adequate, suitable, and appropriate to
vent the Premises in a manner that does not release odors affecting any indoor or outdoor part of the Premises, Tenant shall vent the
Premises through such system. If Landlord at any time determines that any existing ventilation system is inadequate, or if no ventilation
system exists, Tenant shall in compliance with applicable laws vent all fumes and odors from the Premises (and remove odors from
Tenant’s exhaust stream) as Landlord reasonably requires consistent with practices at comparable buildings in the vicinity of the Project
for the Permitted Use
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(“Comparable Buildings”). The placement and configuration of all ventilation exhaust pipes, louvers and other equipment shall be
subject to Landlord’s approval, not to be unreasonably withheld. Tenant acknowledges Landlord’s legitimate desire to maintain the
Premises (indoor and outdoor areas) in an odor-free manner consistent with the Permitted Use, and Landlord may require Tenant to abate
and remove all unpermitted odors in a manner that goes beyond the requirements of applicable laws.

3.3 Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, provide odor eliminators and other devices (such as filters, air
cleaners, scrubbers and whatever other equipment may in Landlord’s reasonable judgment be necessary or appropriate from time to time)
to completely remove, eliminate and abate any odors, fumes or other substances in Tenant’s exhaust stream that, in Landlord’s judgment,
emanate from the Premises and are inconsistent with the Permitted Use. Any work Tenant performs under this Section 5.3 shall
constitute Alterations.

34 Tenant’s responsibility to remove, eliminate and abate such odors, fumes and exhaust shall continue
throughout the Term.

.3.5 If Tenant fails to install satisfactory odor control equipment within thirty (30) days after Landlord’s demand
made at any time, then Landlord may, without limiting Landlord’s other rights and remedies, require Tenant to cease and suspend any
operations in the Premises that, in Landlord’s determination, cause such unpermitted odors, fumes or exhaust.

1. SERVICES AND UTILITIES

Nt Standard Tenant Services. Landlord shall provide the following services on all days during the Lease Term, unless
otherwise stated below.

1.1 Subject to reasonable changes implemented by Landlord and to all governmental rules, regulations and
guidelines applicable thereto, Landlord shall provide heating and air conditioning (“HVAC”) capacity to the office portions of the
Premises for normal office use in the Premises from Monday through Friday, during the period from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., and
8:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. on Saturdays, except for the date of observation of New Year’s Day, Presidents’ Day, Memorial Day,
Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day and other locally or nationally recognized holidays (collectively, the
“Holidays”). Landlord shall provide HVAC to the lab portions of the Premises on a 24/7 basis and the same shall not constitute an
overstandard use by Tenant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any HVAC installed to service only the Premises shall be controlled by
Tenant and not Landlord.

1.2 Landlord shall provide adequate electrical wiring and facilities for power for the Premises. Landlord shall
designate the electricity utility provider from time to time.

1.3 Landlord shall provide nonexclusive automatic passenger elevator service at all times.

.14 Landlord shall provide water in the Common Areas and Premises for lavatory, drinking, laboratory and
landscaping purposes. Such cost shall be paid by Tenant as Additional Rent unless separately metered to Tenant.

2 Overstandard Tenant Use. Tenant’s use of electricity shall never exceed the capacity of the feeders to the Project or the
risers or wiring installation. If Tenant desires to use heat, ventilation or air conditioning during hours other than those for which
Landlord is obligated to supply such utilities pursuant to the terms of Section 6.1 of this Lease (“After-Hours HVAC”), Tenant shall
follow the reasonable procedures, if any, as Landlord shall from time to time establish as appropriate, and Landlord shall supply such
equipment to Tenant at such hourly cost to Tenant (which shall be treated as Additional Rent) as Landlord shall reasonably determine is
equal solely to the increased depreciation of such heat, ventilation or air conditioning equipment. In the event Tenant disputes the Actual
Costs (as defined below), as determined by Landlord, for increased depreciation of such heat, ventilation or air conditioning
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equipment, then a determination as to the proper amount of Actual Costs shall be made, at Tenant’s expense, by an independent HVAC
engineer (the “HVAC Engineer”) mutually and reasonably selected by Landlord and Tenant.

3 Utilities. Tenant shall pay for all water (including the cost to service, repair and replace reverse osmosis, de-ionized
and other treated water), gas, heat, light, power, telephone, internet service, cable television, other telecommunications and other utilities
supplied to the Premises, together with any fees, surcharges and taxes thereon. If any such utility is not separately metered or
submetered to Tenant, Tenant shall pay Tenant’s Share of all charges of such utility jointly metered with other premises as Additional
RentTo the extent that Tenant uses more than Tenant’s Share of any utilities, then Tenant shall pay Landlord Tenant’s Share of Operating
Expenses to reflect the Actual Costs of such excess. In no event shall any charges paid by Tenant directly to the provider thereof be
included in Operating Expenses.

4 Interruption of Use. Tenant agrees that Landlord shall not be liable for damages, by abatement of Rent or otherwise,
for failure to furnish or delay in furnishing any service (including, but not limited to, any central plant or other lab system, telephone and
telecommunication services), or for any diminution in the quality or quantity thereof, when such failure or delay or diminution is
occasioned, in whole or in part, by repairs, replacements, or improvements, by any strike, lockout or other labor trouble, by inability to
secure electricity, gas, water, or other fuel at the Building or Project after reasonable effort to do so, by any accident or casualty
whatsoever, by act or default of Tenant or other parties, or by any other cause beyond Landlord’s reasonable control; and such failures or
delays or diminution shall never be deemed to constitute an eviction or disturbance of Tenant’s use and possession of the Premises or,
except as provided in Section 6.7 below, relieve Tenant from paying Rent or performing any of its obligations under this Lease.

Furthermore, Landlord shall not be liable under any circumstances for a loss of, or injury to, property (including scientific research and
any intellectual property) or for injury to, or interference with, Tenant’s business, including, without limitation, loss of profits, however
occurring, through or in connection with or incidental to a failure to furnish any of the services or utilities as set forth in this Article 6.

5 Additional Services; Actual Costs. Landlord shall also have the exclusive right, but not the obligation, to provide any
additional services which may be required by Tenant, including, without limitation, locksmithing and additional repairs and maintenance.
Landlord shall charge Tenant, and Tenant shall pay Landlord, for any additional services, an amount equal to the actual, reasonable, out-
of-pocket incremental extra costs to Landlord to provide the additional services, without markup for profit, overhead or administrative
costs, but including, to the extent applicable, depreciation pertaining to increased use of certain equipment (“Actual Costs”). Landlord
shall, within ten (10) business days of receipt of a written request from Tenant, disclose to Tenant in writing the basis for the
determination of the Actual Cost applicable to any such additional service provided by Landlord to Tenant. In the event such disclosure
by Landlord demonstrates that Landlord’s determination of Actual Costs was done unreasonably, then Actual Costs shall be adjusted to
reflect what they should have been if Landlord had reasonable determined Actual Costs. In the case of an increase in Actual costs
resulting from such adjustment, Tenant shall pay Landlord the difference within thirty (30) days of demand therefor. In the case of a
decrease in Actual Costs resulting from such adjustment, Landlord shall pay to Tenant the difference within thirty (30) days of demand.
In the event that more than one tenant orders extra services or utilities in the Project, or if any cost item is applicable to more than one
tenant, such cost shall, to the extent reasonably practical, be apportioned among such tenants in accordance with the ratios of the square
footage in their respective premises.

.6 Janitorial Service. Landlord shall not be obligated to provide any janitorial services to the Premises or replace any
light bulbs, lamps, starters and ballasts for lighting fixtures within the Premises. Tenant shall be solely responsible, at Tenant’s sole cost
and expense, for (i) performing all janitorial services, trash removal and other cleaning of the Premises, and (ii) replacement of all light
bulbs, lamps, starters and ballasts for lighting fixtures within the Premises, all as appropriate to maintain the Premises in a first-class
manner consistent with the first-class nature of the Building and Project. Such services to be provided by Tenant shall be performed by
contractors and pursuant to service contracts approved by Landlord and shall not be included in Operating Expenses payable by Tenant.

Tenant shall deposit trash as reasonably required in the area designated by Landlord from time to time. All trash containers must be
covered and stored in a manner to prevent the emanation of odors into the Premises or the Project. Landlord shall have the right to
inspect the Premises upon reasonable notice to Tenant and to require Tenant to provide additional cleaning, if necessary. In the event
Tenant shall fail to provide any of the services described in this Section 6.6 to be performed by Tenant within five (5) days after notice
from Landlord, which notice shall not be required in the event of an emergency, Landlord shall have the right to provide such services
and any charge or cost incurred by
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Landlord in connection therewith shall be deemed Additional Rent due and payable by Tenant upon receipt by Tenant of a written
statement of cost from Landlord.

7 Abatement of Rent When Tenant Is Prevented From Using Premises. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this
Lease, if Tenant is prevented from using, and does not use, the Premises or any portion thereof, for five (5) consecutive business days
(the “Eligibility Period”) as a result of (i) any repair, maintenance or alteration performed or failed to be performed by Landlord after
the Lease Commencement Date, including any Construction (as defined in Section 24.30 below), or (ii) any failure to provide to the
Premises any of the essential utilities and services required to be provided in Sections 16.1(a) or 16.1(b) above, or (iii) any failure to
provide access to the Premises including Tenant’s access to the Parking Facility, then Tenant’s obligation to pay Rent shall be abated or
reduced, as the case may be, from and after the first (1st) day of the Eligibility Period and continuing until such time that Tenant
continues to be so prevented from using, and does not use, the Premises or a portion thereof, in the proportion that the rentable square
feet of the portion of the Premises that Tenant is prevented from using, and does not use, bears to the total rentable square feet of the
Premises. To the extent Tenant shall be entitled to abatement of rent because of a damage or destruction pursuant to Article 11 or a
taking pursuant to Article 12, then the Eligibility Period shall not be applicable.

1. REPAIRS

1 Tenant’s Repairs. Subject, in all events, to reasonable wear and tear and damage by casualty and/or condemnation and
Landlord’s repair obligations under this Lease, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost, (i) maintain and repair all portions of the HVAC,
electrical, mechanical plumbing, life safety and lab systems from the point that such systems solely serves the Premises and all portions
of all fume hoods and other exhaust systems (all such systems collectively being referred to as the “Premises Systems”) in good repair
and condition and in a manner reasonably commensurate with the Comparable Buildings; and (ii) maintain and repair the Premises,
including all improvements, fixtures, equipment, interior window coverings, and furnishings therein, and the floor and wall coverings of
the interior of the Premises in good repair and condition, in a manner reasonably commensurate with the Comparable Buildings and in a
clean, safe and neat condition (excluding portions of such areas that are part of the Building structure). Landlord hereby assigns to
Tenant on a non-exclusive basis with Landlord all existing and any future warranties with respect to the Premises and shall cooperate
with Tenant, at no material out-of-pocket expense to Landlord, to enforce all such warranties. Except as expressly set forth in this Lease,
it is intended by the parties hereto that Landlord shall have no obligation, in any manner whatsoever, to repair or maintain the Premises,
the improvements located therein or the equipment therein, or the Premises Systems whether structural or nonstructural (but excluding
structural components of the Building which shall remain Landlord’s responsibility), all of which obligations are intended to be the
expense of Tenant (whether or not such repairs, maintenance or restoration shall have an expected life extending beyond the Term).

Tenant’s maintenance of the Premises Systems shall comply with the manufacturers’ recommended operating and maintenance
procedures. To the extent Tenant does not elect to perform such maintenance with its qualified personnel, Tenant shall enter into and pay
for maintenance contracts (in forms reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, which may require, without limitation, that any third-party
contractor provide Landlord with evidence of insurance as reasonably required by Landlord) for the Premises Systems in accordance
with the manufacturers’ recommended operating and maintenance procedures. Such maintenance contracts shall be with reputable
contractors, reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, who shall have commercially reasonable experience in maintaining such systems in the
Premises Systems they are maintaining. Upon Landlord’s request, Tenant shall provide maintenance reports from any such contractors
to the extent received by Tenant from such contractors. Tenant shall be solely responsible for the cost of all improvements or alterations
to the Premises or the Premises Systems required by law to the extent not part of the Base, Shell and Core (as defined in the Work
Letter). Notwithstanding the foregoing, at Landlord’s option, or if Tenant fails to make such repairs, Landlord may, but need not, make
such repairs and replacements, and Tenant shall pay Landlord the cost thereof, including a percentage of the cost thereof (to be uniformly
established for the Building) sufficient to reimburse Landlord for all overhead, general conditions, fees and other costs or expenses
arising from Landlord’s involvement with such repairs and replacements forthwith upon being billed for same. In addition, in the event
Tenant has not provided Landlord with evidence that Tenant has entered into such service contracts to the extent required hereunder,
Landlord reserves the right, upon notice to Tenant and the continued failure of Tenant to procure same, to procure and maintain any or all
of such service contracts, and if Landlord so elects, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord, upon demand, for the Actual Costs thereof and
Tenant shall be relieved of the
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requirement to maintain such contracts hereunder. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article 7, Tenant’s repair and
maintenance obligations herein shall not include the investigation, monitoring, remediation, detoxification, mitigation, removal and/or
other clean-up of any Hazardous Materials, except as required as part of Tenant’s obligations under Article 5 hereof. In no event shall
Operating Expenses payable by Tenant include any matters which are the responsibility of Tenant hereunder or as described in
Section 4.2.3(i) of this Lease if and to the extent self-managed or maintained by Tenant at its election.

2 Landlord’s Repairs. Anything contained in Section 7.1 above to the contrary notwithstanding, and subject to
Articles 11 and 12 below, Landlord shall repair and maintain the structural portions of the Building, including the mechanical, plumbing,
elevator, HVAC and electrical systems serving the Building and not located in and exclusively serving the Premises; provided, however,
to the extent such maintenance and repairs are caused by the act, neglect, fault of or omission of any duty by Tenant, its agents, servants,
employees or invitees in breach of its obligations under this Lease without concurrent negligence or intentional misconduct by Landlord
or its agents, Tenant shall pay to Landlord as Additional Rent, the Actual Cost of such maintenance and repairs (or equitable share
thereof based on any concurrent negligence or intentional misconduct by Landlord or its agents). Except as expressly set forth in this
Lease, Landlord shall not be liable for any failure to make any such repairs, or to perform any maintenance. Except as expressly set forth
in this Lease, there shall be no abatement of rent and no liability of Landlord by reason of any injury to or interference with Tenant’s
business arising from the making of any repairs, alterations or improvements in or to any portion of the Project, Building or the Premises
or in or to fixtures, appurtenances and equipment therein. Tenant hereby waives and releases its right to make repairs at Landlord’s
expense under Sections 1941 and 1942 of the California Civil Code; or under any similar law, statute, or ordinance now or hereafter in
effect.

1. ADDITIONS AND ALTERATIONS

1 Landlord’s Consent to Alterations. Tenant may not make any improvements, alterations, additions or changes to the
Premises (collectively, the “Alterations”) without first procuring the prior written consent of Landlord to such Alterations, which
consent shall be requested by Tenant not less than thirty (30) days prior to the commencement thereof, and which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld by Landlord; provided, however, Landlord may withhold its consent in its sole and absolute discretion with
respect to any Alterations which may affect the structural components of the Building or the Systems and Equipment or which can be
seen from outside the Premises. Tenant shall pay for all overhead, general conditions, fees and other costs and expenses of the
Alterations, and shall pay to Landlord a Landlord supervision fee of three percent (3%) of the cost of the Alterations. The construction
of the initial improvements to the Premises shall be governed by the terms of the Tenant Work Letter and not the terms of this Article 8
and shall not be deemed “Alterations”. Notwithstanding the foregoing to the contrary, Landlord’s prior consent shall not be required with
respect to any interior Alterations to the Premises which (i) cost less than Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000.00) for any one
(1) job, (ii) do not require a building permit and (iii) do not affect the Systems and Equipment nor the structural elements of the Building;
such alterations shall not be subject to Landlord’s supervision fee.

2 Manner of Construction. Landlord may impose, as a condition of its consent to all Alterations or repairs of the
Premises, such requirements as Landlord in its reasonable discretion may deem desirable, including, but not limited to, the requirement
that Tenant utilize for such purposes only contractors, materials, mechanics and materialmen approved by Landlord which shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed (and Landlord’s failure to respond within ten (10) business days to a written request for
approval shall, if such failure continues for an additional two (2) business days after Tenant’s second written request, be deemed
approval); provided, however, Landlord may impose such requirements as Landlord may determine, in its commercially reasonable
discretion, with respect to any work affecting the structural components of the Building or Systems and Equipment (including
designating specific contractors to perform such work). Tenant shall construct such Alterations and perform such repairs in compliance
with any and all applicable rules and regulations of any federal, state, county or municipal code or ordinance and pursuant to a valid
building permit, issued by the city in which the Building is located, and in conformance with Landlord’s reasonable construction rules
and regulations. Landlord’s approval of the plans, specifications and working drawings for Tenant’s Alterations shall create no
responsibility or liability on the part of Landlord for their completeness, design sufficiency, or compliance with all laws, rules and
regulations of
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governmental agencies or authorities. All work with respect to any Alterations must be done in a good and workmanlike manner and
diligently prosecuted to completion to the end that the Premises shall at all times be a complete unit except during the period of work.
Tenant shall cause all Alterations to be performed in such manner as not to obstruct access by any person to the Building or Project or
the common areas, and as not to obstruct the business of Landlord or other tenants of the Project, or interfere with the labor force
working at the Project. If Tenant makes any Alterations, Tenant agrees to carry “Builder’s All Risk” insurance in an amount reasonably
approved by Landlord covering the construction of such Alterations, and such other insurance as Landlord may reasonably require, it
being understood and agreed that all of such Alterations shall be insured by Tenant pursuant to Article 10 below immediately upon
completion thereof. Upon completion of any Alterations, Tenant shall (i) cause a Notice of Completion to be recorded in the office of the
Recorder of the county in which the Project is located in accordance with Section 3093 of the Civil Code of the State of California or any
successor statute, (ii) deliver to the management office of the Building a reproducible copy of the “as built” drawings of the Alterations,
and (iii) deliver to Landlord evidence of payment, contractors’ affidavits and full and final waivers of all liens for labor, services or
materials.

3 Landlord’s Property. All Alterations, improvements, fixtures and/or equipment which may be installed or placed in or
about the Premises (including, but not limited to, all floor and wall coverings, built-in cabinet work and paneling, sinks and related
plumbing fixtures, built-in laboratory benches, exterior venting fume hoods and walk-in freezers and refrigerators, ductwork, conduits,
electrical panels and circuits), shall be at the sole cost of Tenant, and shall be and become the property of Landlord. Furthermore,
Landlord may require that Tenant remove any Alterations, improvements, fixtures and/or equipment upon the expiration or early
termination of the Lease Term, and repair any damage to the Premises and Building caused by such removal (provided that Landlord so
designates at the time that Landlord consents to such Alteration (or at the time Tenant notifies Landlord of Alterations not requiring
Landlord’s consent) but Landlord will only be required to so designate in the event Tenant requests, in Tenant’s request for such consent
(or Tenant’s notice to Landlord with respect to Alterations not requiring Landlord’s consent), that Landlord make such determination).

Notwithstanding anything above to the contrary, Tenant shall have the right to remove any non-affixed fixtures, equipment, or
Alterations from the Premises which have been paid solely by Tenant’s funds (and repair any damage to the Premises caused by such
removal). If Tenant fails to complete such removal and/or to repair by the end of the Lease Term (plus a reasonable cure period not to
exceed five (5) business days), Landlord may do so and may charge the cost thereof to Tenant. Notwithstanding any other provision of
this Article 8 to the contrary, in no event shall Tenant remove any improvement from the Premises as to which Landlord contributed
payment, including the Tenant Improvements, without Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent Landlord may withhold in its sole
and absolute discretion. Tenant shall have no obligation to remove (nor shall Tenant remove) any of the Tenant Improvements.

4 Wi-Fi Network. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, if Tenant desires to install wireless intranet, Internet
and communications network (“Wi-Fi Network”) in the Premises for the use by Tenant and its employees, then the same shall be subject
to the provisions of this Section 8.4 (in addition to the other provisions of this Article 8). In the event Landlord consents to Tenant’s
installation of such Wi-Fi Network, Tenant shall, in accordance with Article 15 below, remove the Wi-Fi Network from the Premises
prior to the termination of the Lease. Tenant shall use the Wi-Fi Network so as not to cause any interference to other tenants in the
Building or to other tenants at the Project or with any other tenant’s communication equipment, who, in each case, are bound by the same
restrictions on interference under their leases at the Project, and not to damage the Building or Project or interfere with the normal
operation of the Building or Project, and Tenant hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Landlord harmless from and against any
and all claims, costs, damages, expenses and liabilities (including attorneys’ fees) for property damage and personal injury arising out of
Tenant’s failure to comply with the provisions of this Section 8.4, except to the extent same is caused by the negligence or willful
misconduct of Landlord and which is not covered by the insurance carried by Tenant under this Lease (or which would not be covered by
the insurance required to be carried by Tenant under this Lease). Should any interference occur, Tenant shall take all necessary steps as
soon as reasonably possible and no later than three (3) calendar days following such occurrence to correct such interference. If such
interference continues after such three (3) day period, Tenant shall immediately cease operating such Wi-Fi Network until such
interference is corrected or remedied to Landlord’s satisfaction. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord has granted and/or may grant
telecommunication rights to other tenants and occupants of the Building and Project and to telecommunication service providers and in
no event shall Landlord be liable to Tenant for any interference of the same with such Wi-Fi Network; provided, however, that Landlord
will use commercially reasonable efforts to assist Tenant in resolving such interference. Landlord makes no representation that the Wi-Fi
Network will be able to receive or transmit communication signals without interference or disturbance. Tenant shall (i) be solely
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responsible for any damage caused as a result of the Wi-Fi Network, (ii) promptly pay any tax, license or permit fees charged pursuant to
any laws or regulations in connection with the installation, maintenance or use of the Wi-Fi Network and comply with all precautions and
safeguards recommended by all governmental authorities, (iii) pay for all necessary repairs, replacements to or maintenance of the Wi-Fi
Network, and (iv) be responsible for any modifications, additions or repairs to the Building or Project, including without limitation,
Building or Project systems or infrastructure, which are required by reason of the installation, operation or removal of Tenant’s Wi-Fi
Network. The mere appearance of Tenant’s Wi-Fi Network outside the Premises shall not be deemed interference or a violation of this
Section. Tenant shall have the right to select, and contract directly with, communications vendors to the extent required to support
Tenant’s business operation from the Premises, subject to Landlord’s approval (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed). Such communications vendors shall be allowed reasonable access to the Project site and Premises free of any separate cost for
access.

1. COVENANT AGAINST LIENS

Tenant has no authority or power to cause or permit any lien or encumbrance of any kind whatsoever, whether created by act of
Tenant, operation of law or otherwise, to attach to or be placed upon the Project, Building or Premises, and any and all liens and
encumbrances created by Tenant shall attach to Tenant’s interest only. Landlord shall have the right at all times to post and keep posted
on the Premises any notice which it deems necessary for protection from such liens. Tenant shall not cause or permit any lien of
mechanics or materialmen or others to be placed against the Project, the Building or the Premises with respect to work or services
claimed to have been performed for or materials claimed to have been furnished to Tenant or the Premises, and, in case of any such lien
attaching or notice of any lien, Tenant shall cause it to be released and removed of record or bonded over within twenty (20) days of
imposition, provided that Landlord shall promptly inform Tenant if Landlord becomes actually aware of such lien. If any such lien is not
released and removed or bonded over within said 20-day period, then Landlord may, at its option, take all action necessary to release and
remove such lien, without any duty to investigate the validity thereof, and all sums, costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’
fees and costs, reasonably incurred by Landlord in connection with such lien shall be deemed Additional Rent under this Lease and shall
be due and payable by Tenant within thirty (30) days of demand accompanied by appropriate backup. In the event that Tenant leases or
finances the acquisition of equipment, furnishings or other personal property of a removable nature utilized by Tenant in the operation of
Tenant’s business, Tenant warrants that any Uniform Commercial Code financing statement shall, upon its face or by exhibit thereto,
indicate that such financing statement is applicable only to removable personal property of Tenant located within the Premises. In no
event shall the address of the Premises be furnished on a financing statement without qualifying language as to applicability of the lien
only to removable personal property located in an identified suite leased by Tenant. Should any holder of a financing statement record or
place of record a financing statement that appears to constitute a lien against any interest of Landlord or against equipment that may be
located other than within an identified suite leased by Tenant, Tenant shall, within ten (10) business days after filing such financing
statement, cause (a) a copy of the Lender security agreement or other documents to which the financing statement pertains to be
furnished to Landlord to facilitate Landlord’s ability to demonstrate that the lien of such financing statement is not applicable to
Landlord’s interest and (b) Tenant’s lender to amend such financing statement and any other documents of record to clarify that any liens
imposed thereby are not applicable to any interest of Landlord in the Premises. Landlord shall upon the written request of Tenant
execute and deliver commercially reasonable waivers as may be requested by any lender providing equipment leasing or other financing
to Tenant secured by Tenant’s personal property located in the Premises.

1. INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE

1 Indemnification and Waiver. Tenant hereby assumes all risk of damage to property and injury to persons, in, on, or
about the Premises (unless caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or any Landlord Party or Landlord’s breach of
this Lease) and agrees that Landlord and the Landlord Parties shall not be liable for, and are hereby released from any responsibility for,
any damage to property or injury to persons or resulting from the loss of use thereof, which damage or injury is sustained by Tenant or by
other persons claiming through Tenant, except to the extent caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or any
Landlord Parties.
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Tenant shall indemnify, defend, protect, and hold harmless the Landlord Parties from any and all loss, cost, damage, expense and liability
(including without limitation court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees) for personal injury and property damage (collectively, “Claims”)
incurred in connection with or arising from any cause in, on or about the Premises (including, without limitation, Tenant’s installation,
placement and removal of Alterations, improvements, fixtures and/or equipment in, on or about the Premises), due to the acts, omissions
or negligence of Tenant or of any person claiming by, through or under Tenant, or of the contractors, agents, servants, employees,
licensees or invitees of Tenant or any such person, in, on or about the Premises, the Building and Project, but only to the extent Tenant’s
liability is not waived and released by Landlord pursuant to the terms of Section 10.4 of this Lease; provided, however, that Tenant’s
indemnity shall, in no event, extend to loss of profits, loss of business or other consequential damages incurred by Landlord or any
Landlord Parties. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 10.1 to the contrary, the foregoing assumption of risk, release and indemnity
shall not apply to any Claims to the extent resulting from the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or any Landlord Parties
(collectively, the “Excluded Claims”), and Landlord shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless Tenant and Tenant’s officers,
agents and employees (collectively, “Tenant Parties”) from and against any such Excluded Claims, but only to the extent Landlord’s
liability is not waived and released by Tenant pursuant to the terms of Section 10.4 of this Lease (provided, however, that Landlord’s
indemnity shall, in no event, extend to loss of profits, loss of business or other consequential damages incurred by Tenant or any Tenant
Parties). Each party’s agreement to indemnify the other pursuant to this Section 10.1 is not intended and shall not relieve any insurance
carrier of its obligations under policies required to be carried by the indemnifying party pursuant to the provisions of this Lease. The
provisions of this Section 10.1 shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease. Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to
the contrary but subject to Section 6.7 and Landlord’s indemnity obligations in this Lease, Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for, and
Tenant assumes all risk of, damage to personal property or scientific research or intellectual property, including loss of records kept by
Tenant within the Premises and damage or losses caused by fire, electrical malfunction, gas explosion or water damage of any type
(including broken water lines, malfunctioning fire sprinkler systems, malfunctioning lab systems including any malfunction of the central
plant systems, roof leaks or stoppages of lines). Tenant further waives any claim for injury to Tenant’s business or loss of income
relating to any such damage or destruction of personal property as described above.

2 Tenant’s Compliance with Landlord’s Fire and Casualty Insurance. Tenant shall, at Tenant’s expense, comply as to the
Premises with all commercially reasonable insurance company requirements pertaining to the use of the Premises. If Tenant’s conduct or
use of the Premises (other than for the Permitted Use) causes any increase in the premium for such insurance policies, then Tenant shall
reimburse Landlord for any such increase. Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall comply with all commercially reasonable rules, orders,
regulations or requirements of the American Insurance Association (formerly the National Board of Fire Underwriters) and with any
similar body.

3 Tenant’s Insurance. Tenant shall maintain the following coverages in the following amounts:

3.1 Commercial General Liability Insurance covering the insured against claims of bodily injury, personal injury
and property damage arising out of Tenant’s operations, assumed liabilities or use of the Premises, covering the insuring provisions of
this Lease and, to the extent consistent with insurance industry custom and practice, the performance by Tenant of the indemnity
agreements set forth in Section 10.1 above (and liquor liability coverage if alcoholic beverages are served on the Premises) for limits of
liability not less than:

Bodily Injury and $10,000,000 each occurrence
Property Damage Liability $10,000,000 annual aggregate
Personal Injury Liability $10,000,000 each occurrence

$10,000,000 annual aggregate

3.2 Physical Damage Insurance covering (i) all furniture, trade fixtures, equipment, merchandise and all other
items of Tenant’s property on the Premises installed by, for, or at the expense of Tenant, (ii) the Tenant Improvements, including any
Tenant Improvements which Landlord permits to be installed above the ceiling of the Premises or below the floor of the Premises, and
(iii) all other improvements, alterations and additions to the Premises, including any improvements, alterations or additions installed at
Tenant’s request above the ceiling of the Premises or below the floor of the Premises. Such insurance shall be written on a “physical loss
or damage” basis under a “special form” policy, for the full replacement cost value new without deduction for depreciation of the
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covered items and in amounts that meet any co-insurance clauses of the policies of insurance and shall include a vandalism and malicious
mischief endorsement, sprinkler leakage coverage and earthquake sprinkler leakage coverage.

3.3 Workers’ compensation insurance as required by law.

3.4 Loss-of-income, business interruption and extra-expense insurance in such amounts as will reimburse Tenant
for direct and indirect loss of earnings attributable to all perils commonly insured against by prudent tenants or attributable to prevention
of loss of access to the Premises or to the Building as a result of such perils.

3.5 Tenant shall carry commercial automobile liability insurance having a combined single limit of not less than
Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) per occurrence and insuring Tenant against liability for claims arising out of ownership,
maintenance or use of any owned, hired or non-owned automobiles.

3.6 Form of Policies. The minimum limits of policies of insurance required of Tenant under this Lease shall in no
event limit the liability of Tenant under this Lease. Such insurance (except for worker’s compensation) shall: (i) name Landlord, and
any other party it so specifies, as an additional insured; (ii) specifically cover the liability assumed by Tenant under this Lease, including,
but not limited to, Tenant’s obligations under Section 10.1 above (to the extent generally available in such coverage); (iii) be issued by an
insurance company having a rating of not less than A—/VII in Best’s Insurance Guide or which is otherwise acceptable to Landlord and
licensed to do business in the state in which the Project is located; (iv) be primary insurance as to all claims thereunder and provide that
any insurance carried by Landlord is excess and is non-contributing with any insurance requirement of Tenant; (v) to the extent
reasonably available based on then insurance industry custom and practices, provide that said insurance shall not be canceled or coverage
changed unless ten (10) days’ prior written notice shall have been given to Tenant (and Tenant shall use good faith efforts to so notify
Landlord thereafter); (vi) contain a cross-liability endorsement or severability of interest clause acceptable to Landlord; and (vii) with
respect to the insurance required in Sections 10.3.1, 10.3.2 and 10.3.4 above, have deductible amounts not exceeding Fifty Thousand
Dollars ($50,000.00). Tenant shall deliver such policies or certificates thereof to Landlord on or before the Phase 1 Premises Delivery
Date and Phase 2 Premises Delivery Date (as the case may be) and at least five (5) days before the expiration dates thereof. If Tenant
shall fail to procure such insurance, or to deliver such policies or certificate, within such time periods, Landlord may, at its option, in
addition to all of its other rights and remedies under this Lease, and without regard to any notice and cure periods set forth in
Section 19.1, procure such policies for the account of Tenant, and the cost thereof shall be paid to Landlord as Additional Rent within ten
(10) days after delivery of bills therefor. Tenant shall have the right to carry the insurance required hereunder in the form of blanket
and/or umbrella policies.

4 Subrogation. Landlord and Tenant each hereby waive all rights of recovery against the other on account of loss and
damage occasioned to the property of such waiving party to the extent that the waiving party is entitled to proceeds for such loss and
damage under any property insurance policies carried or otherwise required to be carried by this Lease; provided, however, that the
foregoing waiver shall not apply to the extent of Tenant’s or Landlord’s obligation to pay deductibles under any such policies and this
Lease. By this waiver it is the intent of the parties that neither Landlord nor Tenant shall be liable to any insurance company (by way of
subrogation or otherwise) insuring the other party for any loss or damage insured against under any property insurance policies, even
though such loss or damage might be occasioned by the negligence of such party, its agents, employees, contractors or invitees. The
foregoing waiver by Tenant shall also inure to the benefit of Landlord’s management agent for the Building.

5 Landlord’s Insurance. During the Lease Term, Landlord, as part of Operating Expenses, shall maintain property
insurance covering the Project (excluding the property which Tenant is obligated to insure pursuant to the terms hereof) in the amount of
the full replacement cost thereof. Such policy shall provide protection against “all risk of physical loss”. Such insurance shall be in such
amounts and with such deductibles as Landlord reasonably deems appropriate but substantially consistent with the insurance maintained
by other institutional owners of projects comparable to the Project in the general vicinity of the Project. Landlord may, but shall not be
obligated to, obtain and carry any other form or forms of insurance as Landlord or Landlord’s mortgagees or deed of trust beneficiaries
may determine prudent. Notwithstanding any contribution by Tenant to the cost of insurance as provided in this Lease, Tenant
acknowledges that it has no right to receive any proceeds from any insurance policies maintained by Landlord
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except under Section 24.14 titled “Landlord Exculpation and Consequential Damages” and will not be named as an additional insured
thereunder.

1. DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION

1 Repair of Damage to Premises by Landlord. Tenant shall promptly notify Landlord of any damage to the Premises
resulting from fire or any other casualty. If the Premises or any common areas of the Building or Project serving or providing access to
the Premises shall be damaged by fire or other casualty, within sixty (60) days after the damage, Landlord shall provide Tenant with a
written notice providing Tenant with the estimated date of completion of the repairs (the “Estimated Completion Date”). Landlord
shall promptly and diligently, subject to reasonable delays for insurance adjustment or other matters beyond Landlord’s reasonable
control, and subject to all other terms of this Article 11, restore the base, shell, and core of the Premises and such common areas. Such
restoration shall be to substantially the same condition of the base, shell, and core of the Premises and common areas prior to the
casualty, except for modifications required by zoning and building codes and other laws or by the holder of a mortgage on the Project
and/or the Building, or the lessor of a ground or underlying lease with respect to the Building, or any other modifications to the common
areas deemed desirable by Landlord, provided access to the Premises and any common restrooms serving the Premises shall not be
materially impaired. Upon the occurrence of any damage to the Premises, upon notice (the “Landlord Repair Notice”) to Tenant from
Landlord, Tenant shall put into a third party escrow account reasonably acceptable to Landlord (which escrow shall be jointly paid for by
Landlord and Tenant) for distribution to Landlord (or to any party designated by Landlord) on a progress payment basis upon receipt of
the appropriate conditional and/or unconditional lien releases, all insurance proceeds paid to Tenant under Tenant’s insurance required
under Section 10.3 of this Lease with respect to such damage (the “Escrow Account”), and Landlord shall repair any injury or damage to
the Tenant Improvements and Alterations installed in the Premises and shall return such Improvements and Alterations to their original
condition; provided that if the cost of such repair by Landlord exceeds the amount of insurance proceeds received by Landlord from
Tenant’s insurance carrier, the incremental cost differential of such repairs shall be paid by Tenant into the Escrow Account prior to
Landlord’s commencement of repair of the damage, provided that Tenant may elect to eliminate any Alterations performed and paid for
by Tenant as part of such restoration and no funds will be required from Tenant for the restoration or repair of any such Alterations. In
connection with such repairs and replacements of any such Tenant Improvements and Alterations, Tenant shall, prior to Landlord’s
commencement of such improvement work, submit to Landlord, for Landlord’s review and approval, all plans, specifications and
working drawings relating thereto, and Landlord shall select the contractors to perform such improvement work. Landlord shall not be
liable for any inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant or its visitors, or injury to Tenant’s business resulting in any way from such damage
or the repair thereof; provided however, that if such fire or other casualty shall have damaged the Premises or common areas necessary to
Tenant’s occupancy, and the Premises are not occupied by Tenant as a result thereof, then during the time and to the extent the Premises
are unfit for occupancy, the Rent shall be abated in proportion to the ratio that the amount of rentable square feet of the Premises which is
unfit for occupancy for the purposes permitted under this Lease bears to the total rentable square feet of the Premises.

2 Landlord’s Option to Repair. Notwithstanding Section 11.1 above to the contrary, Landlord may elect not to rebuild
and/or restore the Premises, the Building and/or any other portion of the Project and instead terminate this Lease by notifying Tenant in
writing of such termination within sixty (60) days after the date Landlord becomes aware of such damage, such notice to include a
termination date giving Tenant ninety (90) days to vacate the Premises, but Landlord may so elect only if the Building shall be damaged
by fire or other casualty or cause, whether or not the Premises are affected, and one or more of the following conditions is present:

(i) repairs cannot reasonably be substantially completed within two hundred ten (210) days after the date of such damage (when such
repairs are made without the payment of overtime or other premiums); (ii) the holder of any mortgage on the Project and/or the Building
or ground or underlying lessor with respect to the Project and/or the Building shall require that the insurance proceeds or any portion
thereof be used to retire the mortgage debt, or shall terminate the ground or underlying lease, as the case may be; or (iii) the damage is
not fully covered, except for deductible amounts, by Landlord’s insurance policies. In addition, if the Premises or the Building is
destroyed or damaged to any substantial extent during the last year of the Lease Term, then notwithstanding anything contained in this
Article 11, Landlord shall have the option to terminate this Lease by giving written notice to Tenant of the exercise of such option within
thirty (30) days after such damage, in which event this Lease shall cease and terminate as of the date of such notice. Upon any such
termination
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of this Lease pursuant to this Section 11.2, Tenant shall pay the Base Rent and Additional Rent, properly apportioned up to such date of
termination, and both parties hereto shall thereafter be discharged of all further obligations under this Lease, except for those obligations
which expressly survive the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease Term. Tenant shall have the right to terminate this Lease due to
a casualty if: (i) Landlord fails to restore the Premises within a period which is sixty (60) days longer than the Estimated Completion
Date stated in Landlord’s notice to Tenant as the estimated rebuilding period (which sixty (60) day period shall be deemed extended due
to Force Majeure delays and/or delays caused by Tenant); (ii) the Estimated Completion Date is more than two hundred ten (210) days
following the damage; or (iii) material damage occurs within the last year of the Term to the extent that in Tenant’s judgment it cannot
effectively operate its business in the Premises.

3 Waiver of Statutory Provisions. The provisions of this Lease, including this Article 11, constitute an express agreement
between Landlord and Tenant with respect to any and all damage to, or destruction of, all or any part of the Premises, the Building or any
other portion of the Project, and any statute or regulation of the State of California, including, without limitation, Sections 1932(2) and
1933(4) of the California Civil Code, with respect to any rights or obligations concerning damage or destruction in the absence of an
express agreement between the parties, and any other statute or regulation, now or hereafter in effect, shall have no application to this
Lease or any damage or destruction to all or any part of the Premises, the Building or any other portion of the Project.

1. CONDEMNATION

1 Permanent Taking. If the whole or any part of the Premises, Building or Project shall be taken by power of eminent
domain or condemned by any competent authority for any public or quasi-public use or purpose, or if any adjacent property or street
shall be so taken or condemned, or reconfigured or vacated by such authority in such manner as to require the use, reconstruction or
remodeling of any part of the Premises, Building or Project, and if as a result thereof Tenant cannot conduct its business operations in
materially the same manner such business operations were conducted prior to such taking, Landlord and Tenant shall each have the
option to terminate this Lease on ninety (90) days’ notice to the other party effective as of the date possession is required to be
surrendered to the authority. Tenant shall not because of such taking assert any claim against Landlord or the authority for any
compensation because of such taking and Landlord shall be entitled to the entire award or payment in connection therewith, except that
Tenant shall have the right to file any separate claim available to Tenant for any taking of Tenant’s personal property and fixtures
belonging to Tenant and removable by Tenant upon expiration of the Lease Term pursuant to the terms of this Lease, and for moving
expenses, so long as such claim is payable separately to Tenant or is otherwise separately identifiable. Notwithstanding anything in this
Article 13 to the contrary, Landlord and Tenant shall each be entitled to receive fifty percent (50%) of the “bonus value” of the leasehold
estate in connection therewith, which bonus value shall be equal to the difference between the Rent payable under this Lease and the sum
established by the condemning authority as the award for compensation. All Rent shall be apportioned as of the date of such termination.
If any part of the Premises shall be taken, and this Lease shall not be so terminated, the Rent shall be proportionately abated. Landlord
and Tenant each hereby waive any and all rights it might otherwise have pursuant to Section 1265.130 of The California Code of Civil
Procedure.

2 Temporary Taking. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 12, in the event of a temporary
taking of all or any portion of the Premises for a period of ninety (90) days or less, then this Lease shall not terminate but the Base Rent
and the Additional Rent shall be abated for the period of such taking in proportion to the ratio that the amount of rentable square feet of
the Premises taken bears to the total rentable square feet of the Premises; provided, however, in the event that Tenant is prevented (from
an objective, biotechnology/life sciences tenant perspective) from conducting, and does not conduct, its business from any portion of the
Premises for the period of such taking, and the remaining portion of the Premises is not sufficient to allow Tenant to effectively conduct
its business therein, and if Tenant does not conduct its business from such remaining portion, then for such time as Tenant is so prevented
(again, from an objective, biotechnology/life sciences tenant perspective) from effectively conducting its business therein (and Tenant
does not conduct business in the Premises), the Base Rent and the Additional Rent for the entire Premises shall be abated.
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1. COVENANT OF QUIET ENJOYMENT

Landlord covenants that Tenant, on paying the Rent, charges for services and other payments herein reserved and on keeping,
observing and performing all the other terms, covenants, conditions, and agreements herein contained on the part of Tenant to be kept,
observed and performed, shall, during the Lease Term, peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy the Premises subject to the terms,
covenants, conditions, and agreements hereof without interference by any persons lawfully claiming by or through Landlord. The
foregoing covenant is in lieu of any other covenant express or implied.

1. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING

1 Transfers. Tenant shall not, without the prior written consent of Landlord, assign, mortgage, pledge, hypothecate,
encumber, or permit any lien to attach to, or otherwise transfer, this Lease or any interest hereunder, permit any assignment or other such
foregoing transfer of this Lease or any interest hereunder by operation of law, sublet the Premises or any part thereof, or permit the use of
the Premises by any persons other than Tenant and its employees (all of the foregoing are hereinafter sometimes referred to collectively
as “Transfers” and any person to whom any Transfer is made or sought to be made is hereinafter sometimes referred to as a
“Transferee”). If Tenant shall desire Landlord’s consent to any Transfer, Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing, which notice (the
“Transfer Notice”) shall include (i) the proposed effective date of the Transfer, which shall not be less than fifteen (15) days nor more
than one hundred eighty (180) days after the date of delivery of the Transfer Notice, (ii) a description of the portion of the Premises to be
transferred (the “Subject Space”), (iii) all of the terms of the proposed Transfer, the name and address of the proposed Transferee, and a
copy of all existing and/or proposed documentation pertaining to the proposed Transfer, (iv) current financial statements of the proposed
Transferee certified by an officer, partner or owner thereof (which Landlord shall treat as confidential and shall not disclose), and (v) a
list of Hazardous Materials, certified by the proposed Transferee to be true and correct, that the proposed Transferee intends to use or
store in the Premises. Landlord shall grant or withhold consent to the proposed Transfer within ten (10) business days (the “Transfer
Review Period”) after Landlord’s receipt of the applicable Transfer Notice. In the event that Landlord fails to notify Tenant in writing of
such consent or denial of consent within such Transfer Review Period and if such failure continues for an additional one (1) business day
after Tenant’s second Transfer Notice pertaining to such Transfer, Landlord shall be deemed to have approved such Transfer. Any
Transfer made without Landlord’s prior written consent shall, at Landlord’s option, be null, void and of no effect, and shall, at Landlord’s
option, constitute a default by Tenant under this Lease.

2 Landlord’s Consent. Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay its consent to any proposed Transfer
on the terms specified in the Transfer Notice. The parties hereby agree that it shall be reasonable under this Lease and under any
applicable law for Landlord to withhold consent to any proposed Transfer where one or more of the following apply, without limitation
as to other reasonable grounds for withholding consent:

2.1 The Transferee is of a character or reputation or engaged in a business which is not consistent with the quality
of the Building or Project;

2.2 The Transferee intends to use the Subject Space for purposes which are not permitted under this Lease;

2.3 The Transferee is either a governmental agency or instrumentality thereof; provided, however, it shall be
unreasonable for Landlord to withhold its consent to a Transfer pursuant to the terms of this Section 14.2.3 to the extent Landlord has
leased or has permitted the lease of space in the Project to a comparable (in terms of security, foot traffic, prestige, eminent domain and

function oriented issues) governmental agency or instrumentality thereof in comparably located space of comparable size;

2.4 The Transfer will result in more than a reasonable and safe number of occupants per floor within the Subject
Space;
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2.5 In the case of (i) an assignment, or (ii) a sublease of greater than 40,000 rentable square feet of space (other
than to an Affiliate), the Transferee is not a party of reasonable financial worth and/or financial stability in light of the responsibilities
involved under the Lease on the date consent is requested,;

2.6 The proposed Transfer would cause Landlord to be in violation of another lease or agreement to which
Landlord is a party, or would give an occupant of the Project a right to cancel its lease; or

2.7 The terms of the proposed Transfer will allow the Transferee to exercise a right of renewal, right of expansion,
right of first offer, or other similar right held by Tenant (or will allow the Transferee to occupy space leased by Tenant pursuant to any
such right); or

2.8 The proposed Transferee either (i) occupies space in the Project at the time of the request for consent, or (ii) is
negotiating with Landlord to lease space in the Project at such time and Landlord, in each such case, has space reasonably comparable to
the Subject Space available for lease to such Transferee.

If Landlord consents to any Transfer pursuant to the terms of this Section 14.2, Tenant may within six (6) months after
Landlord’s consent, enter into such Transfer of the Premises or portion thereof, upon substantially the same terms and conditions as are
set forth in the Transfer Notice furnished by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to Section 14.1 above, provided that if there are any changes in
the terms and conditions from those specified in the Transfer Notice (i) such that Landlord would initially have been entitled to refuse its
consent to such Transfer under this Section 14.2, or (ii) which would cause the proposed Transfer to be more favorable to the Transferee
than the terms set forth in Tenant’s original Transfer Notice, Tenant shall again submit the Transfer to Landlord for its approval and other
action under this Article 14 (including Landlord’s right of recapture, if any, under Section 14.4 of this Lease).

3 Transfer Premium. If Landlord consents to a Transfer, as a condition thereto which the parties hereby agree is
reasonable, Tenant shall pay to Landlord fifty percent (50%) of any “Transfer Premium,” as that term is defined in this Section 14.3,
received by Tenant from such Transferee; provided, however, with respect to any sublease of thirty-six (36) months or less, Tenant shall
only be required to pay Landlord twenty-five percent (25%) of any such Transfer Premium. “Transfer Premium” shall mean all rent,
additional rent or other consideration if and when received by Tenant in connection with the Transfer in excess of the Rent and
Additional Rent payable by Tenant under this Lease during the term of the Transfer on a per rentable square foot basis if less than all of
the Premises is transferred, after deducting the reasonable expenses incurred by Tenant for (i) any changes, alterations and improvements
to the Premises in connection with the Transfer, (ii) any space planning, architectural or design fees or other expenses incurred in
marketing such space or in connection with such Transfer, (iii) any improvement allowance, rent abatement or other monetary
concessions provided by Tenant to the Transferee, (iv) any brokerage commissions incurred by Tenant in connection with the Transfer,
(v) any attorneys’ fees incurred by Tenant in connection with the Transfer, (vi) any lease takeover costs incurred by Tenant in connection
with the Transfer, (vii) any costs of advertising the space which is the subject of the Transfer, (viii) any review and processing fees paid
to Landlord in connection with such Transfer, and (ix) the amortization of the fair market value of any new furniture which is included as
part of the Transfer (collectively, “Subleasing Costs”). Other consideration to be included in the calculation of any Transfer Premium
shall include, but not be limited to, key money, bonus money or other cash consideration paid by Transferee to Tenant in connection with
such Transfer, and any payment in excess of fair market value for services rendered by Tenant to Transferee or for assets, fixtures,
inventory, equipment, or furniture transferred or leased by Tenant to Transferee in connection with such Transfer. In addition, in the
calculations of the Rent (as it relates to the Transfer Premium calculated under this Section 14.3), the Rent paid for the Subject Space by
Tenant, and the Rent paid by the Transferee, shall be computed after adjusting such rent to the actual effective rent to be paid, taking into
consideration any and all leasehold concessions granted in connection therewith, including, but not limited to, any rent credit and
improvement allowance; provided, however, under no circumstances shall Landlord be paid any Transfer Premium until Tenant has
recovered all Subleasing Costs allocable to the Subject Space.

4 Intentionally Omitted.
.5 Effect of Transfer. If Landlord consents to a Transfer: (i) the terms and conditions of this Lease shall in no way be
deemed to have been waived or modified; (ii) such consent shall not be deemed consent to any further Transfer by either Tenant or a

Transferee; (iii) Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, promptly after execution, an original executed copy of all documentation pertaining to
the Transfer in form reasonably acceptable to Landlord; and
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(iv) no Transfer relating to this Lease or agreement entered into with respect thereto, whether with or without Landlord’s consent, shall
relieve Tenant or any guarantor of the Lease from liability under this Lease. Landlord or its authorized representatives shall have the
right at all reasonable times to audit the books, records and papers of Tenant relating to any Transfer, and shall have the right to make
copies thereof. If, following any such audit by Landlord, Landlord and Tenant dispute the amount of any Transfer Premium, then
Landlord and Tenant shall mutually and reasonably select an independent third-party certified public accountant to audit the books,
records and papers of Tenant relating to any Transfer and to make a final determination of any Transfer Premium amount. If the
Transfer Premium respecting any Transfer shall be found understated, Tenant shall, within thirty (30) days after demand, pay the
deficiency, and if understated by more than three percent (3%), Tenant shall reimburse Landlord’s costs of such audit; provided, however,
Tenant shall not be required to reimburse any portion of Landlord’s costs of such audit (and the cost of any independent third-party
accountant) to the extent the same exceed the dollar amount of such deficiency (i.e., if the deficiency is equal to $1,000, and such
deficiency represents an understatement of the Transfer Premium of more than three percent (3%), then Tenant’s reimbursement
obligation shall be limited to $1,000 for the cost of such audit plus $1,000 for the actual deficiency, for a total of $2,000).

.6 Additional Transfers. The terms of this Section 14.6 shall not be applicable to Original Tenant (as defined below). For
purposes of this Lease, the term “Transfer” shall also include (i) if Tenant is a partnership, the withdrawal or change, voluntary,
involuntary or by operation of law, of fifty percent (50%) or more of the partners, or transfer of fifty percent (50%) or more of
partnership interests, within a twelve (12)-month period, or the dissolution of the partnership without immediate reconstitution thereof,
and (ii) if Tenant is a closely held corporation (i.e., whose stock is not publicly held and not traded through an exchange or over the
counter), (A) the dissolution, merger, consolidation or other reorganization of Tenant or (B) the sale or other transfer of an aggregate of
fifty percent (50%) or more of the voting shares of Tenant (other than to immediate family members by reason of gift or death), within a
twelve (12)-month period, or (C) the sale, mortgage, hypothecation or pledge of an aggregate of fifty percent (50%) or more of the value
of the unencumbered assets of Tenant within a twelve (12)-month period.

7 Affiliated Companies/Restructuring of Business Organization. Neither (A) the assignment or subletting by Tenant of
all or any portion of this Lease or the Premises to (i) a parent or subsidiary of Tenant, or (ii) any person or entity which controls, is
controlled by or under common control with Tenant, or (iii) any entity which purchases all or substantially all of the assets of Tenant in
one or a series of transactions, or (iv) any entity into which Tenant is merged or consolidated (all such persons or entities described in (i),
(ii), (iii) and (iv) being sometimes hereinafter referred to as “Affiliates”), nor (B) any transfer of the stock of Tenant, shall be deemed a
Transfer under this Article 14, provided that:

7.1 Any such Affiliate was not formed as a subterfuge to avoid the obligations of this Article 14;

7.2 Tenant notifies Landlord of any such assignment or sublease (which written notification shall be given not less
than ten (10) days prior to the effective date of such assignment or sublease, if reasonably practicable and not a breach of confidentiality
or in violation of applicable laws, but in any event within five (5) days after the effective date of such assignment or sublease), and
promptly supplies Landlord with any material documents or information reasonably requested by Landlord regarding such assignment or
sublease or such transferee (and Tenant may request, as a condition to supplying such documents or information, that Landlord enter into
a commercially reasonable confidentiality agreement prior to receiving such documents or information);

7.3 Tenant or any such Affiliate has, following the effective date of any such assignment, sublease, financing or
public offering, a tangible net worth, in the aggregate, computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, which is
equal to or greater than Tenant as of the date of this Lease; and

7.4 Tenant shall remain fully liable for all obligations to be performed by Tenant under this Lease.

An Affiliate that is an assignee of Original Tenant’s entire interest in this Lease may be referred to as an “Affiliate Assignee.”
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.8 Pre-Approved Occupancy. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 14, Tenant may sublease,
license or otherwise allow to be occupied up to a total of twenty percent (20%) of the Premises (provided that the total amount of the
Premises subject to the terms of this Section 14.8 at any one time shall not exceed, in the aggregate, twenty percent (20%) of the
Premises without such sublease, license or occupancy being a Transfer), provided that Tenant notifies Landlord of any such sublease,
license or occupancy and promptly supplies Landlord with a copy of all applicable documentation, but only to the extent such sublease,
license or occupancy (hereinafter, the “Pre-Approved Occupancy”) is for the use of individual offices and other spaces within the
Premises on an undemised basis by Affiliates, or by Tenant’s clients or other person or entity that has a business relationship with Tenant;
provided, however, that any subtenant, licensee or occupant pursuant to the terms of this Section 14.8 must nevertheless be of a character
and reputation consistent with the quality of the Project. The rights set forth in this Section 14.8 are personal to the Original Tenant and
any Affiliate Assignee, and may only be exercised to the extent the Original Tenant or any Affiliate Assignee, as the case may be, (A) is
not then in Economic Default under this Lease (beyond any applicable notice and cure period), and (B) is then in occupancy of at least
fifty percent (50%) of the space then leased by Tenant in the Project.

1. SURRENDER; OWNERSHIP AND REMOVAL OF PERSONAL PROPERTY

1 Surrender of Premises. No act or thing done by Landlord or any agent or employee of Landlord during the Lease Term
shall be deemed to constitute an acceptance by Landlord of a surrender of the Premises unless such intent is specifically acknowledged in
a writing signed by Landlord. The delivery of keys to the Premises to Landlord or any agent or employee of Landlord shall not
constitute a surrender of the Premises or effect a termination of this Lease, whether or not the keys are thereafter retained by Landlord,
and notwithstanding such delivery Tenant shall be entitled to the return of such keys at any reasonable time upon request until this Lease
shall have been properly terminated. The voluntary or other surrender of this Lease by Tenant, whether accepted by Landlord or not, or a
mutual termination hereof, shall not work a merger, and at the option of Landlord shall operate as an assignment to Landlord of all
subleases or subtenancies affecting the Premises.

2 Removal of Tenant Property by Tenant. Upon the expiration of the Lease Term, or upon any earlier termination of this
Lease, Tenant shall, subject to the provisions of this Article 15, quit and surrender possession of the Premises to Landlord in as good
order and condition as when Tenant took possession and as thereafter improved by Landlord and/or Tenant, reasonable wear and tear and
repairs which are specifically made the responsibility of Landlord hereunder excepted. Tenant’s obligations may also include satisfying
Landlord’s commercially reasonable procedures regarding the cleaning of any lab systems and sealing any connection points of any such
lab systems to the Premises, all at Tenant’s sole cost and expense. Provided Landlord has delivered to Tenant promptly following receipt
by Landlord and in no event later than the date upon which delivery of the Premises to Tenant occurs, an environmental assessment of
the Premises (the “Baseline Report™), then, at least ten (10) days prior to Tenant’s surrender of possession of any part of the Premises,
Tenant shall provide Landlord with (a) a facility decommissioning and Hazardous Materials closure plan for the Premises (“Exit
Survey”) prepared by an independent third party reasonably acceptable to Landlord, and (b) written evidence of all appropriate
governmental releases obtained by Tenant in accordance with applicable laws, including laws pertaining to the surrender of the Premises.
In addition, Tenant agrees to remain responsible after the surrender of the Premises for the remediation of any recognized environmental
conditions set forth in the Exit Survey to the extent any such condition was not described in the Baseline Report and did not otherwise
exist prior to Tenant’s occupancy of the Premises, and compliance with any recommendations set forth in the Exit Survey. Tenant shall,
upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, furnish to Landlord evidence that Tenant has closed all governmental permits and
licenses, if any, issued in connection with Tenant’s or Tenant’s Parties’ activities at the Premises. If any such governmental permits or
licenses have been issued and Tenant fails to provide evidence of such closure on or before the expiration or earlier termination of this
Lease, then until Tenant does so, the holdover provisions of Article 16 of this Lease shall apply. Upon such expiration or termination,
Tenant shall, without expense to Landlord, remove or cause to be removed from the Premises all telephone, data, and other cabling and
wiring (including any cabling and wiring associated with the Wi-Fi Network, if any) installed or caused to be installed by Tenant
(including any cabling and wiring, installed above the ceiling of the Premises or below the floor of the Premises), all debris and rubbish,
and such items of furniture, equipment, free-standing cabinet work, and other articles of personal property owned by Tenant or installed
or placed by Tenant at its expense in the Premises, and such similar articles of any other persons claiming under Tenant, as Landlord
may, in its sole discretion,
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require to be removed, and Tenant shall repair at its own expense all damage to the Premises and Building resulting from such removal.
Tenant’s obligations under this Section 15.2 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

1. HOLDING OVER

If Tenant holds over after the expiration of the Lease Term or earlier termination thereof, with or without the express or implied
consent of Landlord, such tenancy shall be from month-to-month only, and shall not constitute a renewal hereof or an extension for any
further term, and in such case Base Rent shall be payable at a monthly rate equal to the product of (i) the Base Rent applicable during the
last rental period of the Lease Term under this Lease, and (ii) a percentage equal to (A) one hundred twenty percent (120%) during the
first three (3) months immediately following the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease Term, (B) one hundred thirty percent
(130%) during the fourth (4th) month immediately following the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease Term, and (C) one
hundred forty percent (140%) thereafter. Such month-to-month tenancy shall be subject to every other applicable term, covenant and
agreement contained herein. Nothing contained in this Article 16 shall be construed as consent by Landlord to any holding over by
Tenant, and Landlord expressly reserves the right to require Tenant to surrender possession of the Premises to Landlord as provided in
this Lease upon the expiration or other termination of this Lease. The provisions of this Article 16 shall not be deemed to limit or
constitute a waiver of any other rights or remedies of Landlord provided herein or at law. If Tenant fails to surrender the Premises after
the termination or expiration of this Lease, in addition to any other liabilities to Landlord accruing therefrom, Tenant shall protect,
defend, indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from all loss, costs (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) and liability resulting from such
failure, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any claims made by any succeeding tenant founded upon such failure
to surrender and any lost profits to Landlord resulting therefrom; provided, however, upon entering into a third-party lease which affects
all or any portion of the Premises, Landlord shall deliver written notice (the “New Lease Notice”) of such lease to Tenant and the terms
of the foregoing indemnity shall not be effective until the later of (i) the date that occurs thirty (30) days following the date Landlord
delivers such New Lease Notice to Tenant, and (ii) the date which occurs thirty (30) days after the termination or expiration of this Lease.

Landlord hereby agrees that it will not pursue legal action to remove Tenant from the Premises unless Tenant fails to surrender the
Premises within thirty (30) days after the termination or expiration of this Lease.

1. ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES

1 Within ten (10) business days following a request in writing by Landlord, Tenant shall execute, acknowledge and
deliver to Landlord an estoppel certificate, which, as submitted by Landlord, shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit E, attached
hereto (or such other commercially reasonable form as may be required by any prospective mortgagee or purchaser of the Project, or any
portion thereof), indicating therein any exceptions thereto that may exist at that time, and shall also contain any other information
reasonably requested by Landlord or Landlord’s mortgagee or prospective mortgagee. Any such certificate may be relied upon by any
prospective mortgagee or purchaser of all or any portion of the Project. Failure of Tenant to timely execute and deliver such estoppel
certificate or other instruments shall constitute an acceptance of the Premises and an acknowledgment by Tenant that statements included
in the estoppel certificate are true and correct, without exception. Upon request from time to time (but not more frequently than once per
year absent a proposed sale or financing of the Project), Tenant agrees to provide to Landlord, within ten (10) business days after
Landlord’s delivery of written request therefor, current financial statements for Tenant, dated no earlier than one (1) year prior to such
written request; provided that Landlord has executed Tenant’s customary and commercially reasonable non-disclosure agreement. Such
statements shall be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and, if such is the normal practice of Tenant,
shall be audited by an independent certified public accountant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that (i) stock in the entity
which constitutes Tenant under this Lease is publicly traded on a national stock exchange, (ii) Tenant has its own, separate and distinct
10K and 10Q filing requirements (as opposed to joint filings with an entity that controls Tenant or is under common control with Tenant),
and (iii) Tenant’s financial statements are readily available to the public, then Tenant’s obligation to its most recent current financial
statement shall be deemed satisfied.
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1. SUBORDINATION

This Lease shall be subject and subordinate to all present and future ground or underlying leases of the Building or Project and
to the lien of any mortgage, trust deed or other encumbrances now or hereafter in force against the Building or Project or any part
thereof, if any, and to all renewals, extensions, modifications, consolidations and replacements thereof, and to all advances made or
hereafter to be made upon the security of such mortgages or trust deeds, unless the holders of such mortgages, trust deeds or other
encumbrances, or the lessors under such ground lease or underlying leases (collectively referred to as “Landlord’s Mortgagee”), require
in writing that this Lease be superior thereto. Landlord’s delivery to Tenant of a commercially reasonable, recordable, non-disturbance
agreement(s) (the “Nondisturbance Agreement”), which Nondisturbance Agreement shall provide, without limitation, that Landlord’s
Mortgagee recognize any express rental offset rights set forth in this Lease, all rental abatement provided to Tenant under this Lease, and
the payment by Landlord of any improvement or other allowances and commissions in favor of Tenant, from any ground lessor,
mortgage holders or lien holders of Landlord who later come into existence at any time prior to the expiration of the Lease Term shall be
in consideration of, and a condition precedent to, Tenant’s agreement to subordinate this Lease to Landlord’s Mortgagee. Landlord shall
secure and deliver to Tenant a Non-Disturbance Agreements from, and executed by, all current Landlord’s Mortgagees (if any) for the
benefit of Tenant within thirty (30) days following the full execution and delivery of this Lease. Subject to Tenant’s receipt of such
Nondisturbance Agreement, Tenant covenants and agrees in the event any proceedings are brought for the foreclosure of any such
mortgage or deed in lieu thereof (or if any ground lease is terminated), to attorn to the lienholder or purchaser or any successors thereto
upon any such foreclosure sale or deed in lieu thereof (or to the ground lessor), if so requested to do so by such purchaser or lienholder or
ground lessor, and to recognize such purchaser or lienholder or ground lessor as the lessor under this Lease, provided such lienholder or
purchaser or ground lessor shall agree to accept this Lease and not disturb Tenant’s occupancy, so long as Tenant is not in default under
the terms of this Lease (beyond any applicable notice and cure period). Landlord’s interest herein may be assigned as security at any
time to any lienholder. Tenant shall, within ten (10) days of request by Landlord, execute such further instruments or assurances as
Landlord may reasonably deem necessary to evidence or confirm the subordination or superiority of this Lease to any such mortgages,
trust deeds, ground leases or underlying leases in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Article 18 provided the same do not
increase the obligations of Tenant, or decrease the benefits to Tenant, under this Lease in any material respect. Tenant waives the
provisions of any current or future statute, rule or law which may give or purport to give Tenant any right or election to terminate or
otherwise adversely affect this Lease and the obligations of the Tenant hereunder in the event of any foreclosure proceeding or sale.

1. TENANT’S DEFAULTS; LANDLORD’S REMEDIES
1 Events of Default by Tenant. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute a default of this Lease by Tenant:
11 Any failure by Tenant to pay any Rent or any other amount owing to Landlord under this Lease, or any part

thereof, when due unless such failure is cured within ten (10) business days after notice; provided, however, that any such notice shall be
in lieu of, and not in addition to, any notice required under California Code of Civil Procedure Section 1161 or any similar or successor
law; or

1.2 Any failure by Tenant to observe or perform any other provision, covenant or condition of this Lease to be
observed or performed by Tenant (other than the payment of Base Rent or Additional Rent) where such failure continues for thirty (30)
days after written notice thereof from Landlord to Tenant; provided however, that any such notice shall be in lieu of, and not in addition
to, any notice required under California Code of Civil Procedure Section 1161 or any similar or successor law; and provided further that
if the nature of such default is such that the same cannot reasonably be cured within a thirty (30)-day period, Tenant shall not be deemed
to be in default if it diligently commences such cure within such period and thereafter diligently proceeds to rectify and cure said default
as soon as possible.
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1.3 Tenant fails to deliver an estoppel certificate in accordance with Article 17 following a second request from
Landlord and the passage of five (5) business days.

2 Landlord’s Remedies Upon Default. Upon the occurrence of any such default by Tenant, Landlord shall have, in
addition to any other remedies available to Landlord at law or in equity, the option to pursue any one or more of the following remedies,
each and all of which shall be cumulative and nonexclusive, without any notice or demand whatsoever.

2.1 Terminate this Lease, in which event Tenant shall immediately surrender the Premises to Landlord, and if
Tenant fails to do so, Landlord may, without prejudice to any other remedy which it may have for possession or arrearages in rent, enter
upon and take possession of the Premises and expel or remove Tenant and any other person who may be occupying the Premises or any
part thereof, without being liable for prosecution or any claim for damages therefor; and Landlord may recover from Tenant the
following:

@d) the worth at the time of award of any unpaid rent which has been earned at the time of such
termination; plus

(ii) the worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent which would have been earned
after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided;
plus

(iii) the worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent for the balance of the Lease
Term after the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided; plus

@iv) any other amount necessary to compensate Landlord for all the detriment proximately caused by
Tenant’s failure to perform its obligations under this Lease or which in the ordinary course of things would be likely to result therefrom,
specifically including but not limited to, brokerage commissions and advertising expenses incurred, expenses of remodeling the Premises
or any portion thereof for a new tenant, whether for the same or a different use, and any special concessions made to obtain a new tenant;
plus

W) at Landlord’s election, such other amounts in addition to or in lieu of the foregoing as may be
permitted from time to time by applicable law.

The term “rent” as used in this Section 19.2 shall be deemed to be and to mean all sums of every nature required to be paid by Tenant
pursuant to the terms of this Lease, whether to Landlord or to others. As used in Sections 19.2.1(i) and (ii), above, the “worth at the time
of award” shall be computed by allowing interest at the Interest Rate set forth in Section 4.5 above. As used in Section 19.2.1(iii) above,
the “worth at the time of award” shall be computed by discounting such amount at the discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank of San
Francisco at the time of award plus one percent (1%).

2.2 Landlord shall have the remedy described in California Civil Code Section 1951.4 (lessor may continue lease
in effect after lessee’s breach and abandonment and recover rent as it becomes due, if lessee has the right to sublet or assign, subject only
to reasonable limitations). Accordingly, if Landlord does not elect to terminate this Lease on account of any default by Tenant, Landlord
may, from time to time, without terminating this Lease, enforce all of its rights and remedies under this Lease, including the right to
recover all rent as it becomes due.

2.3 Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, make any such payment or perform or otherwise cure any such
obligation, provision, covenant or condition on Tenant’s part to be observed or performed (and may enter the Premises for such
purposes). In the event of Tenant’s failure to perform any of its obligations or covenants under this Lease, and such failure to perform
poses a material risk of injury or harm to persons or damage to or loss of property, then Landlord shall have the right to cure or otherwise
perform such covenant or obligation at any time after such failure to perform by Tenant, whether or not any such notice or cure period set
forth in Section 19.1 above has expired. Any such actions undertaken by Landlord pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this
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Section 19.2.3 shall not be deemed a waiver of Landlord’s rights and remedies as a result of Tenant’s failure to perform and shall not
release Tenant from any of its obligations under this Lease.

3 Payment by Tenant. Tenant shall pay to Landlord, within ten (10) days after delivery by Landlord to Tenant of
statements therefor: (i) sums equal to expenditures reasonably made and obligations incurred by Landlord in connection with Landlord’s
performance or cure of any of Tenant’s obligations pursuant to the provisions of Section 19.2.3 above; and (ii) sums equal to all
expenditures made and obligations incurred by Landlord in collecting or attempting to collect the Rent or in enforcing or attempting to
enforce any rights of Landlord under this Lease or pursuant to law, including, without limitation, all legal fees and other amounts so
expended. Tenant’s obligations under this Section 19.3 shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of the Lease Term.

4 Sublessees of Tenant. Whether or not Landlord elects to terminate this Lease on account of any default by Tenant, as
set forth in this Article 19, Landlord shall have the right to terminate any and all subleases, licenses, concessions or other consensual
arrangements for possession entered into by Tenant and affecting the Premises or may, in Landlord’s sole discretion, succeed to Tenant’s
interest in such subleases, licenses, concessions or arrangements. If Landlord elects to succeed to Tenant’s interest in any such subleases,
licenses, concessions or arrangements, Tenant shall, as of the date of notice by Landlord of such election, have no further right to or
interest in the rent or other consideration receivable thereunder.

5 Waiver of Default. No waiver by Landlord of any violation or breach by Tenant of any of the terms, provisions and
covenants herein contained shall be deemed or construed to constitute a waiver of any other or later violation or breach by Tenant of the
same or any other of the terms, provisions, and covenants herein contained. Forbearance by Landlord in enforcement of one or more of
the remedies herein provided upon a default by Tenant shall not be deemed or construed to constitute a waiver of such default. The
acceptance of any Rent hereunder by Landlord following the occurrence of any default, whether or not known to Landlord, shall not be
deemed a waiver of any such default, except only a default in the payment of the Rent so accepted.

.6 Efforts to Relet. For the purposes of this Article 19, Tenant’s right to possession shall not be deemed to have been
terminated by efforts of Landlord to relet the Premises, by its acts of maintenance or preservation with respect to the Premises, or by
appointment of a receiver to protect Landlord’s interests hereunder. The foregoing enumeration is not exhaustive, but merely illustrative
of acts which may be performed by Landlord without terminating Tenant’s right to possession.

7 Landlord Default. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Lease, Landlord shall be in default in the
performance of any obligation required to be performed by Landlord pursuant to this Lease if Landlord fails to perform such obligation
within thirty (30) days after the receipt of notice from Tenant specifying in detail Landlord’s failure to perform; provided, however, if the
nature of Landlord’s obligation is such that more than thirty (30) days are required for its performance, then Landlord shall not be in
default under this Lease if it shall commence such performance within such thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently pursues the
same to completion. Upon any such default by Landlord under this Lease, Tenant may, except as otherwise specifically provided in this
Lease to the contrary, exercise any of its rights provided at law or in equity.

1. SECURITY DEPOSIT

Concurrent with Tenant’s execution of this Lease, Tenant shall deposit with Landlord a security deposit (the “Security
Deposit”) in the amount set forth in Section 10 of the Summary. The Security Deposit shall be held by Landlord as security for the
faithful performance by Tenant of all the terms, covenants, and conditions of this Lease to be kept and performed by Tenant during the
Lease Term. If Tenant defaults with respect to any provisions of this Lease, including, but not limited to, the provisions relating to the
payment of Rent, Landlord may, but shall not be required to, use, apply or retain all or any part of the Security Deposit for the payment
of any Rent or any other sum in default, or for the payment of any amount that Landlord may spend or become obligated to spend by
reason of Tenant’s default, or to compensate Landlord for any other loss or damage that Landlord may suffer by reason of Tenant’s
default. If any portion of the Security Deposit is so used or applied, Tenant shall, within ten (10) business days after written demand
therefor, deposit cash with Landlord in an amount sufficient to restore the Security Deposit
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to its original amount, and Tenant’s failure to do so shall be a default under this Lease. If Tenant shall fully and faithfully perform every
provision of this Lease to be performed by it, the Security Deposit, or any balance thereof, shall be returned to Tenant, or, at Landlord’s
option, to the last assignee of Tenant’s interest hereunder, within thirty (30) days following the expiration of the Lease Term. Tenant
shall not be entitled to any interest on the Security Deposit. Tenant hereby waives the provisions of Section 1950.7 of the California
Civil Code, and all other provisions of law, now or hereafter in force, which provide that Landlord may claim from a security deposit
only those sums reasonably necessary to remedy defaults in the payment of rent, to repair damage caused by Tenant or to clean the
Premises, it being agreed that Landlord may, in addition, claim those sums reasonably necessary to compensate Landlord for any other
loss or damage, foreseeable or unforeseeable, caused by the act or omission of Tenant or any officer, employee, agent or invitee of
Tenant. In the event of bankruptcy or other debtor-creditor proceedings against Tenant, the Security Deposit shall be deemed to be
applied first to the payment of Rent and other charges due Landlord for all periods prior to the filing of such proceedings.

1. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

Tenant shall not do anything or suffer anything to be done in or about the Premises or the Project which will in any way conflict
with any law, statute, ordinance or other governmental rule, regulation or requirement now in force or which may hereafter be enacted or
promulgated (collectively, “Applicable Laws”). At its sole cost and expense, Tenant shall promptly comply with all such Applicable
Laws which relate to (i) Tenant’s use of the Premises for other than the Permitted Use, (ii) the Alterations or Tenant Improvements in the
Premises, or (iii) the Base, Shell and Core but only to the extent such obligations are triggered by Tenant’s Alterations, the Tenant
Improvements, or use of the Premises for other than the Permitted Use; provided, however, in connection with the foregoing, Landlord
shall not initiate an action to formally and legally change the scope and application of an Applicable Law, so that such Applicable Law
then applies to Tenant pursuant to item (i), (ii) or (iii), above. The final, non-appealable judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction
or the admission of Tenant in any judicial action, regardless of whether Landlord is a party thereto, that Tenant has violated any of said
governmental measures, shall be conclusive of that fact as between Landlord and Tenant. Landlord shall comply with all Applicable
Laws relating to the Base, Shell and Core, the Parking Facility and the other common areas, provided that compliance with such
Applicable Laws is not the responsibility of Tenant under this Lease.

1. ENTRY BY LANDLORD

Subject to Tenant’s reasonably established security requirements (which must provide for Emergency contingencies) and the
coordination of any such entry with Tenant’s security personnel and Landlord’s compliance with all reasonable security and safety
protocols adopted by Tenant, including the use of a Tenant escort if such escort is available at the time of Landlord’s intended entry in the
Premises (subject to such Emergency contingencies), Landlord reserves the right, following not less than two (2) business days prior
written notice to Tenant (except in the case of an Emergency) at all reasonable times (during Building Hours with respect to items (i) and
(ii) below) and upon at least forty-eight (48) hours prior notice to Tenant (except in the case of an Emergency) to enter the Premises to (i)
inspect them; (ii) show the Premises to prospective purchasers, or to current or prospective mortgagees, ground or underlying lessors or
insurers, or during the last nine (9) months of the Lease Term, to prospective tenants; (iii) post notices of nonresponsibility; or (iv) alter,
improve or repair the Premises or the Building, or for structural alterations, repairs or improvements to the Building or the Building’s
Systems and Equipment, to the extent required or expressly permitted pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Lease.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 22, Landlord may enter the Premises at any time to (A) perform
services required of Landlord, including janitorial service; (B) take possession due to any breach of this Lease in the manner provided
herein; and (C) if and to the extent otherwise permitted under the terms of this Lease, perform any covenants of Tenant which Tenant
fails to perform pursuant to the terms of this Lease. Landlord may make any such entries without the abatement of Rent, except as
otherwise provided in this Lease, and may take such reasonable steps as required to accomplish the stated purposes; provided, however,
except for (i) Emergencies, (ii) repairs, alterations, improvements or additions required by governmental or quasi-governmental
authorities or court order or decree, or (iii) repairs which are the obligation of Tenant hereunder, any such entry shall be performed in a
manner so as not to unreasonably
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interfere with Tenant’s use of the Premises and shall be performed after normal business hours if reasonably practical. With respect to
items (ii) and (iii) above, Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to not materially interfere with Tenant’s use of, or access to,
the Premises. Except as otherwise set forth in Section 19.8 of this Lease, above, Tenant hereby waives any claims for damages or for any
injuries or inconvenience to or interference with Tenant’s business, lost profits, any loss of occupancy or quiet enjoyment of the
Premises, and any other loss occasioned thereby, provided that the foregoing shall not limit Landlord’s liability, if any, pursuant to
Applicable Law for personal injury and property damage to the extent caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, its
agents, employees or contractors. For each of the above purposes, Landlord shall at all times have a key with which to unlock all the
doors in the Premises, excluding Tenant’s vaults, safes and special security areas designated in advance by Tenant. In an Emergency,
Landlord shall have the right to use any means that Landlord may deem proper to open the doors in and to the Premises.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Article 22, Tenant may designate certain limited areas of the Premises as
“Secured Areas” should Tenant require such areas for the purpose of securing certain valuable property or confidential information. In
connection with the foregoing, Landlord shall not enter such Secured Areas except in the event of an Emergency. Landlord need not
clean any area designated by Tenant as a Secured Area and shall only maintain or repair such Secured Areas to the extent (i) such repair
or maintenance is required in order to maintain and repair the Building structure and/or the Building Systems; (ii) as required by
Applicable Law, or (iii) in response to specific requests by Tenant and in accordance with a schedule reasonably designated by Tenant,
subject to Landlord’s reasonable approval. Any entry into the Premises by Landlord in the manner hereinbefore described shall not be
deemed to be a forcible or unlawful entry into, or a detainer of, the Premises, or an actual or constructive eviction of Tenant from any
portion of the Premises. No provision of this Lease shall be construed as obligating Landlord to perform any repairs, alterations or
decorations except as otherwise expressly agreed to be performed by Landlord herein. As used herein, the term “Emergency” shall mean
an event threatening immediate and material danger to people or property located in the Project or Premises, as the case may be, or
immediate and material damage to the Premises, Project, Building Systems and Equipment, Building structure, Tennant Improvements
and/or Alterations.

1. PARKING

Throughout the Lease Term, Tenant shall rent from Landlord, on a “first-come, first-serve” basis, in common with other tenants
of the Building, the number of unreserved parking spaces set forth in Section 12 of the Summary, which unreserved parking spaces are
located in the Parking Facility servicing the Building as shall be reasonably designated by Landlord from time to time for unreserved
parking for the tenants of the Building. As of the date hereof, the charge for unreserved parking is Fifty Dollars ($50.00) per parking
space per month; provided that such charge for parking shall not be subject to increase during the first five (5) years of the Lease Term,
and thereafter subject to annual increases in an amount consistent with Comparable Buildings, not to exceed an annual increase of 3%
over the then-current per parking space charge. Tenant’s continued right to use the parking spaces is conditioned upon (i) Tenant abiding
by (A) the Parking Rules and Regulations which are in effect on the date hereof, as set forth in the attached Exhibit D and all reasonable
modifications and additions thereto which are prescribed from time to time for the orderly operation and use of the Parking Facility by
Landlord, and/or Landlord’s Parking Operator (as defined below), and (B) all recorded covenants, conditions and restrictions affecting
the Building, and (ii) upon Tenant’s cooperation in seeing that Tenant’s employees and visitors also comply with the Parking Rules and
Regulations (and all such modifications and additions thereto, as the case may be), any such other rules and regulations and covenants,
conditions and restrictions. So long as the same does not result in a Tenant Impact (including Tenant being provided with the number of
parking spaces to which Tenant is entitled under this Lease), (a) Landlord specifically reserves the right to change the size, configuration,
design, layout, location and all other aspects of the Parking Facility (including without limitation, implementing paid visitor parking),
and (b) Tenant acknowledges and agrees that Landlord may, without incurring any liability to Tenant and without any abatement of Rent
under this Lease, from time to time, close-off or restrict access to the Parking Facility. Landlord may delegate its responsibilities
hereunder to a parking operator (the “Parking Operator”) in which case the Parking Operator shall have all the rights of control
attributed hereby to Landlord. Any parking tax or other charges imposed by governmental authorities in connection with the use of such
parking shall be paid directly by Tenant or the parking users, or, if directly imposed against Landlord, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord
for all such taxes and/or charges within thirty (30) days after Landlord’s written notice therefor accompanied by reasonable backup. The
parking rights provided to Tenant pursuant to this Article 23 are provided solely for use by Tenant’s own personnel and such rights may
not be transferred, assigned, subleased or otherwise
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alienated by Tenant without Landlord’s prior approval, except in connection with an assignment of this Lease or sublease of the Premises
made in accordance with Article 14 above. All visitor parking by Tenant’s visitors shall be subject to availability, as reasonably
determined by Landlord (and/or the Parking Operator, as the case may be), parking in such visitor parking areas as may be designated by
Landlord (and/or the Parking Operator from time to time, and payment by such visitors of the prevailing visitor parking rate (if any)
charged by Landlord (and/or the Parking Operator) from time to time.

1. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

1 Terms; Captions. The necessary grammatical changes required to make the provisions hereof apply either to
corporations or partnerships or individuals, men or women, as the case may require, shall in all cases be assumed as though in each case
fully expressed. The captions of Articles and Sections are for convenience only and shall not be deemed to limit, construe, affect or alter
the meaning of such Articles and Sections.

2 Binding Effect. Each of the provisions of this Lease shall extend to and shall, as the case may require, bind or inure to
the benefit not only of Landlord and of Tenant, but also of their respective successors or assigns, provided this clause shall not permit any
assignment by Tenant contrary to the provisions of Article 14 above.

3 No Waiver. No waiver of any provision of this Lease shall be implied by any failure of a party to enforce any remedy
on account of the violation of such provision, even if such violation shall continue or be repeated subsequently, any waiver by a party of
any provision of this Lease may only be in writing, and no express waiver shall affect any provision other than the one specified in such
waiver and that one only for the time and in the manner specifically stated. No receipt of monies by Landlord from Tenant after the
termination of this Lease shall in any way alter the length of the Lease Term or of Tenant’s right of possession hereunder or after the
giving of any notice shall reinstate, continue or extend the Lease Term or affect any notice given Tenant prior to the receipt of such
monies, it being agreed that after the service of notice or the commencement of a suit or after final judgment for possession of the
Premises, Landlord may receive and collect any Rent due, and the payment of said Rent shall not waive or affect said notice, suit or
judgment.

4 Modification of Lease. If any current or prospective mortgagee or ground lessor for the Project requires modifications
to this Lease, which modifications will not cause an increased cost or expense to Tenant or in any other way adversely (other than
adversely in a non-material manner) change the rights and obligations of Tenant hereunder, without resulting in a Tenant Impact, then
and in such event, then Tenant agrees that this Lease may be so modified and agrees to execute whatever documents are reasonably
required therefor and to deliver the same to Landlord within twenty (20) days following a request therefor. If Landlord or any such
current or prospective mortgagee or ground lessor require execution of a short form of Lease for recording, containing, among other
customary provisions, the names of the parties, a description of the Premises and the Lease Term, Tenant shall execute such short form of
Lease (provided that such form is in a commercially reasonable form and factually accurate) and to deliver the same to Landlord within
twenty (20) days following the request therefor.

5 Transfer of Landlord’s Interest. Landlord has the right to transfer all or any portion of its interest in the Project, the
Building and/or in this Lease, and upon any such transfer, Landlord shall automatically be released from all liability under this Lease for
matters arising after such transfer and Tenant shall look solely to such transferee for the performance of Landlord’s obligations hereunder
after the date of transfer, so long as such transferee has assumed Landlord’s obligations hereunder in writing. The liability of any
transferee of Landlord shall be limited to the interest of such transferee in the Project and such transferee shall be without personal
liability under this Lease, and Tenant hereby expressly waives and releases such personal liability on behalf of itself and all persons
claiming by, through or under Tenant. Landlord may also assign its interest in this Lease to a mortgage lender as additional security but
such assignment shall not release Landlord from its obligations hereunder and Tenant shall continue to look to Landlord for the
performance of its obligations hereunder. None of Landlord or its partners, shareholders, directors, officers, employees, members or
agents shall be personally liable for Landlord’s obligations or any deficiency under this Lease, and service of process shall not be made
against any shareholder, member, director, officer, employee or agent of Landlord or any of Landlord’s affiliates. No partner,
shareholder, director, officer, employee, member or agent of Landlord or Tenant or any of their affiliates shall be sued or named as a
party in any
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suit or action, and service of process shall not be made against any partner or member of Landlord or Tenant except as may be necessary
to secure jurisdiction of the partnership, joint venture or limited liability company, as applicable. No partner, shareholder, director,
officer, employee, member or agent of Landlord or Tenant or any of their affiliates shall be required to answer or otherwise plead to any
service of process, and no judgment shall be taken or writ of execution levied against any partner, shareholder, director, officer,
employee, member or agent of Landlord or Tenant or any of their affiliates.

.6 Prohibition Against Recording. Except as provided in Section 24.4 of this Lease, neither this Lease, nor any
memorandum, affidavit or other writing with respect thereto, shall be recorded by Tenant or by anyone acting through, under or on behalf
of Tenant, and the recording thereof in violation of this provision shall make this Lease null and void at Landlord’s election.

7 Landlord’s Title;_Air Rights. Landlord’s title is and always shall be paramount to the title of Tenant. Nothing herein
contained shall empower Tenant to do any act which can, shall or may encumber the title of Landlord. No rights to any view or to light
or air over any property, whether belonging to Landlord or any other person, are granted to Tenant by this Lease.

.8 Tenant’s Signs. Tenant shall be entitled, at its sole cost and expense, to one (1) identification sign on or near the entry
doors of the Premises and for multi-tenant floors (if any) on which the Premises are located, one (1) identification or directional sign, as
designated by Landlord, in the elevator lobby on the floor on which the Premises are located. Such signs shall be installed by a signage
contractor designated by Landlord. The location, quality, design, style, lighting and size of such signs shall be consistent with the
Landlord’s Building standard signage program and shall be subject to Landlord’s prior written approval, in its reasonable discretion.
Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall be responsible, at its sole cost and expense, for the removal of such
signage and the repair of all damage to the Building caused by such removal. Except for such identification signs, Tenant may not install
any signs on the exterior or roof of the Building or the common areas of the Building or the Project. Any signs, window coverings, or
blinds (even if the same are located behind the Landlord approved window coverings for the Building), or other items visible from the
exterior of the Premises or Building are subject to the prior approval of Landlord, in its sole and absolute discretion.

9 Relationship of Parties. Nothing contained in this Lease shall be deemed or construed by the parties hereto or by any
third party to create the relationship of principal and agent, partnership, joint venturer or any association between Landlord and Tenant, it
being expressly understood and agreed that neither the method of computation of Rent nor any act of the parties hereto shall be deemed
to create any relationship between Landlord and Tenant other than the relationship of landlord and tenant.

.10 Application of Payments. Landlord shall have the right to apply payments received from Tenant pursuant to this Lease,
regardless of Tenant’s designation of such payments, to satisfy any obligations of Tenant hereunder, in such order and amounts as
Landlord, in its sole discretion, may elect.

11 Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of this Lease and each of its provisions.

12 Partial Invalidity. If any term, provision or condition contained in this Lease shall, to any extent, be invalid or
unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease, or the application of such term, provision or condition to persons or circumstances other than
those with respect to which it is invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each and every other term, provision and
condition of this Lease shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent possible permitted by law.

13 No Warranty. In executing and delivering this Lease, Tenant has not relied on any representation, including, but not
limited to, any representation whatsoever as to the amount of any item comprising Additional Rent or the amount of the Additional Rent
in the aggregate or that Landlord is furnishing the same services to other tenants, at all, on the same level or on the same basis, or any
warranty or any statement of Landlord which is not set forth herein or in one or more of the Exhibits attached hereto.
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.14 Landlord Exculpation and Consequential Damages. Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, and
notwithstanding any applicable law to the contrary, the liability of Landlord and the Landlord Parties under this Lease (including any
successor landlord) and any recourse by Tenant against Landlord or the Landlord Parties shall be limited solely and exclusively to the
ownership interest of Landlord in the Project (including any insurance and other proceeds thereof), and neither Landlord, nor any of the
Landlord Parties shall have any personal liability therefor, and Tenant hereby expressly waives and releases such personal liability on
behalf of itself and all persons claiming by, through or under Tenant. Except as expressly set forth in this Lease, in no event shall
Landlord or Tenant be liable to the other for any consequential, special or indirect damages arising out of this Lease including lost
profits.

15 Entire Agreement. There are no oral agreements between the parties hereto affecting this Lease and this Lease
supersedes and cancels any and all previous negotiations, arrangements, brochures, agreements and understandings, if any, between the
parties hereto or displayed by Landlord to Tenant with respect to the subject matter thereof, and none thereof shall be used to interpret or
construe this Lease. This Lease and any side letter or separate agreement executed by Landlord and Tenant in connection with this Lease
and dated of even date herewith contain all of the terms, covenants, conditions, warranties and agreements of the parties relating in any
manner to the rental, use and occupancy of the Premises, shall be considered to be the only agreement between the parties hereto and
their representatives and agents, and none of the terms, covenants, conditions or provisions of this Lease can be modified, deleted or
added to except in writing signed by the parties hereto. All negotiations and oral agreements acceptable to both parties have been merged
into and are included herein. There are no other representations or warranties between the parties, and all reliance with respect to
representations is based totally upon the representations and agreements contained in this Lease.

.16 Right to Lease. Landlord reserves the absolute right to effect such other tenancies in the Building and/or any other
portion of the Project as Landlord in the exercise of its sole business judgment shall determine to best promote the interests of the
Project. Tenant does not rely on the fact, nor does Landlord represent, that any specific tenant or type or number of tenants shall, during
the Lease Term, occupy any space in the Building or the Project.

.17 Force Majeure. Any prevention, delay or stoppage due to strikes, lockouts, labor disputes, acts of God, inability to
obtain services, labor, or materials or reasonable substitutes therefor, governmental actions, civil commotions, fire or other casualty, and
other causes beyond the reasonable control of the party obligated to perform, except with respect to the obligations imposed with regard
to Rent and other charges to be paid by Tenant pursuant to this Lease and except with respect to Tenant’s obligations under the Tenant
Work Letter and Landlord’s obligations to timely pay any amounts due from Landlord under this Lease (collectively, the “Force
Majeure”), notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, shall excuse the performance of such party for a period
equal to any such prevention, delay or stoppage and, therefore, if this Lease specifies a time period for performance of an obligation of
either party, that time period shall be extended by the period of any delay in such party’s performance caused by a Force Majeure.

.18 Waiver of Redemption by Tenant. Tenant hereby waives for Tenant and for all those claiming under Tenant all right
now or hereafter existing to redeem by order or judgment of any court or by any legal process or writ, Tenant’s right of occupancy of the
Premises after any termination of this Lease.

.19 Notices. All notices, demands, statements or communications (collectively, “Notices”) given or required to be given
by either party to the other hereunder shall be in writing, shall be (A) sent by United States certified or registered mail, postage prepaid,
return receipt requested, (B) delivered by a nationally recognized overnight courier, or (C) delivered personally or sent by overnight
courier services that provides for proof of delivery (i) to Tenant at the appropriate address set forth in Section 5 of the Summary, or to
such other place as Tenant may from time to time designate in a Notice to Landlord; or (ii) to Landlord at the addresses set forth in
Section 3 of the Summary, or to such other firm or to such other place as Landlord may from time to time designate in a Notice to
Tenant. Any Notice will be deemed given on the date it is mailed as provided in this Section 24.19, the date overnight courier delivery is
made or upon the date personal delivery is made or rejected. If Tenant is notified of the identity and address of Landlord’s mortgagee or
ground lessor, Tenant shall give to such mortgagee or ground lessor written notice of any default by Landlord under the terms of this
Lease by registered or certified mail, and such mortgagee or ground lessor shall be given a reasonable opportunity to cure such default
prior to Tenant’s exercising any remedy available to Tenant.
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.20 Joint and Several. If there is more than one person or entity executing this Lease as Tenant, the obligations imposed
upon such persons and entities under this Lease are and shall be joint and several.

21 Representations. Each of Landlord and Tenant guarantees, warrants and represents that (a) it is duly incorporated or
otherwise established or formed and validly existing under the laws of its state of incorporation, establishment or formation, (b) it has
and is duly qualified to do business in the state in which the Project is located, (c) it has full corporate, partnership, trust, association or
other appropriate power and authority to enter into this Lease and to perform all Tenant’s obligations hereunder, (d) each person (and all
of the persons if more than one signs) signing this Lease on behalf of it is duly and validly authorized to do so and (e) neither (i) the
execution, delivery or performance of this Lease nor (ii) the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will violate or
conflict with any provision of documents or instruments under which it is constituted or to which it is a party.

.22 Jury Trial;_Attorneys’ Fees. IF EITHER PARTY COMMENCES LITIGATION AGAINST THE OTHER FOR THE
SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THIS LEASE, FOR DAMAGES FOR THE BREACH HEREOF OR OTHERWISE FOR
ENFORCEMENT OF ANY REMEDY HEREUNDER, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, THE PARTIES
HERETO AGREE TO AND HEREBY DO WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY. In the event of any such commencement of
litigation, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other party such costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees as may have been
incurred, including any and all costs incurred in enforcing, perfecting and executing such judgment.

.23 Governing Law. This Lease shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California.

.24 Submission of Lease. Submission of this instrument for examination or signature by Tenant does not constitute a
reservation of or an option for lease, and it is not effective as a lease or otherwise until execution and delivery by both Landlord and
Tenant.

.25 Brokers. Landlord and Tenant each hereby represents and warrants to the other party that it (i) has had no dealings
with any real estate broker or agent in connection with the negotiation of this Lease, excepting only the real estate brokers or agents
specified in Section 11 of the Summary (collectively, the “Brokers”), whose commissions shall be paid by Landlord pursuant to separate
agreements, and (ii) knows of no other real estate broker or agent who is entitled to a commission in connection with this Lease. Each
party agrees to indemnify and defend the other party against and hold the other party harmless from any and all claims, demands, losses,
liabilities, lawsuits, judgments, and costs and expenses (including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ fees) with respect to any
leasing commission or equivalent compensation alleged to be owing on account of the indemnifying party’s dealings with any real estate
broker or agent in connection with this Lease other than the Brokers.

.26 Independent Covenants. This Lease shall be construed as though the covenants herein between Landlord and Tenant
are independent and not dependent and Tenant hereby expressly waives the benefit of any statute to the contrary and agrees that if
Landlord fails to perform its obligations set forth herein, Tenant shall not be entitled to make any repairs or perform any acts hereunder at
Landlord’s expense or to any setoff of the Rent or other amounts owing hereunder against Landlord; provided, however, that the
foregoing shall in no way impair the right of Tenant to commence a separate action against Landlord for any violation by Landlord of the
provisions hereof so long as notice is first given to Landlord and any holder of a mortgage or deed of trust covering the Building, Project
or any portion thereof, of whose address Tenant has theretofore been notified, and an opportunity is granted to Landlord and such holder
to correct such violations as provided above.

.27 Building Name and Signage. Landlord shall have the right at any time to change the name(s) of the Building and
Project and to install, affix and maintain any and all signs on the exterior and on the interior of the Building and any portion of the
Project as Landlord may, in Landlord’s sole discretion, desire. Tenant shall not use the names of the Building or the Project or use
pictures or illustrations of the Building or the Project in advertising or other publicity, without the prior written consent of Landlord.

.28 Building Directory. If the Building contains a tenant name directory, Landlord shall include Tenant’s name and

location in the Building on one (1) line on the Building directory. The initial cost of such directory signage shall be paid for by Landlord,
but any subsequent charges thereto shall be at Tenant’s cost.
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.29 Confidentiality. Tenant acknowledges that the content of this Lease and any related documents are confidential
information. Tenant shall keep such confidential information strictly confidential and shall not disclose such confidential information to
any person or entity other than Tenant’s accountants, brokers, corporate board, attorneys, consultants, shareholders, potential assignees or
subtenants or any public reporting requirements or if Tenant is otherwise required to disclose any such information as required by any
applicable law, ruling, regulation or order. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord acknowledges that Tenant is a “reporting company”
under applicable Law and required to publicly file with, and report to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) with
respect to certain information that may include information regarding this Lease. Landlord agrees that Tenant’s disclosure of any
information regarding this Lease pursuant to the requirements of the SEC, including the filing of this Lease with the SEC, or otherwise as
required under applicable Law is expressly permitted under the terms of this Lease.

.30 Landlord’s Construction. Except as specifically set forth in this Lease or in the Tenant Work Letter: (i) Landlord has
no obligation to alter, remodel, improve, renovate, repair or decorate the Premises, the Building, the Project, or any part thereof; and
(ii) no representations or warranties respecting the condition of the Premises, the Building or the Project have been made by Landlord to
Tenant. Tenant acknowledges that prior to and during the Lease Term, Landlord (and/or any common area association) will be
completing construction and/or demolition work pertaining to various portions of the Building, the Premises and/or the Project, including
without limitation, landscaping and tenant improvements for premises for other tenants and, at Landlord’s sole election, such other
buildings, improvements, landscaping and other facilities within or as part of the Project as Landlord (and/or such common area
association) shall from time to time desire (collectively, the “Construction”). In connection with such Construction, Landlord may,
among other things, temporarily erect scaffolding or other necessary structures in the Building, limit or eliminate access to portions of the
Project, including portions of the common areas, or perform work in the Building and/or the Project, which work may create noise, dust
or leave debris in the Building and/or the Project. Subject to Section 6.7 above, and Landlord’s indemnity obligations in this Lease,
Tenant hereby agrees that such Construction and Landlord’s actions in connection with such Construction shall in no way constitute a
constructive eviction of Tenant nor entitle Tenant to any abatement of Rent. Landlord reserves full control over the Project to the extent
not inconsistent with Tenant’s enjoyment the same as provided in this Lease. This reservation includes Landlord’s right to subdivide the
Project and convert portions of the Project to condominium units, change the size of the Project by selling all or a portion of the Project
or adding real property and any improvements thereon to the Project; grant easements and licenses to third parties and maintain or
establish ownership of the Buildings separate from the fee title to the Project; provided, however, in each instance that it does not result
in any Tenant Impact.

31 Emergency_Generator;_ Bulk Lab Gas Tanks; and Trenching. Subject to Landlord’s approval, which shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed, Tenant may install, for Tenant’s own use, without the payment of any Rent or a license or similar fee
or charge, communications systems, back-up generators, bulk laboratory gas tanks, and other equipment related thereto (all such
equipment defined collectively as the “Additional Equipment”) in a location to be mutual and reasonably determined by Landlord and
Tenant. The physical appearance and the size of the location housing the Additional Equipment shall be subject to Landlord’s reasonable
approval, and Landlord may require Tenant to install screening around such Additional Equipment area, at Tenant’s sole cost and
expense, as reasonably designated by Landlord; provided, however, that to the extent such Additional Equipment area is located on
Project parking areas, the number of spaces so used shall commensurately reduce Landlord’s obligation to provide a particular number of
spaces to Tenant as otherwise set forth in this Lease. Tenant shall maintain such Additional Equipment, at Tenant’s sole cost and
expense. In the event Tenant elects to exercise its right to install such Additional Equipment other than as part of the Tenant
Improvements in accordance with the Work Letter, then Tenant shall give Landlord no less than forty-five (45) days prior written notice
thereof and, in such event, Tenant shall reimburse to Landlord the Actual Costs reasonably incurred by Landlord in reviewing and
approving (or disapproving) such Additional Equipment. Tenant shall remove such Additional Equipment upon the expiration or earlier
termination of this Lease and shall repair any damage to the Building or the Project caused by such removal and return the affected
portion of the Building and Project to the condition existing prior to the installation of such Additional Equipment, reasonable wear and
tear excepted. Such Additional Equipment shall be installed pursuant to plans and specifications approved by Landlord, which approval
will not be unreasonably withheld. Such Additional Equipment shall, in all instances, comply with the CC&R’s and all applicable
governmental laws, codes, rules and regulations. In addition, Tenant shall have the right to trench (subject to Landlord’s prior approval,
which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) in order to install reasonable conduit through which to “hard wire”
voice and data transmissions. Such trenching and installation shall be completed pursuant to specifications mutually and reasonably
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developed by Landlord and Tenant. Notwithstanding the terms of Section 15.2 of this Lease, Tenant shall not be required to remove any
underground conduit (and any cable or other equipment located therein) and restore the affected area to its original condition at the
expiration or earlier termination Lease Term. Tenant’s indemnity obligations shall apply to such Additional Equipment.

32 Net Lease. This Lease shall be deemed and construed to be an “absolute net lease” and, except as herein expressly
provided, Landlord shall receive all payments required to be made by Tenant free from all charges, assessments, impositions, expenses
and deductions of any and every kind or nature whatsoever. Landlord shall not be required to furnish any services or facilities or to make
any repairs, replacements or alterations of any kind in or on the Premises except as specifically provided herein.

33 Access Control. Landlord shall provide certain access control services for the Building on a 24 hours a day, 7 days a
week and 365 days a year basis. Tenant recognizes that any access control services provided by Landlord at the Building is for the
protection of Landlord’s property and under no circumstances shall Landlord be responsible for, and Tenant waives any rights with
respect to, providing security or other protection for Tenant or its employees, invitees or property in or about the Premises or the Project.

Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant, and Tenant hereby waives any claim against Landlord, for, and expressly assumes the risk of
(i) any unauthorized or criminal entry of third parties into the Premises or the Building, (ii) any damage to persons in or about the
Premises or the Project, or (iii) any loss of property in and about the Premises or the Building, by or from any unauthorized or criminal
acts of third parties, regardless of any action, inaction, failure, breakdown, malfunction and/or insufficiency of the security services
provided by Landlord but excluding the negligence and intentional misconduct of Landlord, its agents and employees.

.34 Good Faith; Reasonableness. Except where a different standard is expressly set forth in this Lease, any time the
consent of Landlord or Tenant is required under this Lease, such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed, and
whenever this Lease grants Landlord or Tenant the right to take action, exercise discretion, establish Rules and Regulations or make an
allocation or other determination, Landlord and Tenant shall act reasonably and in good faith.

.35 Prohibited Persons;_ Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and Anti-Money Laundering. Neither Tenant nor any of its
affiliates, nor any of their respective members, partners or other equity holders, and none of their respective officers, directors or
managers is, nor prior to or during the Lease Term, will they become a person or entity with whom U.S. persons or entities are restricted
from doing business under (a) the Patriot Act (as defined below), (b) any other requirements contained in the rules and regulations of the
Office of Foreign Assets Control, Department of the Treasury (“OFAC”) (including any “blocked” person or entity listed in the Annex to
Executive Order Nos. 12947, 13099 and 13224 and any modifications thereto or thereof or any other person or entity named on OFAC’s
Specially Designated Blocked Persons List) or (c) any other U.S. statute, Executive Order (including the September 24, 2001, Executive
Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit or Support Terrorism) or other
governmental action (collectively, “Prohibited Persons”). Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, for the purposes
of this Section 29.35, the phrase “Tenant nor any of its affiliates, nor any of their respective members, partners or other equity holders”
and all similar such phrases shall not include any holder of a direct or indirect interest in a publicly traded company whose shares are
listed and traded on a United States national stock exchange. Neither Landlord nor any of its affiliates, nor any of their respective
members, partners or other equity holders, and none of their respective officers, directors or managers is, nor prior to or during the Lease
Term, will they become Prohibited Persons (i.e., no such person or entity will be restricted from doing business under the Patriot Act,
OFAC or other U.S. statute or applicable Executive Order). Prior to and during the Lease Term, Landlord and Tenant, and to Landlord’s
and Tenant’s knowledge, their respective employees and any person acting on their behalf have at all times fully complied with, and are
currently in full compliance with, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 and any other applicable anti-bribery or anti-corruption
laws. Tenant is not entering into this Lease, directly or indirectly, in violation of any laws relating to drug trafficking, money laundering
or predicate crimes to money laundering. As used herein, “Patriot Act” shall mean the USA Patriot Act of 2001, 107 Public Law 56
(October 26, 2001) and all other statutes, orders, rules and regulations of the U.S. government and its various executive departments,
agencies and offices interpreting and implementing the Patriot Act.

.36 Signatures. The parties hereto consent and agree that this Lease may be signed and/or transmitted by facsimile, e-mail
of a .pdf document or using electronic signature technology (e.g., via DocuSign or similar electronic signature technology), and that such
signed electronic record shall be valid and as effective to bind the party
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so signing as a paper copy bearing such party’s handwritten signature. The parties further consent and agree that (1) to the extent a party
signs this Lease using electronic signature technology, by clicking “SIGN”, such party is signing this Lease electronically, and (2) the
electronic signatures appearing on this Lease shall be treated, for purposes of validity, enforceability and admissibility, the same as
handwritten signatures.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signatures on Next Page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have caused this Lease to be executed the day and date first above written.

“Landlord”:

ANGELO GORDON REAL ESTATE, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By:  /s/Louis Friedel
Name: Louis Friedel
Its: Vice President

“Tenant”:

XENCOR, INC,,
a Delaware corporation

By:  /s/Bassil Dahiyat
Name: Bassil Dahiyat, Ph.D.
Its: President & CEO
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EXHIBIT B

TENANT WORK LETTER

This Tenant Work Letter (“Tenant Work Letter”) shall set forth the terms and conditions relating to the construction of the
Premises. All references in this Tenant Work Letter to the “Lease” shall mean the relevant portions of the Lease to which this Tenant
Work Letter is attached as Exhibit B.

SECTION 1
BASE, SHELL AND CORE

Tenant shall accept the base, shell and core of the Premises (“Base, Shell and Core”) in its current “As-Is” condition existing as
of the date of the Lease and the Phase 1 Lease Commencement Date and Phase 2 Lease Commencement Date (as applicable). Except for
the Tenant Improvement Allowance set forth below, Landlord shall not be obligated to make or pay for any alterations or improvements
to the Premises, the Building or the Project.

SECTION 2

TENANT IMPROVEMENTS

2.1 Tenant Improvement Allowance. Tenant shall be entitled to (i) a one-time tenant improvement allowance (the “Tenant
Improvement Allowance”) in the amount of up to, but not exceeding Two Hundred Five Dollars ($205.00) per rentable square foot of
the Phase 1 Premises (i.e., up to Seventeen Million Thirty-Two Thousand Fifteen Dollars ($17,032,015.00) based on 83,083 rentable
square feet of the Phase 1 Premises) (the “Phase 1 Tenant Improvement Allowance”), and (ii) a one-time tenant improvement
allowance (the “Phase 2 Tenant Improvement Allowance”) in the amount up to, but not exceeding, Seventy Dollars ($70.00) per
rentable square foot of the Phase 2 Premises (i.e., up to Three Million Two Hundred Fifty-Two Thousand Two Hundred Dollars
($3,252,200.00) based on 46,460 rentable square feet in the Phase 2 Premises), to help Tenant pay for the costs of the design, permitting
and construction of Tenant’s initial improvements which are permanently affixed to the Phase 1 Premises and the Phase 2 Premises
(collectively, the “Tenant Improvements”); provided, however, that Landlord shall have no obligation to disburse all or any portion of
the Tenant Improvement Allowance nor any portion of the Additional Phase 1 Allowance (if any) nor any portion of the Additional
Phase 2 Allowance (if any) to Tenant unless Tenant makes a request for disbursement pursuant to the terms and conditions of Section 2.2
below prior to that date which is twelve (12) months after the Phase 1 Lease Commencement Date pertaining to the Phase 1 Tenant
Improvement Allowance and Additional Phase 2 Allowance (if any) (the “Phase 1 Allowance Outside Date”) and twelve (12) months
after the Phase 2 Lease Commencement Date for the Phase 2 Tenant Improvement Allowance and the Additional Phase 2 Allowance (if
any) (the “Phase 2 Allowance Outside Date”), excluding in each instance pending requests for disbursements made prior to the
expiration of such 12-month periods. In no event shall Landlord be obligated to make disbursements for the Tenant Improvements
pursuant to this Tenant Work Letter in a total amount which exceeds the Tenant Improvement Allowance, the Additional Phase 1
Allowance or the Additional Phase 2 Allowance. Tenant shall not be entitled to receive any cash payment or credit against Rent or
otherwise for any unused portion of the Tenant Improvement Allowance, the Additional Phase 1 Allowance or the Additional Phase 2
Allowance which is not used to pay for the Tenant Improvement Allowance Items (as defined below). Notwithstanding anything above
to the contrary, Tenant shall have the option, exercisable upon written notice to Landlord prior to the Phase 1 Allowance Outside Date, to
receive a one-time additional improvement allowance (the “Additional Phase 1 Allowance”) in the amount not to exceed Sixty Dollars
($60.00) per rentable square foot of the Phase 1 Premises, (i.e., up to Four Million Nine Hundred Eighty-Four Thousand Nine Hundred
Eighty Dollars ($4,984,980.00) based on 83,083 rentable square feet in the Phase 1 Premises). In the event Tenant exercises such option
and as consideration for Landlord providing such Additional Phase 1 Allowance to Tenant, the initial Base Rent payable by Tenant
throughout the entire Lease Term for the Phase 1 Premises shall be increased by a stipulated amount equal to six cents ($0.06) per
rentable square foot of the Phase 1 Premises for each Ten Dollars ($10.00) of the Additional Phase 1 Allowance disbursed by Landlord
and the Base Rent schedule set forth in Section 8 of the Summary shall be revised to reflect such increased initial Base Rent and annual
increases of such Base Rent for all time periods under the Lease. Such revised Base Rent schedule
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shall be memorialized in an amendment to the Lease to be executed by Landlord and Tenant. In addition, Tenant shall have the option,
exercisable upon written notice to Landlord prior to the Phase 2 Allowance Outside Date, to receive a one-time additional improvement
allowance (the “Additional Phase 2 Allowance”) in the amount not to exceed Sixty Dollars ($60.00) per rentable square foot of the
Phase 2 Premises, (i.e., up to Two Million Seven Hundred Eighty-Seven Thousand Six Hundred Dollars ($2,787,600.00) based on
46,460 rentable square feet in the Phase 2 Premises). In the event Tenant exercises such option and as consideration for Landlord
providing such Additional Phase 2 Allowance to Tenant, the Base Rent payable by Tenant throughout the Lease Term for the Phase 2
Premises shall be increased by a stipulated amount equal to six cents ($0.06) per square foot of the Phase 2 Premises for each Ten Dollars
($10.00) of the Additional Phase 2 Allowance disbursed by Landlord. Such revised Base Rent shall be memorialized in an amendment
to the Lease to be executed by Landlord and Tenant. The Tenant Improvement Allowance, the Additional Phase 1 Allowance and the
Additional Phase 2 Allowance may collectively be referred to herein as the “Allowances”. In no event shall Landlord be obligated to
make disbursements for the cost of the Tenant Improvements pursuant to this Tenant Work Letter in a total amount which exceeds the
Allowances.

2.2 Disbursement of the Allowances.

2.2.1  Tenant Improvement Allowance Items. Except as otherwise set forth in this Tenant Work Letter, the
Allowances shall be disbursed by Landlord only for the following items and costs (collectively, the “Tenant Improvement Allowance
Items”):

2.2.1.1 Payment of the fees of the Architect and the Engineers (as such terms are defined below);

2.2.1.2 The payment of plan check, permit and license fees relating to construction of the Tenant
Improvements;

2.2.1.3 The cost of construction of the Tenant Improvements, including, without limitation, contractors’ fees
and general conditions, testing and inspection costs, costs of utilities, trash removal, parking and hoists, and the costs of after-hours
freight elevator usage.

2.2.1.4 The cost of any changes in the Base, Shell and Core work when such changes are required by the
Construction Drawings (including if such changes are due to the fact that such work is prepared on an unoccupied basis) and are not
incurred to correct any Code violation with respect to the Base, Shell and Core construction at the time the same was constructed (the
cost of which shall be borne solely by Landlord), such cost to include all direct architectural and/or engineering fees and expenses
incurred in connection therewith;

2.2.1.5 The cost of any changes to the Construction Drawings or Tenant Improvements required by
applicable laws and building codes (collectively, the “Code”) and are not incurred to correct any Code violation with respect to the Base,
Shell and Core which existed at the time the same was constructed (the cost of which shall be borne solely by Landlord);

2.2.1.6 Sales and use taxes and Title 24 fees; and

2.2.1.7 All other costs to be expended by Tenant in connection with the design, permitting and construction
of the Tenant Improvements.

2.2.2  Disbursement of Allowances. Subject to Section 2.1 above, during the construction of the Tenant
Improvements, Landlord shall make monthly disbursements of the Allowances for Tenant Improvement Allowance Items for the benefit
of Tenant and shall authorize the release of monies for the benefit of Tenant as follows:

2.2.2.1 Monthly Disbursements. On or before the first (15t) day of each calendar month during the
construction of the Tenant Improvements (or such other date as Landlord may designate) (“Submittal Date”), Tenant shall deliver to
Landlord: (i) a request for payment of the Contractor (as defined below), approved by Tenant, in the form of a current form of an ATA
Form G702 Application for Payment and Form G703 Continuation Sheet for G702, or other equivalent form requested by Tenant, and
acceptable to Landlord, in its reasonable discretion;
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(ii) invoices from all of Tenant’s Agents (as defined below) for labor rendered and materials delivered to the Premises which are the
subject of the request for payment; (iii) executed mechanic’s lien releases (which lien releases shall be conditional with respect to the
then-requested payment amounts and unconditional with respect to payment amounts previously disbursed by Landlord) from all of
Tenant’s Agents which shall comply with the appropriate provisions of California Civil Code Section 8138; and (iv) all other documents
and information which is to accompany an AIA Form G702 Application for Payment and Form G703 Continuation Sheet for G702 (or
equivalent form acceptable to Landlord, in its reasonable discretion) (collectively, the “Monthly Draw Request”). Landlord shall notify
Tenant of Landlord’s approval or reasonable disapproval of such Monthly Draw Request, or portion thereof, within ten (10) days after the
later of the applicable Submittal Date therefor and Landlord’s receipt of such Monthly Draw Request (the “Draw Request Approval
Period”). Within thirty (30) days after the later of the Submittal Date and Landlord’s receipt of such Monthly Draw Request, as to those
portions of the applicable Monthly Draw Request which Landlord has approved during the Draw Request Approval Period, Landlord
shall pay directly to Contractor (unless Tenant has notified Landlord that it requires that Landlord deliver a check to Tenant made jointly
payable to Contractor and Tenant) and a separate direct payment to Tenant for (x) retention equal to ten percent (10%) of such Monthly
Draw Request to be held by Tenant pursuant to its construction contract with the Contractor excluding the Non-Construction Allowance
Items (as defined below) as to which no retention shall be required as between Landlord and Tenant, and (y) that portion, if any, of the
requested amount representing reimbursement to Tenant of amounts previously paid directly by Tenant to the Contractor or any other
person or entity entitled to payment as described in clause (i) hereinabove but only if Tenant included in such Monthly Draw Request
paid receipts evidencing such payment by Tenant in payment of the lesser of (A) the amounts so requested in such Monthly Draw
Request which have been approved by Landlord for payment during the Draw Request Approval Period, and (B) the balance of any
remaining available portion of the Allowances, excluding such portions of the Monthly Draw Request for payment for work that
Landlord determines and asserts in good faith is materially non-compliant with the Approved Working Drawings (defined below). In the
event that Landlord identifies any such material non-compliance with the Approved Working Drawings, Landlord shall provide Tenant
with a detailed statement identifying the same, and, if Tenant does not in good faith dispute Landlord’s determination and notify
Landlord thereof within three (3) business days after Landlord notified Tenant of such determination, Tenant shall cause such work to be
corrected to eliminate such material non-compliance. In the event Tenant timely and in good faith disputes Landlord’s determination that
such material non-compliance exists, and/or the parties cannot resolve any other dispute regarding Landlord’s payment of any disputed or
disapproved amounts in any such Monthly Draw Request, the applicable dispute shall be resolved by agreement of the Landlord’s
architect and Tenant’s Architect. Following such resolution, any amounts subsequently approved for payment from such Monthly Draw
Request shall be made within thirty (30) days of such resolution and otherwise in accordance with the payment procedures for any
approved Monthly Draw Request. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to fees and expenses of the Architect and Engineers, the
payment of plan check, permit and license fees relating to construction of the Tenant Improvements, and any other pre-construction items
for which the payment scheme set forth hereinabove is not applicable (collectively, the “Non-Construction Allowance Items”),
Landlord shall make disbursements of the Tenant Improvement Allowance therefor on a monthly basis following Landlord’s receipt of
invoices and other reasonable evidence that Tenant has incurred the cost for the applicable Non-Construction Allowance Items (unless
Landlord has received a preliminary notice in connection with such costs, in which event conditional lien releases must be submitted in
connection with such costs) and such other information and documentation reasonably required by Landlord.

2.2.2.2 Final Disbursement. Subject to the provisions of this Tenant Work Letter, in addition to meeting the
requirements of Section 2.2.2.1 applicable thereto, payment of the final Monthly Draw Request shall be made by Landlord following the
completion of construction of the applicable portion of the Premises, provided that (i) Tenant has delivered to Landlord: (A) properly
executed and final unconditional mechanics lien releases in compliance with applicable California law; (B) a certificate of occupancy or
permit cards signed off by the City of Pasadena (the “City”) with respect to the Premises; (C) as-built plans and City-permitted plans for
the Tenant Improvements; (D) operation manuals and warranties for equipment included within the Tenant Improvements and paid for
with Allowance funds, if applicable; (E) copy of the contract with the Contractor; (F) copy of the Contractor’s certificate of insurance,
including Additional Insured endorsement naming Landlord (and any other party reasonably requested by Landlord) as additional
insureds; and (G) the Contractor’s schedule of values, showing total contract value.

2.2.2.3 Other Terms. Landlord shall only be obligated to make disbursements from the Tenant Improvement
Allowance to the extent costs are incurred by Tenant for Tenant Improvement Allowance Items.
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SECTION 3

CONSTRUCTION DRAWINGS

3.1 Selection of Architect/Construction Drawings. Tenant shall retain the architect/space planner (the “Architect”)
approved by Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, to prepare the Construction Drawings. Tenant shall retain the
engineering consultants designated by Landlord (the “Engineers”) to prepare all plans and engineering working drawings relating to the
structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, HVAC, lifesafety, and sprinkler work in the applicable portion of the Premises; provided that
Tenant has selected, and Landlord has approved, Tenant’s design team consisting of Gensler (Architect), exp (Engineers), and Miyamoto
(structural Engineers). The plans and drawings to be prepared by Architect and the Engineers hereunder shall be known collectively as
the “Construction Drawings.” All Construction Drawings shall comply with the drawing format and specifications reasonably
determined by Landlord as specified to Tenant prior to execution of the Lease, and shall be subject to Landlord’s approval; provided,
however, Landlord shall only disapprove any such Construction Drawing to the extent of a “Design Problem,” as that term is defined
below. Tenant and Architect shall verify, in the field, the dimensions and conditions as shown on the relevant portions of the base
building plans, and Tenant and Architect shall be solely responsible for the same, and Landlord shall have no responsibility in connection
therewith. Landlord’s review of the Construction Drawings as set forth in this Section 3, shall be for its sole purpose and shall not imply
Landlord’s review of the same, or obligate Landlord to review the same, for quality, design, code compliance or other like matters.
Accordingly, notwithstanding that any Construction Drawings are reviewed by Landlord or its space planner, architect, engineers and
consultants, and notwithstanding any advice or assistance which may be rendered to Tenant by Landlord or Landlord’s space planner,
architect, engineers, and consultants, Landlord shall have no liability whatsoever in connection therewith and shall not be responsible for
any omissions or errors contained in the Construction Drawings; provided that Landlord shall have provided Tenant with as-built plans
and specifications for the Base, Shell and Core (to the extent available) that Tenant, the Architect, Engineers and Tenant’s other design
professionals and contractors shall be entitled to rely on (but with no liability to Landlord in the event of any inaccuracy) in connection
with the design and construction of the Tenant Improvements. A “Design Problem” is defined as, and shall be deemed to exist if there
could be (i) an effect on the exterior appearance of the Building, (ii) a material, adverse effect on the Base, Shell and Core portions of the
Building, (iii) a material adverse effect on the Building Systems or the operation and maintenance thereof, (iv) any failure to comply with
Applicable Laws and (v) as to the Final Space Plan (as defined below), is materially inconsistent with the Preliminary Space Plan (as
defined below).

3.2 Final Space Plan. Attached hereto as Schedule 1 is Tenant’s preliminary space plan for the Premises (the
“Preliminary Space Plan”). Landlord and Tenant hereby approve the Preliminary Space Plan. Based on the Preliminary Space Plan,
Tenant shall supply Landlord with an electronic copy signed by Tenant of its final space plan for the applicable portion of the Premises
before any architectural working drawings or engineering drawings have been commenced. The final space plan (the “Final Space
Plan”) shall include a layout and designation of all offices, rooms and other partitioning, their intended use, and equipment to be
contained therein. Landlord may request clarification or more specific drawings for special use items not included in the Final Space
Plan. Landlord shall advise Tenant within five (5) business days after Landlord’s receipt of the Final Space Plan for the Premises if the
same is unsatisfactory or incomplete in any respect; provided, however, Landlord shall only disapprove such Final Space Plans to the
extent of a Design Problem. Landlord shall advise Tenant within five (5) business days after Landlord’s receipt of the Final Space Plan
for the Premises if the same is unsatisfactory or incomplete in any respect. Landlord shall set forth with reasonable specificity in what
respect the Final Space Plan is unsatisfactory or incomplete (based upon a commercially reasonable standard). If Tenant is so advised,
Tenant shall promptly direct the Architect to cause the Final Space Plan to be revised to correct any deficiencies or other matters
Landlord may reasonably require, and immediately thereafter Architect shall promptly re-submit the Final Space Plan to Landlord for its
approval. Such procedure shall continue until the Final Space Plan is approved by Landlord. The foregoing Final Space Plan procedure,
and the submissions/approvals related thereto, may, at Tenant’s election, be conducted on a floor-by-floor basis. Any failure of Landlord
to respond to any request for approval within the specified period for such approval shall constitute Landlord’s approval of such
submission.

3.3 Final Working Drawings. After the Final Space Plan has been approved by Landlord and Tenant, Tenant shall
promptly cause the Architect and the Engineers to complete the architectural and engineering drawings for the applicable portion of the
Premises, and cause the Architect to compile a fully coordinated set of architectural,
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structural, mechanical, electrical and plumbing working drawings in a form which is complete to allow subcontractors to bid on the work
and to obtain all applicable permits for the Tenant Improvements (collectively, the “Final Working Drawings”), and shall submit the
same to Landlord for Landlord’s approval. Tenant shall supply Landlord with an electronic copy signed by Tenant of such Final Working
Drawings. Landlord shall, within five (5) business days after Landlord’s receipt of all of the Final Working Drawings, either (i) approve
the Final Working Drawings, (ii) approve the Final Working Drawings subject to specified conditions, which conditions must be stated in
a reasonably clear and complete manner, and shall only be conditions reasonably intended to address a potential Design Problem, or
(iii) disapprove and return the Construction Drawings to Tenant with requested revisions; provided, however, Landlord shall only
disapprove such Final Working Drawings to the extent of a Design Problem. If Landlord disapproves the Final Working Drawings,
Tenant may resubmit the Final Working Drawings to Landlord at any time, and Landlord shall approve or disapprove the resubmitted
Final Working Drawings, based upon the criteria set forth in this Section 3.3, within three (3) business days after Landlord receives such
resubmitted Final Working Drawings. Such procedure shall be repeated until the Final Working Drawings are approved. The foregoing
Final Working Drawings procedure, and the submissions/approvals related thereto, may, at Tenant’s election, be conducted on a floor-by-
floor basis. Any failure of Landlord to respond to any request for approval within the specified period for such approval shall constitute
Landlord’s approval of such submission.

34 Approved Working Drawings. The Final Working Drawings shall be approved by Landlord (the “Approved Working
Drawings”) prior to the commencement of construction of the Premises by Tenant. After approval by Landlord of the Final Working
Drawings, Tenant may submit the same to the appropriate municipal authorities for all applicable building permits. Tenant hereby agrees
that neither Landlord nor Landlord’s consultants shall be responsible for obtaining any building permit or certificate of occupancy for the
Premises and that obtaining the same shall be Tenant’s responsibility; provided, however, that Landlord shall cooperate with Tenant in
executing permit applications and performing other ministerial acts reasonably necessary to enable Tenant to obtain any such permit or
certificate of occupancy. No changes, modifications or alterations in the Approved Working Drawings may be made without the prior
written consent of Landlord, provided, however, that Landlord may only disapprove of any such change to the extent the necessary to
eliminate a Design Problem. The foregoing Approved Working Drawings procedure, and the submissions/approvals related thereto, may,
at Tenant’s election, be conducted on a floor-by-floor basis. Any failure of Landlord to respond to any request for approval within the
specified period for such approval and if such failure continues for one (1) additional business day after Tenant’s second request for
approval, shall constitute Landlord’s approval of such submission.

SECTION 4

CONSTRUCTION OF THE TENANT IMPROVEMENTS

4.1 Tenant’s Selection of Contractor and Tenant’s Agents.

4.1.1 The Contractor. Tenant shall select and retain a general contractor to construct the Tenant Improvements
through a competitive bidding process which shall include general contractors approved by Landlord. The general contractor chosen by
Tenant and preapproved by Landlord is DPR Construction (the “Contractor”). Tenant acknowledges and agrees that Tenant shall be
obligated to construct the Tenant Improvements for all square footage comprising the applicable portion of the Premises (i.e., the Phase 1
Premises and the Phase 2 Premises) as part of one complete project and once such construction is commenced, Tenant shall diligently
prosecute the completion of the same.

4.1.2 Tenant’s Agents. All subcontractors, laborers, materialmen, and suppliers used by Tenant (such
subcontractors, laborers, materialmen, and suppliers, and the Contractor to be known collectively as “Tenant’s Agents”) who are “major
trades” with respect to the construction of the Tenant Improvements must be approved in writing by Landlord, which approval shall not
be unreasonably withheld or delayed; provided that, in any event, Tenant must contract with Landlord’s base building subcontractors for
any mechanical, electrical, plumbing, life safety, structural, and HVAC work in the Premises provided such subcontractors are properly
qualified for such work. Tenant’s Agents shall not be required to be or employ union labor, including under master labor agreements
existing between trade unions and the local chapter of the Associated General Contractors of America.
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4.2 Construction of Tenant Improvements by Tenant’s Agents.

4.2.1 Construction Contract; Cost Budget. Prior to Tenant’s execution of the construction contract and general
conditions with Contractor (the “Contract”), Tenant shall submit the Contract to Landlord for its approval, which approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed. Prior to the commencement of the construction of the Tenant Improvements, and after Tenant has
accepted all bids for the Tenant Improvements, Tenant shall provide Landlord with a written detailed cost breakdown (the “Final Costs
Statement”), by trade, of the final costs to be incurred, or which have been incurred, as set forth more particularly in Section 2.2.1.1
through 2.2.1.8 above, in connection with the design, permitting and construction of the Tenant Improvements to be performed by or at
the direction of Tenant or the Contractor (which costs form a basis for the amount of the Contract, if any (the “Final Costs™).

4.2.2 Tenant’s Agents.

4.2.2.1 Landlord’s General Conditions for Tenant’s Agents and Tenant Improvement Work. Tenant’s and
Tenant’s Agents’ construction of the Tenant Improvements shall comply with the following: (i) the Tenant Improvements shall be
constructed in strict accordance with the Approved Working Drawings; (ii) Tenant and Tenant’s Agents shall not, in any way, interfere
with, obstruct, or delay, the work of Landlord’s base building contractor and subcontractors with respect to the Base, Shell and Core or
any other work in the Building or Project; (iii) to the extent not included in the construction schedule most recently made available to
Landlord, Tenant’s Agents shall submit schedules of all work relating to the Tenant’s Improvements to Contractor and Contractor shall,
within five (5) business days after Tenant’s receipt thereof, inform Tenant’s Agents of any changes which are necessary thereto, and
Tenant’s Agents shall adhere to such corrected schedule; and (iv) Tenant shall abide by all commercially reasonable rules made by
Landlord’s Building contractor or Landlord’s Building manager with respect to the use of freight, loading dock and service elevators,
storage of materials, coordination of work with the contractors of other tenants, and any other matter in connection with this Tenant Work
Letter, including, without limitation, the construction of the Tenant Improvements.

4.2.2.2 Coordination Fee. Tenant shall pay a logistical coordination fee (the “Coordination Fee”) to
Landlord in an amount equal to Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars ($75,000.00), which Coordination Fee shall be charged to Tenant with
respect to the Tenant Improvements.

4.2.2.3 Indemnity. Tenant’s and Landlord’s indemnifications of each other, as well as their mutual waivers
of consequential damages, both pursuant to the terms of the Lease, shall also apply to Tenant’s construction of the Tenant Improvements.
With regard to Tenant’s indemnity, the same shall also apply with respect to any and all costs, losses, damages, injuries and liabilities for
personal injury and property damage related in any way to any act or omission of Tenant or Tenant’s Agents, or anyone directly or
indirectly employed by any of them, or in connection with Tenant’s non-payment of any amount arising out of the Tenant Improvements
and/or Tenant’s disapproval of all or any portion of any request for payment, except to the extent caused by the negligence of willful
misconduct of the Landlord Parties. Such indemnity by Tenant, as set forth in this Lease, shall also apply with respect to any and all
costs, losses, damages, injuries and liabilities related in any way to Landlord’s performance of any ministerial acts reasonably necessary
(i) to permit Tenant to complete the Tenant Improvements, and (ii) to enable Tenant to obtain any building permit or certificate of
occupancy for the Premises, again except to the extent caused by the negligence of willful misconduct of the Landlord Parties.

4.2.2.4 Insurance Requirements.

4.2.2.4.1 General Coverages. All of Tenant’s Agents shall carry worker’s compensation insurance
covering all of their respective employees, and shall also carry public liability insurance, including property damage, all with limits, in
form and with companies, as are customarily carried by contractors performing construction projects substantially similar to the Tenant
Improvements.

4.2.2.4.2 Special Coverages. Tenant shall carry “Builder’s All Risk” insurance in an amount equal
to the full replacement cost of the improvements being constructed by Tenant, and such other insurance as Landlord may reasonably
require, it being understood and agreed that the Tenant Improvements shall be insured by Tenant pursuant to the Lease immediately upon
completion thereof. Such insurance shall be in amounts
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and shall include such extended coverage endorsements as may be reasonably required by Landlord, and in form and with companies as
are required to be carried by Tenant as set forth in the Lease.

4.2.2.4.3 General Terms. Certificates for all insurance carried pursuant to this Section 4.2.2.4 shall
be delivered to Landlord before the commencement of construction of the Tenant Improvements and before the Contractor’s equipment
is moved onto the site. All such policies of insurance must contain a provision that the company writing said policy will give Landlord
thirty (30) days prior written notice of any cancellation or lapse of the effective date or any reduction in the amounts of such insurance.
If the Tenant Improvements are damaged by any cause during the course of the construction thereof other than due to the negligence of
Landlord or any Landlord Party (which shall be Landlord’s responsibility), Tenant shall immediately repair the same at Tenant’s sole cost
and expense. All policies carried under this Section 4.2.2.4 shall insure Landlord and Tenant, as their interests may appear, as well as
Contractor and Tenant’s Agents, and shall name as additional insureds Landlord’s mortgagees and ground lessors of the Building and any
other parties reasonably specified by Landlord. All insurance, except Workers’ Compensation, maintained by Tenant’s Agents shall
preclude subrogation claims by the insurer against anyone insured thereunder. Such insurance shall provide that it is primary insurance
as respects the owner and that any other insurance maintained by owner is excess and noncontributing with the insurance required
hereunder. The requirements for the foregoing insurance shall not derogate from the provisions for indemnification under Section 4.2.2.3
of this Tenant Work Letter.

4.2.3  Governmental Compliance. The Tenant Improvements shall comply in all respects with the following: (i) the
Code and other state, federal, city or quasi-governmental laws, codes, ordinances and regulations, as each may apply according to the
rulings of the controlling public official, agent or other person; (ii) applicable standards of the American Insurance Association (formerly,
the National Board of Fire Underwriters) and the National Electrical Code; and (iii) building material manufacturer’s specifications.

4.2.4  Inspection by Landlord. Landlord shall have the right to inspect the Tenant Improvements at all times subject
to compliance with Contractor’s workplace safety and security requirements, provided however, that Landlord’s failure to inspect the
Tenant Improvements shall in no event constitute a waiver of any of Landlord’s rights hereunder nor shall Landlord’s inspection of the
Tenant Improvements constitute Landlord’s approval of the same. Should Landlord disapprove any portion of the Tenant Improvements
due a failure to comply with the Approved Working Drawings, Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing of such disapproval and shall
specify the items disapproved. Any such defects or deviations in, and/or disapproval by Landlord of, the Tenant Improvements shall be
rectified by Tenant at no expense to Landlord.

4.2.5 Meetings. Commencing upon the execution of the Lease, Tenant shall hold weekly meetings at a reasonable
time, with the Architect and the Contractor regarding the progress of the preparation of Construction Drawings and the construction of
the Tenant Improvements, which meetings shall be held at a location designated by Tenant (which may be virtual) or on the Project site,
and Landlord and/or its agents shall receive prior notice of, and shall have the right to attend, all such meetings, and, upon Landlord’s
request, certain of Tenant’s Agents shall attend such meetings. In addition, minutes shall be taken at all such meetings, a copy of which
minutes shall be promptly delivered to Landlord.

4.3 Notice of Completion; Copy _of “As Built” Plans. Within ten (10) days after completion of construction of the Tenant
Improvements, Tenant shall cause a Notice of Completion to be recorded in the office of the Recorder of the County in which the
Building is located in accordance with Section 3093 of the Civil Code of the State of California or any successor statute, and shall
furnish a copy thereof to Landlord. At the conclusion of construction, (i) Tenant shall cause the Architect and Contractor (A) to update
the Approved Working Drawings as necessary to reflect all changes made to the Approved Working Drawings during the course of
construction, (B) to certify to their knowledge that the “record-set” of as-built drawings are true and correct, which certification shall
survive the expiration or termination of the Lease, (C) to deliver to Landlord two (2) sets of sepias of such as-built drawings within
ninety (90) days following issuance of a certificate of occupancy for the Premises, and (D) to deliver to Landlord a computer disk
containing the Approved Working Drawings in AutoCAD format, and (ii) Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a copy of all warranties,
guaranties, and operating manuals and information relating to the improvements, equipment, and systems in the Premises that were paid
for out of Allowance funds without representation or warranty as to the correctness or completeness thereof.
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44 Coordination by Tenant’s Agents with Landlord. Upon Tenant’s delivery of the Contract to Landlord under
Section 4.2.1 of this Tenant Work Letter, Tenant shall furnish Landlord with a schedule setting forth the projected date of the completion
of the Tenant Improvements and showing the critical time deadlines for each phase, item or trade relating to the construction of the
Tenant Improvements.

4.5 Landlord Caused Delays. To the extent there shall be a delay or there are delays in the “Substantial Completion of the
Tenant Improvements,” as that term is defined in Section 4.3, below, due to a “Landlord Caused Delay,” then the applicable Lease
Commencement Date shall be extended for each “Landlord Delay Day,” as that term is defined in Section 4.6, below. As used in this
Tenant Work Letter, “Landlord Caused Delay” shall mean actual delays to the extent resulting from the acts or omissions of Landlord
including, but not limited to (i) failure of Landlord to timely approve or disapprove any Construction Drawings within the time period set
forth herein; (ii) material interference by Landlord, its agents, employees or contractors with the Substantial Completion of the Tenant
Improvements and which objectively preclude or delay the construction of Tenant Improvements in the Building by any person, which
interference relates to access by Tenant, or the Contractor to the Building or any Building facilities (including loading docks and freight
elevators) or service (including temporary power and parking areas as provided herein to the extent within Landlord’s reasonable control)
during normal construction hours, or the use thereof during normal construction hours; (iii) delays due to the acts or failures to act of
Landlord, its agents, employees or contractors including without limitation any such acts or failures to act with respect to payment of the
Allowances as provided herein.

4.6 Determination of a Landlord Caused Delay. If Tenant contends that a Landlord Caused Delay has occurred, Tenant
shall notify Landlord in writing (the “Delay Notice”) of the event that it contends constitutes such Landlord Caused Delay. If such
actions, inaction or circumstance described in the Delay Notice are not cured by Landlord within two (2) business days of Landlord’s
receipt of the Delay Notice and if such action, inaction or circumstance otherwise qualify as a Landlord Caused Delay, then a Landlord
Caused Delay shall be deemed to have occurred during the period commencing as of the date of Tenant’s effective delivery of the Delay
Notice (pursuant to the notice provisions of the Lease) and ending as of the date such delay ends. To the extent the same delays the
Substantial Completion of the Tenant Improvements, each day during such period shall be referred to herein as a “Landlord Delay
Day.”

4.7 Substantial Completion of Tenant Improvements. For purposes of this Tenant Work Letter, “Substantial Completion
of Tenant Improvements” shall occur upon: (i) the completion of construction of the Tenant Improvements in the Premises pursuant to
the Approved Working Drawings, with the exception of any punch-list items which are of such a nature that they will not materially and
adversely interfere with Tenant’s ability to commence its business operations from the Premises (which punch-list items shall be
diligently completed by Tenant thereafter); and (ii) the issuance of a temporary certificate of occupancy, or equivalent sign-off, from the
City of Pasadena permitting occupancy of the Premises.

SECTION 5
MISCELLANEOUS

5.1 Tenant’s Entry Into the Premises. Commencing on the Phase 1 Delivery Date (with respect to the Phase 1 Premises)
and commencing on the Phase 2 Delivery Date (with respect to the Phase 2 Premises), Landlord shall allow Tenant access to the
applicable portion of the Premises for the sole purpose of Tenant performing the Tenant Improvement work (including installing trade
fixtures and equipment) in the applicable portion of the Premises and without the obligation to pay Rent until the applicable Lease
Commencement Date. Tenant further acknowledges and agrees that Landlord shall not be liable for any injury, loss or damage which
may occur to any of Tenant’s work made in or about the Premises in connection with such entry or to any property placed therein prior to
the applicable Lease Commencement Date, the same being at Tenant’s sole risk and liability except to the extent arising out of the
negligence or intentional misconduct of Landlord or any Landlord Party. Tenant shall be liable to Landlord for any damage to any
portion of the Premises, including the Tenant Improvement work, caused by Tenant or any of Tenant’s employees, agents, contractors,
consultants, workmen, mechanics, suppliers and invitees.
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5.2 Tenant’s Representative. Tenant has designated Jim Serbia of Serbia Consulting Group as its sole representative with
respect to the matters set forth in this Tenant Work Letter, who shall have full authority and responsibility to act on behalf of the Tenant
as required in this Tenant Work Letter.

5.3 Landlord’s Representative. Landlord has designated Stephen Lindgren as its sole representative with respect to the
matters set forth in this Tenant Work Letter, who, until further notice to Tenant, shall have full authority and responsibility to act on
behalf of the Landlord as required in this Tenant Work Letter.

5.4 Time of the Essence in This Tenant Work Letter. Unless otherwise indicated, all references herein to a “number of
days” shall mean and refer to calendar days. If any item requiring approval is timely disapproved by Landlord, the procedure for
preparation of the document and approval thereof shall be repeated until the document is approved by Landlord.

5.5 Tenant’s Lease Default. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained in the Lease, if an event of default by
Tenant of this Tenant Work Letter or the Lease has occurred at any time on or before the substantial completion of any portion of the
Premises, then (i) in addition to all other rights and remedies granted to Landlord pursuant to the Lease, at law and/or in equity, Landlord
shall have the right to withhold payment of all or any portion of the Tenant Improvement Allowance and/or Landlord may cause
Contractor to cease the construction of the Premises (in which case, Tenant shall be responsible for any delay in the substantial
completion of the Premises caused by such work stoppage), and (ii) all other obligations of Landlord under the terms of this Tenant Work
Letter shall be forgiven until such time as such default is cured pursuant to the terms of the Lease (in which case, Tenant shall be
responsible for any delay in the substantial completion of the Premises caused by such inaction by Landlord). In addition, if the Lease is
terminated prior to the Lease Commencement Date, for any reason due to a default by Tenant as described in Section 19.1 of the Lease or
under this Tenant Work Letter, in addition to any other remedies available to Landlord under the Lease, at law and/or in equity, Tenant
shall pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent under the Lease, within five (5) business days after Tenant’s receipt of a statement therefor, any
and all costs (if any) incurred by Landlord (including any portion of the Tenant Improvement Allowance disbursed by Landlord) and not
reimbursed or otherwise paid by Tenant through the date of such termination in connection with the Tenant Improvements to the extent
planned, installed and/or constructed as of such date of termination, including, but not limited to, any costs related to the removal of all
or any portion of the Tenant Improvements and restoration costs related thereto.

5.6 Staging Area. Subject to availability (as reasonably determined by Landlord), during the period following the delivery
of the Base, Shell and Core consistent with the Base Building Specification, and prior to the Lease Commencement Date for the Phase 1
Premises and the Phase 2 Premises, as applicable, Tenant shall have the right, without the obligation to pay Rent with respect to such
Premises, to use a reasonably sufficient staging area within the Project, as reasonably designated by Landlord, for the purposes of storing
and staging construction materials and equipment in connection with the Tenant Improvements for such Premises. In the event such
staging area space is available and Tenant elects to utilize the same, then Tenant shall be responsible for providing all insurance and for
providing any necessary fencing or other protective facilities with regard to such exclusive staging area. Tenant shall hold Landlord
harmless and shall indemnify Landlord from and against any and all loss, liability or cost arising out of Tenant’s use of such exclusive
staging area by Tenant. Tenant shall be obligated to remove all of the stored materials and its fencing and other facilities within ten (10)
business days after Tenant’s receipt of written notice from Landlord that such staging area is needed by Landlord for unanticipated
Project purposes, in which event comparable space shall be made available to Tenant as a substitute staging area.
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SCHEDULE 1
PRELIMINARY SPACE PLAN
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EXHIBIT C

CONFIRMATION OF LEASE TERMS/AMENDMENT TO LEASE

This CONFIRMATION OF LEASE TERMS/AMENDMENT TO LEASE (“Confirmation/Amendment”) is made and entered
into effective as of , 20__, by and between ANGELO GORDON REAL ESTATE, INC., a Delaware corporation
(“Landlord”) and XENCOR, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”).

RECITALS:

A. Landlord and Tenant entered into that certain Lease dated as of (the “Lease”) pursuant to
which Landlord leased to Tenant and Tenant leased from Landlord certain “Premises”, as described in the Lease, in that certain building
located at s , California

B. Except as otherwise set forth herein, all capitalized terms used in this Amendment shall have the same meaning as such
terms have in the Lease.

C. Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Lease to confirm the commencement and expiration dates of the term, as
hereinafter provided.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing Recitals and the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Confirmation of Dates. [TO BE DETERMINED]

2. No Further Modification. Except as set forth in this Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the Lease shall
remain unmodified and in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been executed as of the day and year first above written.
“Landlord”:

ANGELO GORDON REAL ESTATE, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By:
Name:
Its:

“Tenant”:

XENCOR, INC,,
a Delaware corporation

By:
Name:
Its:
By:
Name:
Its:
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EXHIBIT D

RULES AND REGULATIONS

Tenant shall observe and comply with the following Rules and Regulations and the Parking Rules and Regulations, provided
that in the event of any conflict between the terms of these Rules and Regulations and/or the Parking Rules and Regulations and
Common Area Amenities requirements and Tenant’s use and occupancy rights under the Lease, the Lease shall control and this Exhibit D
shall be deemed amended to conform thereto and therewith. Landlord shall not be responsible to Tenant for the nonperformance of any
of said Rules and Regulations and/or the Parking Rules and Regulations by or otherwise with respect to the acts or omissions of any
other tenants or occupants of the Building and/or the Project, but will endeavor to enforce all rules and regulations uniformly among all
tenants.

1. Tenant shall not place any lock(s) on any door, or install any security system (including, without limitation, card key
systems, alarms or security cameras), in the Premises without Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld, and Landlord shall have the right to retain at all times and to use keys or other access codes or devices to all locks and/or
security systems within and to the Premises. A reasonable number of keys to the locks on the entry doors of the Premises shall be
furnished by Landlord to Tenant at Tenant’s cost, and Tenant shall not make any duplicate keys without Landlord’s written permission.
All keys shall be returned to Landlord at the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease. Further, if and to the extent Tenant re-keys,
re-programs or otherwise changes any locks in or for the Premises, all such locks and key systems must be consistent with the master
lock and key system at the Building, all at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.

2. All doors opening to public corridors shall be kept closed at all times except for normal ingress and egress to the
Premises, unless electrical hold backs have been installed. Sidewalks, doorways, passages, entrances, vestibules, halls, stairways and
other Common Areas shall not be obstructed by Tenant or used by Tenant for any purpose other than ingress and egress to and from the
Premises, and Tenant, its employees and agents shall not loiter in the entrances or corridors.

3. Landlord reserves the right to close and keep locked all entrance and exit doors of the Building during such hours as
are customary for comparable buildings in the vicinity of the Building. Tenant and its employees and agents shall ensure that the doors
to the Building are securely closed and locked when leaving the Premises if it is after the normal hours of business for the Building. Any
tenant, its employees, agents or any other persons entering or leaving the Building at any time when it is so locked, or any time when it is
considered to be after normal business hours for the Building, may be required to sign the Building register when so doing. After-hours
access by Tenant’s authorized employees may be provided by hard-key, card-key access or other procedures adopted by Landlord from
time to time; Tenant shall pay for the reasonable cost of all access cards provided to Tenant’s employees and all replacements thereof for
lost, stolen and/or damaged cards. Access to the Building and/or the Project may be refused unless the person seeking access has proper
identification or has a previously arranged pass for such access. Landlord and its agents shall in no case be liable for damages for any
error with regard to the admission to or exclusion from the Building and/or the Project of any person. In case of invasion, mob, riot,
public excitement, or other commotion, Landlord reserves the right to prevent access to the Building and/or the Project during the
continuance of same by any means it deems appropriate for the safety and protection of life and property.

4. Landlord shall have the right to prescribe the weight, size and position of all safes and other heavy property brought
into the Building. Safes and other heavy objects shall, if considered necessary by Landlord, stand on supports of such thickness as is
necessary to properly distribute the weight. Landlord will not be responsible for loss of or damage to any such safe or property in any
case. All damage done to any part of the Building, its contents, occupants and/or visitors by moving or maintaining any such safe or
other property shall be the sole responsibility of Tenant and any expense of said damage or injury shall be borne by Tenant.

5. No furniture, freight or heavy equipment will be brought into or removed from the Building or carried up or down in
the elevators, except upon prior notice to Landlord, and in such manner, in such specific elevator, and between such hours as shall be
reasonably designated by Landlord. Tenant shall provide Landlord with not less than 24 hours’ prior notice of the need to utilize an
elevator for any such purpose, so as to provide Landlord with a
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reasonable period to schedule such use and to install such padding or take such other actions or prescribe such procedures as are
appropriate to protect against damage to the elevators or other parts of the Building. Tenant shall assume all risk for damage to articles
moved and injury to any persons resulting from such activity described herein. If equipment, property, or personnel of Landlord or of
any other party is damaged or injured as a result of or in connection with such activity described herein, Tenant shall be solely liable for
any resulting damage or loss.

6. Landlord shall have the right to control and operate the public portions of the Building and Project, the public facilities,
the heating and air conditioning, and any other facilities furnished for the common use of tenants, in such manner as is customary for
comparable buildings in the vicinity of the Building.

7. No signs, advertisements or notices shall be painted or affixed to windows, doors or other parts of the Building, except
those of such color, size, style and in such places as are first approved in writing by Landlord. Landlord shall have the right to remove
any signs, advertisements, and notices not approved in writing by Landlord without notice to and at the expense of Tenant. Landlord
may provide and maintain in the first floor (main lobby) of the Building an alphabetical directory board or other directory device listing
tenants, and no other directory shall be permitted unless previously consented to by Landlord in writing.

8. The requirements of Tenant will be attended to only upon application at the management office of the Project or at such
office location designated by Landlord. Employees of Landlord shall not perform any work or do anything outside their regular duties
unless under special instruction from Landlord.

9. Tenant shall not disturb (by use of any television, radio or musical instrument, making loud or disruptive noises,
creating offensive odors or otherwise), solicit, or canvass any occupant of the Building and/or the Project and shall cooperate with
Landlord or Landlord’s agents to prevent same.

10. The toilet rooms, urinals, wash bowls and other apparatus shall not be used for any purpose other than that for which
they were constructed, and no foreign substance of any kind whatsoever shall be thrown therein. The expense of any breakage, stoppage
or damage resulting from the violation of this rule shall be borne by the tenant who, or whose employees or invitees, shall have caused it.

11. Tenant shall not overload the floor of the Premises. Tenant shall not mark, drive nails or screws, or drill into the
partitions, woodwork or plaster or in any way deface the Premises or any part thereof without Landlord’s consent first had and obtained;
provided, however, Landlord’s prior consent shall not be required with respect to Tenant’s placement of pictures and other normal office
wall hangings on the interior walls of the Premises (but at the end of the Lease Term, Tenant shall repair any holes and other damage to
the Premises resulting therefrom).

12. Except for vending machines intended for the sole use of Tenant’s employees and invitees, no vending machine or
machines of any description other than fractional horsepower office machines shall be installed, maintained or operated upon the
Premises without the written consent of Landlord. Tenant shall not install, operate or maintain in the Premises or in any other area of the
Building, electrical equipment that would overload the electrical system beyond its capacity for proper, efficient and safe operation as
determined solely by Landlord.

13. Tenant shall not use any method of heating or air conditioning other than that which may be supplied by Landlord,
without the prior written consent of Landlord. Tenant shall not furnish cooling or heating to the Premises, including, without limitation,
the use of electronic or gas heating devices, portable coolers (such as “move n cools”) or space heaters, without Landlord’s prior written
consent, and any such approval will be for devices that meet federal, state and local code.

14. No inflammable, explosive or dangerous fluids or substances shall be used or kept by Tenant in the Premises, Building
and/or about the Project, except for those substances as are typically found in similar premises used for general office and/or laboratory
purposes and are being used by Tenant in a safe manner and in accordance with all applicable Laws, rules and regulations. Tenant shall
not, without Landlord’s prior written consent, use, store, install, spill, remove, release or dispose of, within or about the Premises or any
other portion of the Project, any asbestos-containing materials or any solid, liquid or gaseous material now or subsequently considered
toxic or hazardous under the provisions of 42 U.S.C. Section 9601 et seq. or any other applicable environmental Laws which
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may now or later be in effect. Tenant shall comply with all Laws pertaining to and governing the use of these materials by Tenant, and
shall remain solely liable for the costs of abatement and removal.

15. Tenant shall not use, keep or permit to be used or kept, any foul or noxious gas or substance in or on the Premises, or
permit or allow the Premises to be occupied or used in a manner offensive or objectionable to Landlord or other occupants of the
Building and/or the Project by reason of noise, odors, or vibrations, or interfere in any way with other tenants or those having business
therewith.

16. Tenant shall not bring into or keep within the Project, the Building or the Premises any animals (except those assisting
disabled persons and those necessary for the conduct of Tenant’s business), birds, fish tanks or vehicles (except for Tenant’s parking
rights as set forth in the Lease).

17. Tenant shall not use or occupy the Premises in any manner or for any purpose which might injure the reputation or
impair the present or future value of the Premises, the Building and/or the Project. Tenant shall not use, or permit any part of the
Premises to be used, for lodging, sleeping or for any illegal purpose.

18. No cooking shall be done or permitted by Tenant on the Premises, nor shall the Premises be used for the storage of
merchandise or for any improper, objectionable or immoral purposes. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Underwriters’ laboratory-approved
equipment and microwave ovens may be used in the Premises for heating food and brewing coffee, tea, hot chocolate and similar
beverages, provided that such use is in accordance with all applicable federal, state and city laws, codes, ordinances, rules and
regulations, and does not cause odors which are objectionable to Landlord and other tenants. Whenever possible, Tenant shall utilize and
purchase Energy Star products in their suites. Tenant understands the importance of energy conservation and sustainability to both the
Landlord and the Project, and will assist in conserving energy in their suite with regards to practices and equipment.

19. Landlord will approve where and how telephone and telegraph wires and other cabling are to be introduced to the
Premises. No boring or cutting for wires shall be allowed without the consent of Landlord. The location of telephone, call boxes and
other office equipment and/or systems affixed to the Premises shall be subject to the approval of Landlord.

20. Landlord reserves the right to exclude or expel from the Building and/or the Project any person who, in the judgment
of Landlord, is intoxicated or under the influence of liquor or drugs, or who shall in any manner do any act in violation of any of these
Rules and Regulations or cause harm to Building occupants and/or property.

21. All contractors, contractor’s representatives and installation technicians performing work in the Building or at the
Project shall be subject to Landlord’s prior approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, and shall be required to comply
with Landlord’s standard rules, regulations, policies and procedures, which may be revised from time to time.

22. Tenant shall not employ any person other than the janitor of Landlord for the purpose of cleaning the Premises without
prior written consent of Landlord, and without Landlord’s consent, no person or persons shall be permitted to enter the Building for the
purpose of cleaning the same. Tenant shall not cause any unnecessary labor by reason of Tenant’s carelessness or indifference in the
preservation of good order and cleanliness.

23. Tenant shall only employ persons reasonably approved by Landlord for the removal of hazardous waste materials from
the Building and the Project.

24. Tenant at all times shall maintain the entire Premises in a neat and clean, first class condition, free of debris. Tenant
shall not place items, including, without limitation, any boxes, files, trash receptacles or loose cabling or wiring, in or near any window
to the Premises which would be visible anywhere from the exterior of the Premises.

25. Tenant shall comply with and participate in any program for metering or otherwise measuring the use of utilities and
services mandated by Applicable Law.
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26. Tenant shall store all its recyclables, trash and garbage within the interior of the Premises unless exterior receptacles
have been established for Tenant’s use. No material shall be placed in the trash boxes or receptacles if such material is of such nature
that it may not be disposed of in the ordinary and customary manner of removing and disposing of recyclables, trash and garbage in the
city in which the Project is located without violation of any law or ordinance governing such disposal. All trash, garbage and refuse
disposal shall be made only through entry-ways and elevators provided for such purposes at such times as Landlord shall designate.

27. Tenant shall comply with all safety, fire protection and evacuation procedures and regulations established by Landlord
or any governmental agency.

28. Tenant shall assume any and all responsibility for protecting the Premises from theft, robbery and pilferage, which
includes keeping doors locked and other means of entry to the Premises closed, when the Premises are not occupied, or when the entry to
the Premises is not manned by Tenant on a regular basis.

29. No awnings or other projection shall be attached to the outside walls of the Building without the prior written consent
of Landlord. No curtains, blinds, shades or screens shall be attached to or hung in, or used in connection with, any window or door of the
Premises without the prior written consent of Landlord. The sashes, sash doors, skylights, windows, and doors that reflect or admit light
and air into the halls, passageways or other public places in the Building shall not be covered or obstructed by Tenant, nor shall any
bottles, parcels or other articles be placed on the windowsills. All electrical ceiling fixtures hung in offices or spaces along the perimeter
of the Building must be fluorescent and/or of a quality, type, design and bulb color approved by Landlord.

30. The washing and/or detailing of or, the installation of windshields, radios, telephones in or general work on,
automobiles shall not be allowed on the Project, except under specific arrangement with Landlord.

31. Food vendors shall be allowed in the Building upon receipt of a written request from Tenant delivered to Landlord.
The food vendor shall service only the tenants that have a written request on file in the management office of the Project. Under no
circumstance shall the food vendor display their products in a public or Common Area including corridors and elevator lobbies. Any
failure to comply with this rule shall result in immediate permanent withdrawal of the vendor from the Building. Tenant shall obtain ice,
drinking water, linen, barbering, shoe polishing, floor polishing, cleaning, janitorial, plant care or other similar services only from
vendors who have registered in the management office of the Project and who have been approved by Landlord for provision of such
services in the Premises.

32. Tenant must comply with requests by the Landlord concerning the informing of their employees of items of importance
to the Landlord.

33. Tenant shall comply with any non-smoking ordinance adopted by any applicable governmental authority. Neither
Tenant nor its agents, employees, contractors, guests or invitees shall smoke or permit smoking in the Premises and/or the Common
Areas, unless the Common Areas have been declared a designated smoking area by Landlord, nor shall the above parties allow smoke
from the Premises to emanate into the Common Areas or any other part of the Building. Landlord shall have the right to designate the
Building (including the Premises) as a non-smoking building.

34. Tenant shall not take any action which would violate Landlord’s labor contracts of which Tenant is provided written
notice prior to Tenant’s execution of the Lease (“Labor Disruption”). Tenant shall take the actions necessary to resolve any Labor
Disruption to the extent caused by Tenant, and shall have pickets removed and, at the request of Landlord, immediately terminate any
work in the Premises that gave rise to the Labor Disruption, until Landlord gives its written consent for the work to resume, and Tenant
shall have no claim for damages against Landlord or any of its trustees, members, principals, beneficiaries, partners, officers, directors,
employees, mortgagees, or agents in connection therewith.

35. No tents, shacks, temporary or permanent structures of any kind shall be allowed on the Project. No personal
belongings may be left unattended in any Common Areas.
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36. Landlord shall have the right to prohibit the use of the name of the Building or Project or any other publicity by Tenant
that in Landlord’s sole opinion may impair the reputation of the Building or Project or the desirability thereof. Upon written notice from
Landlord, Tenant shall refrain from and discontinue such publicity immediately.

37. Landlord shall have the right to designate and approve standard window coverings for the Premises and to establish
rules to assure that the Building presents a uniform exterior appearance. Tenant shall ensure, to the extent reasonably practicable, that
window coverings are closed on windows in the Premises while they are exposed to the direct rays of the sun.

38. The work of cleaning personnel in the office portion of the Premises shall not be hindered by Tenant after 6:00 P.M.
(except when otherwise coordinated with Landlord on not less than 24 hours’ prior notice), and cleaning work may be done at any time
when the offices are vacant. Windows, doors and fixtures may be cleaned at any time. Tenant shall provide adequate waste and rubbish
receptacles to prevent unreasonable hardship to the cleaning service.

39. Tenant shall comply with all Building security procedures as Landlord may effectuate.

40. Tenant shall at all times cooperate with Landlord in preserving a first-class image for the Building.

PARKING RULES AND REGULATIONS

1. Landlord reserves the right to establish and reasonably change the hours for the Parking Facility, on a non-
discriminatory basis, from time to time. Tenant shall not store or permit its employees to store any automobiles in the Parking Facility
without the prior written consent of Landlord (and/or the Parking Operator, as the case may be). Except for emergency repairs, Tenant
and its employees shall not perform any work on any automobiles while located in the Parking Facility or on the Project. The Parking
Facility may not be used by Tenant or its agents for overnight parking of vehicles. If it is necessary for Tenant or its employees to leave
an automobile in the Parking Facility overnight, Tenant shall provide Landlord (or the Parking Operator as the case may be) with prior
notice thereof designating the license plate number and model of such automobile.

2. Tenant (including Tenant’s employees and agents) will use the parking spaces solely for the purpose of parking
passenger model cars, small vans and small trucks and will comply in all respects with any rules and regulations that may be
promulgated by Landlord and/or the Parking Operator from time to time with respect to the Parking Facility.

3. Vehicles must be parked entirely within the stall lines painted on the floor, and only small cars may be parked in areas
reserved for small cars.

4. All directional signs and arrows must be observed.
5. The speed limit shall be 5 miles per hour.
6. Parking spaces reserved for handicapped persons must be used only by vehicles properly designated.
7. Parking is prohibited in all areas not expressly designated for parking, including without limitation:
(a) areas not striped for parking;
(b) aisles;
(o) where “no parking” signs are posted;
(d) ramps; and
(e) loading zones.
8. Parking stickers, key cards and any other devices or forms of identification or entry supplied by Landlord or the

Parking Operator shall remain the property of Landlord (or the Parking Operator as the case may be). Such device must be displayed as
requested and may not be mutilated in any manner. The serial number of the parking
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identification device may not be obliterated. Parking passes and devices are not transferable and any pass or device in the possession of
an unauthorized holder will be void.

9. Parking managers or attendants are not authorized to make or allow any exceptions to these Parking Rules and
Regulations.

10. Every parker is required to park and lock his/her own car.

11. Loss or theft of parking passes, identification, key cards or other such devices must be reported to Landlord (and/or to

the Parking Operator as the case may be) immediately. Any parking devices reported lost or stolen found on any authorized car will be
confiscated and the illegal holder will be subject to prosecution. Lost or stolen passes and devices found by Tenant or its employees must
be reported to Landlord (and to the Parking Operator, as the case may be) immediately.

12. Washing, waxing, cleaning or servicing of any vehicle by the customer and/or its agents is prohibited.

13. Tenant agrees to acquaint all persons to whom Tenant assigns a parking space with these Parking Rules and
Regulations.

14. Neither Landlord nor the Parking Operator (as the case may be), from time to time will be liable for loss of or damage

to any vehicle or any contents of such vehicle or accessories to any such vehicle, or any property left in any of the Parking Facility,
resulting from fire, theft, vandalism, accident, conduct of other users of the Parking Facility and other persons, or any other casualty or
cause. Further, Tenant understands and agrees that: (i) Landlord will not be obligated to provide any traffic control, security protection
or Parking Operator for the Parking Facility; (ii) Tenant uses the Parking Facility at its own risk; and (iii) Landlord will not be liable for
personal injury or death, or theft, loss of or damage to property.

15. Tenant will ensure that any vehicle parked in any of the parking spaces will be kept in proper repair and will not leak
excessive amounts of oil or grease or any amount of gasoline.

16. Tenant’s right to use the Parking Facility will be in common with other tenants of the Building and with other parties
permitted by Landlord to use the Parking Facility. Landlord reserves the right to assign and reassign, from time to time, particular
parking spaces for use by persons selected by Landlord, provided that Tenant’s rights under the Lease are preserved. Landlord will not
be liable to Tenant for any unavailability of Tenant’s designated spaces, if any, nor will any unavailability entitle Tenant to any refund,
deduction, or allowance. Tenant will not park in any numbered space or any space designated as: RESERVED, HANDICAPPED,
VISITORS ONLY, or LIMITED TIME PARKING (or similar designation).

17. If the Parking Facility is damaged or destroyed, or if the use of the Parking Facility is limited or prohibited by any
governmental authority, or the use or operation of the Parking Facility is limited or prevented by strikes or other labor difficulties or other
causes beyond Landlord’s reasonable control, Tenant’s inability to use the parking spaces will not subject Landlord (and/or the Parking
Operator, as the case may be) to any liability to Tenant and will not relieve Tenant of any of its obligations under the Lease and the Lease
will remain in full force and effect.

18. Tenant has no right to assign or sublicense any of its rights in the parking passes, except as part of a permitted
assignment or sublease of the Lease; however, Tenant may allocate the parking passes among its employees.

Tenant shall be responsible for the observance of all of the Rules and Regulations and Parking Rules and Regulations in this
Exhibit D by Tenant’s employees, agents, clients, customers, invitees and guests. Landlord may waive any one or more of the Rules and
Regulations and/or Parking Rules and Regulations for the benefit of any particular tenant or tenants, but no such waiver by Landlord
shall be construed as a waiver of such Rules and Regulations and/or Parking Rules and Regulations in favor of any other tenant or
tenants, nor prevent Landlord from thereafter enforcing any such Rules or Regulations and/or Parking Rules and Regulations against any
or all tenants of
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the Building and/or the Project. Landlord reserves the right at any time to change or rescind any one or more of these Rules and
Regulations and/or the Parking Rules and Regulations, or to make such other and further reasonable Rules and Regulations and/or
Parking Rules and Regulations as in Landlord’s judgment may from time to time be necessary for the management, safety, care and
cleanliness of the Premises, Building and Project, and for the preservation of good order therein, as well as for the convenience of other
occupants and tenants therein, provided that such Rules and Regulations and/or Parking Rules and Regulations shall not materially
increase Tenant’s obligations nor materially diminish Tenant’s rights under the Lease. Tenant shall be deemed to have read these Rules
and Regulations and Parking Rules and Regulations and to have agreed to abide by them as a condition of its occupancy of the Premises
subject to the terms of the Lease.

COMMON AREA AMENITIES

1. Tenant understands that Landlord may provide certain common area amenities for Tenant’s non-exclusive use. Such
amenities are for the use of tenants during regular business hours and shall be reserved through the management office in advance.
Tenant and Tenant’s agents, employees and invitees shall adhere to all rules Landlord sets forth in respect to use of the amenities, which
may change from time to time.

2. Tenant understands and agrees that: (i) Tenant uses the amenities at its own risk; and (ii) Landlord will not be liable for
personal injury or death, or theft, loss of or damage to property subject to the terms of the Lease.

3. All amenities offered shall remain at the locations designated by Landlord all times. Tenant must use the equipment
only in the manner intended. Landlord reserves the right to limit Tenant’s use of any equipment or amenities to ensure the equitable use
of the equipment and amenities by all tenants. Tenant shall not move or modify the equipment in any manner whatsoever. If Tenant has
actual knowledge that any equipment is malfunctioning, Tenant shall notify Landlord immediately.

4. Tenant shall be responsible for the cost or repairs or replacements of any amenities that are not returned to management
after use or are damaged during the use of any such amenity by Tenant or Tenant’s agents, employees or invitees and Tenant shall
reimburse Landlord for any such cost within thirty (30) days after receipt of an invoice therefor with appropriate backup.

5. Tenant shall conduct themselves in a quiet and well-mannered fashion when on or about the amenities and not cause
any disturbances or interfere with the use or enjoyment of the amenities by other tenants.

6. Tenant shall not bring any food or beverages into any interior amenity area other than areas designated for such
purposes.
7. No alcoholic beverages shall be permitted at the amenities at any time.
8. Neither Tenant nor its agents, employees or invitees shall smoke or permit smoking in the amenity areas at any time.
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EXHIBIT E

FORM OF TENANT’S ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE

The undersigned as Tenant under that certain Lease (the “Lease”) made and entered into as of , 200_ by and
between as Landlord, and the undersigned as Tenant, for Premises on the floor(s) of the office
building located at , California , certifies as follows:

1. Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a true and correct copy of the Lease and all amendments and modifications

thereto. The documents contained in Exhibit A represent the entire agreement between the parties as to the
Premises.
2. The undersigned currently occupies the Premises described in the Lease, the Lease Term commenced on
, and the Lease Term expires on , and the undersigned has no option to terminate or
cancel the Lease or to purchase all or any part of the Premises, the Building and/or the Project.
3. Base Rent, and any other scheduled monetary payments, became payable on
4. The Lease is in full force and effect and has not been modified, supplemented or amended in any way except
as provided in Exhibit A.

5. Tenant has not transferred, assigned, or sublet any portion of the Premises nor entered into any license or

concession agreements with respect thereto except as follows:

6. All monthly installments of Base Rent, all Additional Rent and all monthly installments of estimated

Additional Rent have been paid when due through . The current monthly installment of Base
Rent is $ , and other scheduled monthly payments are due in monthly installments of
$ and $

7. To the knowledge of Tenant, all conditions of the Lease to be performed by Landlord necessary to the

enforceability of the Lease have been satisfied and Landlord is not in default thereunder. In addition, the
undersigned has not delivered any notice to Landlord regarding a default by Landlord thereunder.

8. No rental has been paid more than thirty (30) days in advance and no security has been deposited with

Landlord except as provided in the Lease.

9. As of the date hereof, there are no existing defenses or offsets, or, to the undersigned’s knowledge, claims or

any basis for a claim, that the undersigned has against Landlord.

10. There are no actions pending against the undersigned under the bankruptcy or similar laws of the United

States or any state.
11. To the undersigned’s knowledge, all tenant improvement work to be performed by Landlord under the Lease

has been completed in accordance with the Lease and has been accepted by the undersigned and all
reimbursements and allowances due to the undersigned under the Lease in connection with any tenant
improvement work have been paid in full.

The undersigned acknowledges that this Estoppel Certificate may be delivered to Landlord or to a prospective mortgagee or
prospective purchaser, and acknowledges that said prospective mortgagee or prospective purchaser will
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be relying upon the statements contained herein in making the loan or acquiring the property of which the Premises are a part and that
receipt by it of this certificate is a condition of making such loan or acquiring such property.

The certifications set forth in this Estoppel Certificate (this “Certificate”) are made as of the date hereof and Tenant does not
hereby undertake any obligation to update this Certificate as to any matter set forth herein or otherwise. Initially capitalized terms used in
this Certificate and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Lease.

All references herein to the “knowledge” of Tenant, or words of similar import, shall refer only to the actual knowledge of

, a current officer/employee of Tenant, and shall not be construed to refer to the knowledge of any other officer, director,

shareholder, employee, agent or representative of Tenant, or any affiliate of any of the foregoing, or to impose or have imposed upon
such individual any duty to investigate the matters to which such knowledge, or the absence thereof, pertains.

This Certificate is made for the purpose of responding to the request by Landlord pursuant to the Lease as to the matters set
forth herein, and for no other purpose.

The undersigned signatory has the authority to bind Tenant. There shall be no personal liability on the part of the
aforementioned individuals arising out of any certifications or statements made herein.

Executed at on the day of ,200_.
“Tenant”:
a
By:
Its:
By:
Its:
EXHIBIT E

-2- [Execution Original]




Exhibit 10.3

FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE

This FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE ("Amendment") is made and entered into as of
July 13, 2021, by and between AG-LC 465 NORTH HALSTEAD OWNER, L.P., a Delaware
limited partnership ("Landlord"), and XENCOR, INC., a Delaware corporation ("Tenant").

RECITALS:

A. ANGELO GORDON REAL ESTATE, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Original
Landlord”) and Tenant entered into that certain Agreement of Lease, dated as of April 30, 2021
(the “Agreement for Lease”) providing for the effectiveness of that certain Lease dated April 30,
2021 between Original Landlord and Tenant (the "Lease"), whereby Tenant agreed to lease from
Original Landlord approximately 129,543 rentable square feet of space (the "Premises") on the
second (2nd) floor of the building located at 465 North Halstead, Pasadena, California 91107
("Building"), subject to the acquisition of the Building and related land and real property assets
under the Lease (collectively, the “Property”) by Original Landlord or the AG Affiliate (as
defined in the Agreement for Lease).

B. Landlord, as the AG Affiliate, acquired the Property by Grant Deed recorded on
July 13, 2021, as Document/Instrument No. 20211082708, in the Official Records, Recorder’s
Office, Los Angeles County, California and Original Landlord assigned all right, title, and interest
in the Lease to Landlord pursuant to that certain Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated as
of June 30, 2021.

C. In furtherance of the terms and provisions of the Agreement for Lease applicable to
the acquisition of the Property by AG Affiliate, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Lease on
the terms and conditions set forth in this Amendment.

AGREEMENT:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the mutual covenants
contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

1. Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms when used herein shall have the same
meaning as is given such terms in the Lease unless expressly superseded by the terms of this
Amendment.

2. Confirmation of Landlord. Landlord hereby represents and warrants to Tenant
that it has acquired all right, title, and interest of Original Landlord in and to the Lease and has
succeeded to all rights and obligations of Original Landlord under the Lease. Tenant hereby
confirms that Landlord is the “Landlord” under the Lease and attorns to Landlord under all of the
terms and provisions of the Lease.

3. Summary of Basic Lease Information. The following sections of the Summary
are hereby amended as follows:
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7.2 Lease Commencement Date:

7.3 Lease Expiration Date:

The Lease Commencement Date for the
Phase 1 Premises shall be August 1, 2022
("Phase 1 Lease Commencement Date").
The Lease Commencement Date for the
Phase 2 Premises shall be the later of August
1, 2025 or that date which is nine (9) months
after the Phase 2 Premises Delivery Date (as
defined in Section 2.2 of this Lease)] (the
"Phase 2 Lease Commencement Date").

July 31, 2035

8. Base Rent (Article 3):
8.1 Base Rent For Phase 1
Premises:
Monthly Rental Rate
Annual Monthly Installment ~ per Rentable Square
Lease Period Base Rent of Base Rent** Foot***
*08/01/22 — 07/31/23 $4,636,031.40 $386,335.95 $4.65
08/01/23 — 07/31/24 $4,775,112.36 $397,926.03 $4.79
08/01/24 — 07/31/25 $4,918,365.72 $409,863.81 $4.93
08/01/25 - 07/31/26 $5,065,916.64 $422,159.72 $5.08
08/01/26 — 07/31/27 $5,217,894.12 $434,824.51 $5.23
08/01/27 —07/31/28 $5,374,431.00 $447,869.25 $5.39
08/01/28 — 07/31/29 $5,535,663.96 $461,305.33 $5.55
08/01/29 —07/31/30 $5,701,733.88 $475,144.49 $5.72
08/01/30 — 07/31/31 $5,872,785.84 $489,398.82 $5.89
08/01/31 —07/31/32 $6,048,969.36 $504,080.78 $6.07
08/01/32 — 07/31/33 $6,230,438.40 $519,203.20 $6.25
08/01/33 — 07/31/34 $6,417,351.60 $534,779.30 $6.44
08/01/34 —07/31/35 $6,609,872.16 $550,822.68 $6.63
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4. Lease.

4.1. Premises Delivery Date. Section 2.2 of the Lease is hereby amended to
read in full as follows:

“2.2  Premises Delivery Dates. Subject to Force Majeure events, Landlord shall
deliver possession of the Phase 1 Premises to Tenant on July 1, 2021 (the "Phase 1
Premises Delivery Date"). Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree that the
Phase 2 Premises is subject to an existing lease (the “Existing Lease”) dated as of
April 17, 2015 by and between Landlord’s predecessor-in-interest in the Project,
DWF IV 465 Halstead, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (as landlord)
and GMTO Corporation, a Delaware corporation (as tenant) (“Existing Tenant”).
The Existing Lease is scheduled, by its terms as of the date hereof, to terminate on
November 30, 2022, subject, however, to Existing Tenant’s three (3) year extension
option set forth therein. Landlord shall, subject to Force Majeure events, deliver
possession of the Phase 2 Premises to Tenant thirty (30) days after the expiration or
sooner termination of the Existing Lease (the "Phase 2 Premises Delivery Date").
Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver the Phase 2 Premises
to Tenant as soon as reasonably possible. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the
event the Phase 1 Premises Delivery Date is other than the date set forth above, then
Landlord and Tenant shall agree upon an equitable adjustment to the Lease
Commencement Date (and the same shall be confirmed in an amendment).”

4.2.  Article 3. Article 3 of the Lease is hereby amended to provide that the two
(2) paragraphs comprising Article 3 of the Lease are labeled, sequentially and respectively, “3.1”
and “3.2”.

4.3.  Section 24.25. Section 24.25 of the Lease is hereby amended to delete the
reference to “Section 11” in Section 24.25 of the Lease and replace it with “Section 12”.

5. Brokers. Landlord and Tenant hereby warrant to each other that they have had no
dealings with any real estate broker or agent in connection with the negotiation of this Amendment
other than the Brokers specified in Section 12 of the Summary (the "Brokers"), and that they know
of no other real estate broker or agent who is entitled to a commission in connection with this
Amendment, if, and to the extent any such commission is due to the Brokers in connection
herewith. Each party agrees to indemnify and defend the other party against and hold the other
party harmless from any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, lawsuits, judgments, and costs
and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees) with respect to any leasing
commission or equivalent compensation alleged to be owing on account of the indemnifying
party's dealings with any real estate broker or agent, other than the Brokers, occurring by, through,
or under the indemnifying party. Landlord shall pay any brokerage commissions payable to the
Brokers in connection with the execution of this Amendment pursuant to a separate commission
agreement between Landlord and the Brokers. The terms of this Section shall survive the
expiration or earlier termination of this Amendment.

6. No Further Modification. Landlord and Tenant agree that except as otherwise
specifically modified in this Amendment, the Lease has not been modified, supplemented,
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amended, or otherwise changed in any way and the Lease remains in full force and effect between
the parties hereto as modified by this Amendment. To the extent of any inconsistency between the
terms and conditions of the Lease and the terms and conditions of this Amendment, the terms and
conditions of this Amendment shall apply and govern the parties. This Amendment may be
executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which, together,
shall constitute one and the same Amendment. For purposes of this Amendment, signatures by
facsimile or electronic PDF shall be binding to the same extent as original signatures.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been executed as of the day and year first
above written.

"LANDLORD" "TENANT"
AG-LC 465 NORTH HALSTEAD XENCOR, INC.,
OWNER, L.P,, a Delaware corporation

a Delaware limited partnership

By: AG-LC 465 North Halstead Owner GP, By: /s/ Bassil Dahiyaat
L.L.C,
a Delaware limited liability company, Name: Bassil Dahiyat, Ph.D.

its general partner
Its: President & CEO

By: /s/ Robert Kane

Name: Robert Kane

Its: EVP
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Bassil I. Dahiyat, Ph.D., certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Xencor, Inc., (the “Company™);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the Company’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ BASSIL 1. DAHIYAT

Bassil I. Dahiyat, Ph.D.

President & Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 4, 2021




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, John J. Kuch, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Xencor, Inc., (the “Company”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the Company’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ JOHN J. KUCH

John J. Kuch

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: August 4, 2021




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Bassil I.
Dahiyat, President & Chief Executive Officer of Xencor, Inc. (the “Company”), and John J. Kuch, Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies that, to the best of their knowledge:
1. The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2021, to which this
Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the “Periodic Report”), fully complies with the requirements of

Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. The information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: August 4, 2021

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the undersigned have set their hands hereto as of the 4th day of August 2021.

/s/ BASSIL 1. DAHIYAT /s/ JOHN J. KUCH

Bassil I. Dahiyat John J. Kuch

President & Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Executive Officer) (Principal Financial Officer)

This certification accompanies the Periodic Report to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Xencor, Inc. under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date
of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.




